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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and
uncertainties.  All statements, other than statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
including statements regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs,
prospects, plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements.  The words “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “potential,” “goals,” “will,” “would,”
“could,” “should,” “continue” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. 

 
The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:
 
 

· our commercialization efforts for our product DEXTENZA ;
 

· our plans to develop and commercialize DEXTENZA for additional indications and our other product
candidates based on our proprietary bioresorbable hydrogel technology platform;

 
· our ability to manufacture DEXTENZA in compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or

cGMP;
 

· our ability to build and manage a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to support the
commercialization of DEXTENZA;

· the timing of and our ability to submit applications and obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for
DEXTENZA and OTX-TP and our other product candidates;

· our plans to raise additional capital, including through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations,
strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, royalty agreements and marketing and distribution
arrangements;

 
· our ongoing and planned clinical trials, including our Phase 3 clinical trials of OTX-TP for the treatment of

glaucoma and ocular hypertension, our Phase 1 clinical trial of OTX-TIC for the reduction of intraocular
pressure in patients with glaucoma and ocular hypertension and our Phase 1 clinical trial of OTX-TKI for
the treatment of wet age-related macular degeneration, or wet AMD;  

 
· our ability to resolve the U.S. Food and Drug Administration warning letter received with respect to

ReSure  Sealant on October 18, 2018;

· the potential advantages of DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, and our product candidates;

· the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our products and our ability to secure
reimbursement for our products;

· our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, OTX-TP, and
our other product candidates;

 
· the preclinical and clinical development of our intravitreal depot with protein-based or small molecule

drugs, including tyrosine kinase inhibitors, for the treatment of wet AMD and other retinal diseases;  
 
· our strategic collaboration, option and license agreement with Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. under

which we are collaborating on the development of an extended-delivery formulation of the vascular
endothelial growth factor, trap aflibercept, currently marketed under the brand name Eylea, for the
treatment of wet AMD, and other serious retinal diseases;  
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· our capabilities and strategy, and the costs and timing of manufacturing, sales, marketing, distribution and

other commercialization efforts, with respect to DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and any additional products
for which we may obtain marketing approval in the future;  

 
· our intellectual property position;
 
· our ability to identify additional products, product candidates or technologies with significant commercial

potential that are consistent with our commercial objectives, including potential opportunities outside the
field of ophthalmology;

· our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, the sufficiency of our cash resources, our ability to fund
our operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital expenditure requirements and needs for
additional financing;  

 
· the impact of government laws and regulations;

 
· the costs and outcomes of legal actions and proceedings; 

 
· our ability to continue as a going concern; and
 
· our competitive position. 
 

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you
should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.  Actual results or events could differ materially from the
plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements we make.  We have included important factors
in the cautionary statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the “Risk Factors” section, that
could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make.  Our forward-
looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or
investments we may make. 

 
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to the Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from
what we expect.  We do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable law. 
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Financial Statements.
 

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)
 

       

  June 30,  December 31, 
     2019     2018
Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 61,765  $ 54,062
Accounts receivable   615   201
Inventory   762   217
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,294   1,713

Total current assets   65,436   56,193
Property and equipment, net   10,532   10,236
Restricted cash   6,764   6,614
Operating lease assets   7,010    —

Total assets  $ 89,742  $ 73,043
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 4,044  $ 2,965
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   5,059   6,194
Operating lease liabilities   1,024    —

Total current liabilities   10,127   9,159
Other liabilities    —   3,221
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   9,493    —
Derivative liability   13,068    —
Notes payable, net of discount   24,898   24,788
2026 convertible notes, net   23,898    —

Total liabilities   81,484   37,168
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued
or outstanding at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively    —    —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized and 44,101,583 and
41,518,091 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018    4    4
Additional paid-in capital   347,074   333,114
Accumulated deficit   (338,820)  (297,243)

Total stockholders’ equity   8,258   35,875
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 89,742  $ 73,043

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)
 
             

  Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
  June 30,  June 30, 
   2019     2018     2019     2018
Revenue:                 

Product revenue, net  $ 650  $ 648  $ 1,142  $ 988
Total revenue, net   650   648   1,142   988

Costs and operating expenses:                 
Cost of product revenue   552   153   680   233
Research and development   9,414   8,745   20,731   16,972
Selling and marketing   7,225   867   10,572   1,584
General and administrative   5,058   4,447   10,416   9,218

Total costs and operating expenses   22,249   14,212   42,399   28,007
Loss from operations   (21,599)  (13,564)  (41,257)  (27,019)
Other income (expense):                 

Interest income   379   215   708   391
Interest expense   (1,627)  (455)  (2,645)  (941)
Change in fair value of derivative liability   (1,606)   —   1,617    —

Total other income (expense), net   (2,854)  (240)  (320)  (550)
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (24,453) $ (13,804) $ (41,577) $ (27,569)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.57) $ (0.37) $ (0.98) $ (0.76)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and
diluted   42,910,084   37,524,512   42,582,501   36,160,251
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 
       

  Six Months Ended
  June 30, 
   2019     2018
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net loss  $ (41,577) $ (27,569)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities         

Stock-based compensation expense   3,637   3,661
Non-cash interest expense   1,418   185
Non-cash operating lease costs   330    —
Change in fair value of derivative liability   (1,617)   —
Depreciation and amortization expense   1,187   1,131
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   (414)  (59)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (581)  231
Inventory   (545)  (9)
Accounts payable   774   (1,539)
Accrued expenses and deferred rent   (869)  (738)
Operating lease liabilities   (310)   —

Net cash used in operating activities   (38,567)  (24,706)
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (1,218)  (937)
Net cash used in investing activities   (1,218)  (937)

Cash flows from financing activities:         
Proceeds from issuance of 2026 convertible notes, net of issuance costs   37,275    —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    1   273
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stock purchase plan   294   119
Proceeds from issuance of common stock offering, net   10,068   43,118
Repayment of notes payable    —   (2,571)
Net cash provided by financing activities   47,638   40,939

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   7,853   15,296
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   60,676   43,152
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 68,529  $ 58,448
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:         

Additional right of use asset and related lease liability  $ 2,044  $  —
Additions to property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses at balance
sheet dates  $ 265  $ 89
Derivative liability in connection with issuance of 2026 convertible notes  $ 14,685  $  —
Public offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses at balance sheet dates  $ 40  $ 20

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

               

       Additional     Total
  Common Stock  Paid-in  Accumulated  Stockholders’
     Shares     Par Value     Capital     Deficit     Equity
Balances at December 31, 2018  41,518,091  $  4  $ 333,114  $ (297,243) $ 35,875
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options  406    —    1    —    1
Issuance of common stock upon public offering, net of
issuance costs  1,318,481    —   4,954    —   4,954
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —   1,942    —   1,942
Net loss   —    —    —   (17,124)  (17,124)
Balances at March 31, 2019  42,836,978  $  4  $ 340,011  $ (314,367) $ 25,648
Issuance of common stock in connection with employee
stock purchase plan  84,238    —   294    —   294
Issuance of common stock upon public offering, net of
issuance costs  1,180,367    —   5,074    —   5,074
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —   1,695    —   1,695
Net loss   —    —    —   (24,453)  (24,453)
Balances at June 30, 2019  44,101,583  $  4  $ 347,074  $ (338,820) $ 8,258
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

               

       Additional     Total
  Common Stock  Paid-in  Accumulated  Stockholders’
     Shares     Par Value     Capital     Deficit     Equity
Balances at December 31, 2017  29,658,202  $  3  $ 263,409  $ (237,265) $ 26,147
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options  146,852    —   266    —   266
Issuance of common stock upon public offering, net of
issuance costs  7,475,000    1   34,704    —   34,705
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —   1,831    —   1,831
Net loss   —    —    —   (13,765)  (13,765)
Balances at March 31, 2018  37,280,054  $  4  $ 300,210  $ (251,030) $ 49,184
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options  1,207    —    7    —    7
Issuance of common stock in connection with employee
stock purchase plan  29,141    —   119    —   119
Issuance of common stock upon public offering, net of
issuance costs  1,166,535    —   8,393    —   8,393
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —   1,830    —   1,830
Net loss   —    —    —   (13,804)  (13,804)
Balances at June 30, 2018  38,476,937  $  4  $ 310,559  $ (264,834) $ 45,729
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)
 

1. Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation
 

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.  (the “Company”) was incorporated on September 12, 2006 under the laws of the State of
Delaware. The Company is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the formulation, development and commercialization
of innovative therapies for diseases and conditions of the eye using its proprietary, bioresorbable hydrogel platform
technology. The Company’s product pipeline candidates provide differentiated drug delivery solutions that reduce the
complexity and burden of the current standard of care (eye drops) by creating local programmed-release alternatives. Since
inception, the Company’s operations have been primarily focused on organizing and staffing the Company, acquiring rights
to intellectual property, business planning, raising capital, developing its technology, identifying potential product candidates,
undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing initial quantities of its products and product candidates and
building the initial sales and marketing infrastructure for the commercialization of the Company’s approved products and
product candidates. 

 
The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry including, but not limited to, new

technological innovations, protection of proprietary technology, dependence on key personnel, compliance with government
regulations, regulatory approval and compliance, reimbursement, uncertainty of market acceptance of products and the need
to obtain additional financing. Recently approved products will require significant sales, marketing and distribution support
up to and including upon their launch. Product candidates currently under development will require significant additional
research and development efforts, including extensive preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory approval, prior to
commercialization. 

 
As of June 30, 2019, the Company’s lead product candidate DEXTENZA  (dexamethasone insert) 0.4mg, has been

approved by the FDA and the Company’s other product candidates are in clinical stage development. There can be no
assurance that the Company’s research and development will be successfully completed, that adequate protection for the
Company’s intellectual property will be obtained, that any products developed will obtain necessary government regulatory
approval and adequate reimbursement or that any approved products will be commercially viable. Even if the Company’s
product development efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will generate significant revenue from
product sales. The Company operates in an environment of rapidly changing technology and substantial competition from
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. In addition, the Company is dependent upon the services of its employees and
consultants. The Company may not be able to generate significant revenue from sales of any product for several years, if at
all. Accordingly, the Company will need to obtain additional capital to finance its operations, including to support the
commercial launch of DEXTENZA.

 
The Company believes that its existing cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2019, along with $14,841 raised under

its open market sales agreement in the third quarter as of August 5, 2019 (Note 15), the $5,000 of restricted cash of June 30,
2019, which effective August 2, 2019 is no longer restricted as to the Company’s withdrawal or usage (Note 15), and
anticipated cash inflows from DEXTENZA product sales, will enable it to fund its planned operating expenses, debt service
obligations and capital expenditure requirements into the third quarter of calendar year 2020.  The Company, has no history
of commercialization of DEXTENZA and management does not yet have sufficient historical evidence to assert that it is
probable that the Company will receive sufficient revenues from its sales of DEXTENZA to fund operations. Therefore,
 management has determined that the Company’s accumulated deficit, history of losses, negative cash flows from operations
and future expected losses raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year
of the issuance date of these financial statements. The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations
since its inception, and the Company expects to continue to generate operating losses and negative cash flows from
operations in the foreseeable future. As of June 30, 2019, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $338,820. 

 
If the Company is unable to obtain other financing, the Company would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate its

research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts or to relinquish valuable rights to its
technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be
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favorable to the Company.  The actions necessary to reduce spending to a level that mitigates the factors described above are
not considered probable, as defined in the accounting standards.   

 
The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going-concern

basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The
accompanying unaudited interim financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on
the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from uncertainty
related to the ability to continue as a going concern.

 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). 
 
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
 
The balance sheet at December 31, 2018 was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all

disclosures required by GAAP.  The accompanying unaudited financial statements as of June 30, 2019 and for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 have been prepared by the Company, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial statements.  Certain information and footnote disclosures
normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to
such rules and regulations.  However, the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information
presented not misleading.  These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial
statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2018 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K on file with the SEC.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments
necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2019 and results of operations and cash
flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 have been made.  The results of operations for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2019. 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Significant
estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial statements include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, the
accrual of research and development expenses, including clinical trials, the present value of lease liabilities and the
corresponding lease assets, the fair value of derivatives, and the valuation of common stock and stock-based
awards.  Estimates are periodically reviewed in light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience.  Actual results could
differ from the Company’s estimates. 

 
Fair Value Measurements
 
Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under GAAP.  Fair value is defined as the exchange price that

would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.  Valuation techniques
used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs.  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three
levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:

 
· Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
· Level 2—Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices) such as quoted prices in active markets for

similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or
liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 
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· Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to
determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and similar techniques. 

 
The Company’s cash equivalents at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, were carried at fair value determined

according to the fair value hierarchy described above (Note 3).  The Company’s derivative liability at June 30, 2019 was
carried at fair value determined according to the fair value hierarchy described above and classified as a Level 3
measurement. The carrying value of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair value
due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.

 
The carrying value of the Company’s variable interest rate notes payable ( Note 8) are recorded at amortized costs,

which approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. 
 
On March 1, 2019, the Company issued $37,500 aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior subordinated

convertible notes (the “2026 Convertible Notes”) (Note 5) and is carried, net of derivative liability, at its amortized cost of
$23,898 at June 30, 2019.  The estimated fair value of the 2026 Convertible Notes was $36,224 at June 30, 2019. The fair
value of the 2026 Convertible Notes was estimated utilizing a binomial lattice model which requires the use of Level 3
unobservable inputs. The most significant input when determining the fair value for disclosure purposes is the discount rate.
The discount rate is updated each period to reflect the yield of a comparable instrument issued as of the valuation date.  The
estimated fair value presented is not necessarily indicative of an amount that could be realized in a current market exchange.
The use of alternative inputs and estimation methodologies could have a material effect on these estimates of fair value. 

 
Revenue Recognition
 
The Company recognizes product revenue from DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation

and pain, which it began selling to customers in June 2019, and ReSure Sealant.  The Company has generated limited
revenues from ReSure Sealant to date and does not expect significant future sales.
 

In November 2018, the FDA approved DEXTENZA for the treatment of ocular pain following ophthalmic surgery.
The Company entered into a limited number of arrangements with specialty distributors in the United States to distribute
DEXTENZA. Topic 606 applies to all contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other
standards, such as leases, insurance arrangements and financial instruments. Under Topic 606, an entity recognizes revenue
when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.
 

To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are within the scope of Topic 606, the
entity performs the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations
in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contract, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The Company only applies the
five-step model to arrangements that meet the definition of a contract with a customer under Topic 606, including when it is
probable that the Company will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to
the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope of Topic 606, the Company
assesses the goods or services promised within each contract, determines those that are performance obligations, and assesses
whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company then recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction
price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied. For a
complete discussion of accounting for product revenue, see Product Revenue, Net (below).
 

Product Revenue, Net— The Company derives its product revenues from the sale of DEXTENZA in the United
States to customers, which includes a limited number of specialty distributors, who then subsequently resell DEXTENZA to
physicians, clinics and certain medical centers or hospitals. In addition to distribution agreements with customers, the
Company enters into arrangements with government payers that provide for government mandated rebates and chargebacks
with respect to the purchase of DEXTENZA.    
 

The Company recognizes revenue on product sales when the customer obtains control of the Company's product,
which occurs at a point in time (upon delivery to the customer). The Company has determined that the delivery of
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DEXTENZA to its customers constitutes a single performance obligation.  There are no other promises to deliver goods or
services beyond what is specified in each accepted customer order.  The Company has assessed the existence of a significant
financing component in the agreements with its customers.  The trade payment terms with our customers do not exceed one
year and therefore the Company has elected to apply the practical expedient and no amount of consideration has been
allocated as a financing component.  Product revenues are recorded net of applicable reserves for variable consideration,
including discounts and allowances.
 

Transaction Price, including Variable Consideration— Revenues from product sales are recorded at the net sales
price (transaction price), which includes estimates of variable consideration for which reserves are established. Components
of variable consideration include trade discounts and allowances, product returns, government chargebacks, discounts and
rebates, and other incentives, such as voluntary patient assistance, and other fee-for-service amounts that are detailed within
contracts between the Company and its customers relating to the Company’s sale of its products. These reserves, as detailed
below, are based on the amounts earned, or to be claimed on the related sales, and are classified as reductions of accounts
receivable (if the amount is payable to the customer) or a current liability (if the amount is payable to a party other than a
customer). These estimates take into consideration a range of possible outcomes which are probability-weighted in
accordance with the expected value method in Topic 606 for relevant factors such as current contractual and statutory
requirements, specific known market events and trends, industry data, and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns.
Overall, these reserves reflect the Company’s best estimates of the amount of consideration to which it is entitled based on
the terms of the respective underlying contracts.
 

The amount of variable consideration which is included in the transaction price may be constrained, and is included
in the net sales price, only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue
recognized under the contract will not occur in a future period. Actual amounts of consideration ultimately received may
differ from the Company’s estimates. If actual results in the future vary from the Company’s original estimates, the Company
will adjust these estimates, which would affect net product revenue and earnings in the period such variances become known.
 

Trade Discounts and Allowances—The Company compensates (through trade discounts and allowances) its
customers for sales order management, data, and distribution services. However, the Company has determined such services
received to date are not distinct from the Company’s sale of products to the customer and, therefore, these payments have
been recorded as a reduction of revenue within the statement of operations and comprehensive loss through June 30, 2019, as
well as a reduction to trade receivables, net on the consolidated balance sheets.
 

Product Returns— Consistent with industry practice, the Company generally offers customers a limited right of
return for product that has been purchased from the Company in certain circumstances as further discussed below.  The
Company estimates the amount of its product sales that may be returned by its customers and records this estimate as a
reduction of revenue in the period the related product revenue is recognized, as well as within accrued expenses and other
current liabilities, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  The Company currently estimates product return
reserves using available industry data and its own sales information, including its visibility into the inventory remaining in
the distribution channel. The Company has received no returns to date and believes the returns of DEXTENZA will be
minimal.

 
 The Company’s limited right of return allows for eligible returns of DEXTENZA in the following circumstances:
 

· Shipment errors that were the result of an error by the Company;

· Quantity delivered that is greater or less than the quantity ordered;

· Product distributed by the Company that is damaged in transit prior to receipt by the customer;

· Product from physicians, clinics, medical centers and hospitals that was not administered to the patient that
is rendered non-unusable due to spoilage or mishandling

· Expired product, previously purchased directly from the Company, that is returned during the period
beginning six months prior to the product’s expiration date and ending twelve months after the product’s
expiration date;
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· Product subject to a recall; and

· Product that the Company, at its sole discretion, has specified to be returned.
 

Government Chargebacks— Chargebacks for fees and discounts to qualified government healthcare providers
represent the estimated obligations resulting from contractual commitments to sell products to qualified U.S. Department of
Veterans Affairs hospitals and 340B entities at prices lower than the list prices charged to customers who directly purchase
the product from the Company.  The 340B Drug Discount Program is a U.S. federal government program created in 1992 that
requires drug manufacturers to provide outpatient drugs to eligible health care organizations and covered entities at
significantly reduced prices.   Customers charge the Company for the difference between what they pay for the product and
the statutory selling price to the qualified government entity. These reserves are established in the same period that the related
revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of product revenue and trade receivables, net. Chargeback amounts are
generally determined at the time of resale to the qualified government healthcare provider by customers, and the Company
generally issues credits for such amounts within a few weeks of the Customer’s notification to the Company of the resale.
Reserves for chargebacks consist of credits that the Company expects to issue for units that remain in the distribution channel
inventories at each reporting period-end that the Company expects will be sold to qualified healthcare providers, and
chargebacks that customers have claimed, but for which the Company has not yet issued a credit.
 

Government Rebates— The Company is subject to discount obligations under state Medicaid programs and
Medicare. These reserves are recorded in the same period the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of
product revenue and the establishment of a current liability which is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheets. For Medicare, the Company also estimates the number of patients in the prescription drug
coverage gap for whom the Company will owe an additional liability under the Medicare Part D program. For Medicaid
programs, the Company estimates the portion of sales attributed to Medicaid patients and records a liability for the rebates to
be paid to the respective state Medicaid programs.  The Company’s liability for these rebates consists of invoices received for
claims from prior quarters that have not been paid or for which an invoice has not yet been received, estimates of claims for
the current quarter, and estimated future claims that will be made for product that has been recognized as revenue, but which
remains in the distribution channel inventories at the end of each reporting period.
 

Other Incentives— Other incentives which the Company offers include voluntary patient assistance programs, such
as the co-pay assistance program, which are intended to provide financial assistance to qualified commercially-insured
patients with prescription drug co-payments required by payers. The calculation of the accrual for co-pay assistance is based
on an estimate of claims and the cost per claim that the Company expects to receive associated with product that has been
recognized as revenue, but remains in the distribution channel inventories at the end of each reporting period. The
adjustments are recorded in the same period the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of product revenue and
the establishment of a current liability which is included as an accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets.

 
Inventory
 

The Company values its inventories at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. The Company determines
the cost of its inventories, which includes amounts related to materials and manufacturing overhead, on a first-in, first-out
basis. The Company performs an assessment of the recoverability of capitalized inventory during each reporting period, and
it writes down any excess and obsolete inventories to their estimated realizable value in the period in which the impairment is
first identified.  Such impairment charges, should they occur, are recorded within cost of product revenue.  The determination
of whether inventory costs will be realizable requires estimates by management. If actual market conditions are less favorable
than projected by management, additional write-downs of inventory may be required, which would be recorded as a cost of
product revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

 
The Company capitalizes inventory costs associated with the Company’s products after regulatory approval when,

based on management’s judgment, future commercialization is considered probable and the future economic benefit is
expected to be realized. Inventory acquired prior to receipt of marketing approval of a product candidate is expensed as
research and development expense as incurred. Inventory that can be used in either the production of
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clinical or commercial product is expensed as research and development expense when selected for use in a clinical
manufacturing campaign.  Inventory produced that will be used in promotional marketing campaigns is expensed to selling,
general and administrative expense when it is selected for use in a marketing program.

 
Derivative Liability
 
The 2026 Convertible Notes allow the holders to convert all or part of the outstanding principal of their 2026

Convertible Notes into shares of the Company’s common stock provided that no conversion results in a holder beneficially
owning more than 19.99% of the issued and outstanding common stock of the Company. The entire embedded conversion
option is required to be separated from the 2026 Convertible Notes and accounted for as a freestanding derivative instrument
subject to derivative accounting. Therefore, the entire conversion option is bifurcated from the underlying debt instrument
and accounted for and valued separately from the host instrument. The Company measures the value of the embedded
conversion option at its estimated fair value and recognizes changes in the estimated fair value in other income (expense), net
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss during the period of change. The embedded conversion
is recognized as a derivative liability in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

 
Restricted Cash
 
The Company held restricted cash of $6,764 and $6,614 at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, on its

consolidated balance sheet.  The Company held restricted cash as security deposits for the lease of its manufacturing space
and corporate headquarters and a financial covenant associated with the terms of its existing debt with lenders for total
indebtedness of $25,000, which restricts the Company's withdrawal or usage of $5,000 (Note 8).  Effective August 2, 2019,
$5,000 is no longer restricted as to the Company’s withdrawal or usage (Note 15).

 
The Company’s statements of cash flows include restricted cash with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the

beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on such statements. A reconciliation of the cash, cash
equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the balance sheet that sum to the total of the same amounts shown in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

 
             

  June 30,  June 30,  December 31,  December 31, 
     2019     2018     2018     2017
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 61,765  $ 56,834  $ 54,062  $ 41,538
Restricted cash   6,764   1,614   6,614   1,614
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as shown on the
statements of cash flows  $ 68,529  $ 58,448  $ 60,676  $ 43,152

 
Net Loss Per Share
 
The Company follows the two-class method when computing net loss per share as the Company has issued shares that

meet the definition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net loss per share for each class of common
and participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings.
The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common and
participating securities based on their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had been
distributed.

 
Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to

common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net
loss attributable to common stockholders is computed by adjusting net loss attributable to common stockholders to reallocate
undistributed earnings based on the potential impact of dilutive securities, including the assumed conversion of our 2026
Convertible Notes, outstanding stock options and common stock warrants, except where the result would be anti-dilutive.
Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, including potential
dilutive common shares assuming the dilutive effect of the conversion of the 2026 Convertible Notes, the exercise of
outstanding stock options and common stock warrants. In the diluted net loss per share calculation, net loss would also be
adjusted for the elimination of interest expense on the 2026 Convertible Notes (which includes

13



Table of Contents

amortization of the discount created upon bifurcation of the conversion option from the debt) and, the mark-to-market gain or
loss each period to the bifurcated conversion option, if the impact was not anti-dilutive.

 
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

 
In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU

2016-02”), a new standard issued to increase transparency and comparability among organizations related to their leasing
activities. This standard established a right-of-use model that requires all lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities on their balance sheet that arise from leases as well as provide disclosures with respect to certain qualitative and
quantitative information related to a company's leasing arrangements to meet the objective of allowing users of financial
statements to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.

 
The FASB subsequently issued the following amendments to ASU 2016-02 that have the same effective date and

transition date: ASU No. 2018-01, Leases (Topic 842): Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842, ASU
No. 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases, ASU No. 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted
Improvements, ASU No. 2018-20, Narrow-Scope Improvement for Lessors, and ASU No. 2019-01, Leases (Topic 842):
Codification Improvements. The Company adopted these amendments with ASU 2016-02 (collectively, the “New Leasing
Standards”) effective January 1, 2019.

 
The Company adopted the New Leasing Standards using the modified retrospective transition approach, as of January

1, 2019, with no restatement of prior periods or cumulative adjustment to accumulated deficit. Upon adoption, the Company
elected the package of transition practical expedients, which allowed the Company to carry forward prior conclusions related
to whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, the lease classification for any expired or existing leases
and initial direct costs for existing leases. The Company made an accounting policy election to not recognize leases with an
initial term of 12 months or less within its consolidated balance sheets and to recognize those lease payments on a straight-
line basis in its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss over the lease term.

 
Upon adoption of the New Leasing Standards the Company recognized operating lease assets of approximately $5,300

and corresponding operating lease liabilities of approximately $8,800, which are included in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet. The adoption of the New Leasing Standards did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss.

 
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception. Operating lease assets represent the

Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the Company’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease based upon the present value of lease payments over the lease term. When determining the
lease term, the Company includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise that option. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate when the implicit rate is not readily determinable
based upon the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of the lease payments.

 
The Company’s operating leases are reflected in operating lease assets, current portion of operating lease liabilities and

operating lease liabilities, net of current portion and in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The right of use asset was
determined using the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the term of the lease, any lease payments
made to the lessor at or before the commencement date, reduced by lease incentives, and initial direct costs incurred by the
Company. The liabilities are determined using the present value of the future minimum lease payments.

 
For additional information on the adoption of the New Leasing Standards, see Note 14 - Leases, to these consolidated

financial statements.
 

On March 31, 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accounting (“ASU 2018-07”). The new standard simplifies the accounting for share-based payments to nonemployees by
aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. The Company
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adopted ASU 2018-07 as required on January 1, 2019, and its adoption did not have any material impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations.    

 
3. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
 

The following tables present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to
determine such fair value:
 
             

  Fair Value Measurements as of
  June 30, 2019 Using:
     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total
Assets:                 

Cash equivalents:                 
Money market funds  $  —  $ 59,585  $  —  $ 59,585
             

Liability:             
Derivative liability (Note 4)    —    —   13,068   13,068
Total  $  —  $ 59,585  $ 13,068  $ 72,653

 
            

  Fair Value Measurements as of
  December 31, 2018 Using:
     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total
Assets:                 

Cash equivalents:                 
Money market funds  $  —  $ 50,906  $  —  $ 50,906

Total  $  —  $ 50,906  $  —  $ 50,906
 

During the six months ended June 30, 2019 there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.
 

4. Derivative Liability
 

The 2026 Convertible Notes (Note 5) contained an embedded conversion option that met the criteria to be bifurcated
and accounted for separately from the 2026 Convertible Notes (the "Derivative Liability"). The Derivative Liability was
recorded at fair value of $14,685 upon the issuance of the 2026 Convertible Notes and is subsequently remeasured to fair
value at each reporting period.  The Derivative Liability was initially valued and remeasured using a "with-and-without"
method. The "with-and-without" methodology involves valuing the whole instrument on an as-is basis and then valuing the
instrument without the embedded conversion option. The difference between the entire instrument with the embedded
conversion option compared to the instrument without the embedded conversion option is the fair value of the derivative,
recorded as the Derivative Liability.

 
The fair value of the 2026 Convertible Notes with and without the conversion option is estimated using a binomial

lattice approach. The key inputs to valuing the 2026 Convertible Notes with the conversion option as of June 30, 2019
include the Company’s stock price on the valuation date ($4.40 on June 30, 2019); the expected annual volatility of the
Company’s stock (88%) and the discount yield (12.6%), which was derived by making the fair value of the 2026 Convertible
Notes equal to the face value on the issuance date. Fair value measurements are highly sensitive to changes in these inputs
and significant changes in these inputs would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value.

 
A roll forward of the derivative liability is as follows:
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  As of
     June 30, 2019
Balance at December 31, 2018  $  —
Initial value   14,685
Change in fair value   (1,617)
Balance at June 30, 2019  $ 13,068

 

 
5. Convertible Notes
 

On March 1, 2019, the Company issued $37,500 of 2026 Convertible Notes. Each 2026 Convertible Note accrues
interest at an annual rate of 6% of its outstanding principal amount, which is payable, along with the principal amount  at
maturity, on March 1, 2026, unless earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed.  The Company includes the deferred interest
in the balance of the 2026 Convertible Notes on its consolidated balance sheet. The effective annual interest rate for the 2026
Convertible Notes was 13.5% through June 30, 2019.

 
The holders of the 2026 Convertible Notes may convert all or part of the outstanding principal amount of their 2026

Convertible Notes into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, prior to maturity and provided
that no conversion results in a holder beneficially owning more than 19.99% of the issued and outstanding common stock of
the Company. The conversion rate is initially 153.8462 shares of the Company’s common stock per $1,000 principal amount
of the 2026 Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of $6.50 per share.  The conversion rate is
subject to adjustment in customary circumstances such as stock splits or similar changes to the Company’s capitalization. 

 
At its election, the Company may choose to make such conversion payment in cash, in shares of common stock, or a

combination thereof. Upon any conversion of any 2026 Convertible Note, the Company is obligated to make a cash payment
to the holder of such 2026 Convertible Note for any interest accrued but unpaid on the principal amount converted. Upon the
occurrence of a Corporate Transaction (as defined below), each holder has the option to require the Company to repurchase
all or part of the outstanding principal amount of such note at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal
amount of the 2026 Convertible Note to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding the repurchase
date. In addition, each holder is entitled to receive an additional make-whole cash payment in accordance with a table set
forth in each 2026 Convertible Note. 

 
Upon conversion by the holder, the Company has the right to select the settlement of the conversion in either shares of

common stock, cash, or in a combination thereof. In addition, the Company is obligated to make a cash payment to the holder
of such 2026 Convertible Note for any interest accrued but unpaid on the principal amount converted.

 
· If the Company elects to satisfy such conversion by shares of common stock, the Company shall deliver to

the converting holder in respect of each $1,000 principal amount of 2026 Convertible Notes being
converted a number of common shares equal to the conversion rate in effect on the conversion date;

· If the Company elects to satisfy such conversion by cash settlement, the Company shall pay to the
converting holder in respect of each $1,000 principal amount of 2026 Convertible Notes being converted
cash in an amount equal to the sum of the Daily Conversion Values (as defined below) for each of the
twenty (20) consecutive trading days during a specified period.  The “Daily Conversion Values” is defined
as each of the 20 consecutive trading days during the specified period, 5.0% of the product of (a) the
conversion rate on such trading day and (b) the Daily VWAP on such trading day. The Daily VWAP is
defined as each of the 20 consecutive trading days during the applicable Observation Period, the per share
volume-weighted average price as displayed under the heading “Bloomberg VWAP” on the Bloomberg
page for the Company.

· If the Company elects to satisfy such conversion by combination, the Company shall pay or deliver, as the
case may be, in respect of each $1,000 principal amount of 2026 Convertible Notes being converted, a
settlement amount equal to the sum of the Daily Settlement Amounts (as defined below) for each of the
twenty (20) consecutive trading days during the specified period. The “Daily Settlement
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Amount” is defined as, for each of the 20 consecutive trading days during the specified period: (a) cash in
an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Daily Measurement Value (as defined below) and (ii) the Daily
Conversion Value on such Trading Day; and (b) if the Daily Conversion Value on such trading day exceeds
the Daily Measurement Value, a number of Shares equal to (i) the difference between the Daily Conversion
Value and the Daily Measurement Value, divided by (ii) the Daily VWAP for such Trading Day. The “Daily
Measurement Value” is defined as the Specified Dollar Amount (as defined below), if any, divided by 20.
 The “Specified Dollar Amount” is defined as the maximum cash amount per $1,000 principal amount of
Notes to be received upon conversion as specified in the notice specifying the Company’s chosen
settlement method.

In the event of a Corporate Transaction, the noteholder shall have the right to either (a) convert all of the unpaid
principal at the conversion rate and receive a cash payment equal to (i) the outstanding accrued but unpaid interest under the
2026 Convertible Note to, but excluding, the corporate transaction conversion date (to the extent such date occurs prior to
March 1, 2026, the maturity date of the 2026 Convertible Notes) plus (ii) and an additional amount of consideration based on
a sliding scale depending on the date of such as Corporate transaction or (b) require the Company to repurchase all or part of
the outstanding principal amount of such 2026 Convertible Note at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the outstanding
principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Note to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
repurchase date.

 
A corporate transaction includes (i) a merger or consolidation executed through a tender offer or change of control

(other than one in which stockholders of the Company own a majority by voting power of the outstanding shares of the
surviving or acquiring corporation); (ii) a sale, lease, transfer, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or (iii)
if the Company’s common stock ceases to be listed or quoted on any of the New York Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Global
Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market or the Nasdaq Capital Market (the “Corporate Transaction”). 

 
On or after March 1, 2022, if the last reported sale price of the common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion

rate then in effect for 20 of the preceding 30 trading days (including the last trading day of such period), the Company is
entitled, at its option, to redeem all or part of the outstanding principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes, on a pro rata
basis, at an optional redemption price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the optional redemption date.

 
The 2026 Convertible Notes are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including a

default or breach of certain contracts material to the Company and the delisting and deregistration of the Company’s common
stock.

 
As discussed in Note 4, the Company determined that the embedded conversion option is required to be separated from

the 2026 Convertible Notes and accounted for as a freestanding derivative instrument subject to derivative accounting. The
allocation of proceeds to the conversion option results in a discount on the 2026 Convertible Notes. The Company is
amortizing the discount to interest expense over the term of the 2026 Convertible Notes using the effective interest method.

 
A summary of the 2026 Convertible Notes at June 30, 2019 is as follows:

 
    

    June 30, 
     2019
2026 Convertible Notes  $ 37,500
Less: unamortized discount   (14,358)
    23,142
Interest   756
Total  $ 23,898

 

 
6. Income Taxes
 

The Company did not provide for any income taxes in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss
for the three and six-month periods ended June  30, 2019 or 2018.  The Company has provided a valuation allowance for the
full amount of its net deferred tax assets because, at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, it was more likely
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than not that any future benefit from deductible temporary differences and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards
would not be realized. 

 
The Company has not recorded any amounts for unrecognized tax benefits as of June 30, 2019 or December 31,

2018.  As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had no accrued interest or tax penalties recorded related to
income taxes.  The Company’s income tax return reporting periods since December 31, 2014 are open to income tax audit
examination by the federal and state tax authorities.  In addition, because the Company has net operating loss carryforwards,
the Internal Revenue Service is permitted to audit earlier years and propose adjustments up to the amount of net operating
losses generated in those years. 

 
7. Collaboration Agreement
 

In October 2016, the Company entered into a Collaboration, Option and License Agreement (the “Collaboration
Agreement”) with Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  (“Regeneron”) for the development and potential commercialization of
products containing the Company’s extended-delivery hydrogel formulation in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule
VEGF-targeting compounds for the treatment of retinal diseases.  The Collaboration Agreement does not cover the
development of any products that deliver small molecule drugs, including tyrosine kinase inhibitors, or TKIs, or deliver large
molecule drugs other than those that target VEGF proteins. 

 
Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, the Company and Regeneron have agreed to conduct a joint research

program with the aim of developing an extended-delivery formulation of aflibercept, currently marketed under the tradename
Eylea, that is suitable for advancement into clinical development.  The Company has granted Regeneron an option (the
“Option”) to enter into an exclusive, worldwide license to develop and commercialize products containing the Company’s
hydrogel in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds (“Licensed Products”).  Under the
term of the Collaboration Agreement, Regeneron is responsible for funding an initial preclinical tolerability study. 

 
If the Option is exercised, Regeneron will conduct further preclinical development and an initial clinical trial under a

collaboration plan.  The Company is obligated to reimburse Regeneron for certain development costs incurred by Regeneron
under the collaboration plan during the period through the completion of the initial clinical trial, subject to a cap of $25,000,
which cap may be increased by up to $5,000 under certain circumstances.  If Regeneron elects to proceed with further
development following the completion of the collaboration plan, it will be solely responsible for conducting and funding
further development and commercialization of product candidates.  If the Option is exercised, Regeneron is required to use
commercially reasonable efforts to research, develop and commercialize at least one Licensed Product.  Such efforts shall
include initiating the dosing phase of a subsequent clinical trial within specified time periods following the completion of the
first-in-human clinical trial or the initiation of preclinical toxicology studies, subject to certain extensions.  Through June 30,
2019, the Option has not been exercised, and no payments have been made.

 
Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, Regeneron has agreed to pay the Company $10,000 upon the exercise

of the Option.  The Company is also eligible to receive up to $145,000 per Licensed Product upon the achievement of
specified development and regulatory milestones, $100,000 per Licensed Product upon first commercial sale of such
Licensed Product and up to $50,000 based on the achievement of specified sales milestones for all Licensed Products.  In
addition, the Company is entitled to tiered, escalating royalties, in a range from a high-single digit to a low-to-mid teen
percentage of net sales of Licensed Products.   

 
In December 2017, the Company delivered to Regeneron a proposed final formulation for the initial preclinical

tolerability study.  Regeneron initiated the preclinical study in early 2018.  The Company and Regeneron have subsequently
reached an understanding that the proposed formulation was not final and have ceased development of it.  The Company is
currently in discussions with Regeneron, in accordance with the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, regarding the
development of an alternative formulation.

 
8. Notes Payable
 

The Company entered into a credit and security agreement in 2014 (as amended to date, the “Credit Agreement”)
establishing the Company’s credit facility (the “Credit Facility”).  The Company has a total borrowing capacity of
$25,000 under the Credit Facility which has been fully drawn down as of June 30, 2019.
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In December 2018, the Company amended the terms of the Credit Agreement to increase total indebtedness under the

Credit Facility to $25,000, which was used primarily to pay-off outstanding balances as of the closing date.  The Company is
required to make interest-only payments under the Credit Facility until December 2020. Commencing in January 2021, the
Company is required to make 36 equal monthly installments of principal in the amount of $694, plus interest, through
December 2023.  In the event the Company achieves certain milestones under the Credit Agreement, the Company has the
right to extend the interest-only payments through December 21, 2021 and make 24 equal monthly installments of principal
in the amount of $1,042, plus interest.  The Company has not assumed the achievement of these milestones for purposes of
disclosures herein.

 
Amounts borrowed under the Credit Facility are at LIBOR base rate, subject to 2.00% floor, plus 7.25%.  The interest

rate on the date of the amendment was 9.76%.  In addition, a final payment (exit fee) equal to 3.5% of amounts drawn under
the Credit Facility, or $875 based on borrowings of $25,000, is due upon the maturity date of December 21, 2023.  The
Company is accruing the exit fee through December 21, 2023. 

 
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is required to maintain a minimum of $5,000 of cash on hand as a financial

covenant to the borrowing arrangement, which the Company has included in long-term restricted cash in the consolidated
balance sheet as of June 30, 2019.  Effective August 2, 2019, the Credit Agreement was amended such that the $5,000 is no
longer restricted as to the Company’s withdrawal or usage (Note 15).  There are no financial covenants associated with the
Credit Agreement.  However, the Credit Agreement does contain negative covenants restricting the Company’s activities,
including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; encumbering its intellectual property; incurring indebtedness
or liens; paying dividends; making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business transactions.  The Company is
not in violation of any of the covenants.  The obligations under the Credit Agreement are subject to acceleration upon the
occurrence of specified events of default, including a material adverse change in the Company’s business, operations or
financial or other condition.  The debt is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets, including its intellectual
property.

 
In accordance with the Credit Agreement, in connection with the Company’s desire to issue and sell the 2026

Convertible Notes, the Company amended the terms of its debt with existing lenders in February 2019. The amendment
added to the Credit Agreement, among other provisions, a negative covenant restricting the Company from paying the
holders of the 2026 Convertible Notes ahead in priority to the existing lenders, for so long as indebtedness remains
outstanding under the Credit Facility, and a cross-default provision to establish that an event of default under the purchase
agreement for the 2026 Convertible Notes also constitutes an event of default under the Credit Agreement.

 
Borrowings outstanding are as follows:

 
       

    June 30,    December 31, 
     2019     2018
Borrowings outstanding  $ 25,000  $ 25,000
Accrued exit fee   93    5
Unamortized discount   (195)  (217)
  $ 24,898  $ 24,788

 
As of June 30, 2019, the annual repayment requirements for the Credit Facility, inclusive of the final payment of $875

due at expiration, were as follows:
 

          

         
     Interest and    
Year Ending December 31,     Principal     Final Payment     Total
Remainder of 2019  $  —  $ 1,247  $ 1,247
2020    —   2,481   2,481
2021   8,333   2,094   10,427
2022   8,333   1,270   9,603
2023   8,334   1,319   9,653
  $ 25,000  $ 8,411  $ 33,411
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Interest paid amounted to $1,227 and $757 for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 

 
9. Common Stock
 

On April 5, 2019, the Company entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement  (the “2019 Sales Agreement”) with
Jefferies, LLC (“Jefferies”), under which the Company may offer and sell its common stock having aggregate proceeds of up
to $50,000 from time to time through Jefferies, acting as agent.   In the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, the
Company sold 1,180,367 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of
approximately $5,074 after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses.  

 
In January 2018, the Company completed a follow-on offering of its common stock at a public offering price of $5.00

per share. The offering consisted of 7,475,000 shares of common stock sold by the Company, including those shares sold in
connection with the exercise by the underwriter of its option to purchase additional shares. The Company received net
proceeds from the follow-on offering of $34,704 after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses.

 
In November 2016, the Company entered into a controlled equity offering sales agreement (the “2016 Sales

Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., under which the Company could offer and sell its common stock having
aggregate proceeds of up to $40,000 from time to time. In the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company sold
1,318,481 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2016 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately
$4,954 after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses. Through March 31, 2019, the Company has sold
6,330,222 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2016 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately
$38,381 after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses. As of February 25, 2019, the Company had no amounts
remaining available for future sale under the 2016 Sales Agreement. On February 28, 2019, pursuant to the 2016 Sales
Agreement, the Company delivered a termination notice to Cantor, terminating the 2016 Sales Agreement. 

 
10. Net Loss Per Share
 

Basic and diluted net loss per share was calculated as follows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and
2018:

 
              

  Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,  
     2019      2018  2019      2018  
Numerator:              

Net loss attributable to
common stockholders  $ (24,453) $ (13,804) $ (41,577) $ (27,569) 

Denominator:                
Weighted average common
shares outstanding, basic and
diluted   42,910,084   37,524,512   42,582,501   36,160,251  

Net loss per share
attributable to common
stockholders, basic and
diluted  $ (0.57) $ (0.37) $ (0.98) $ (0.76) 
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The Company excluded the following common stock equivalents, outstanding as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, from the

computation of diluted net loss per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 because they had an
anti-dilutive impact due to the net loss incurred for the periods.
 

     

  As of June 30, 
     2019     2018
Options to purchase common stock  7,607,342  5,190,096
Warrants for the purchase of common stock  18,939  18,939
  7,626,281  5,209,035

 

 
11. Stock-Based Awards
 

2014 Stock Incentive Plan
 
The 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock

options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other stock-based awards.  The number
of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2014 Plan is subject to increase on the first day of each fiscal year,
beginning on January 1, 2015 and ending on December 31, 2024 in an amount equal to the lesser of a pre-determined formula
or as determined by the Company’s board of directors.  On January 1, 2019, the number of shares available for issuance
under the 2014 Plan was increased by 1,659,218.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company
granted options to purchase 419,600 and 2,710,000 shares of common stock, respectively, at a weighted exercise price of
$3.85 and $4.06 per share, respectively. As of June 30, 2019, 863,544 shares remained available for issuance under the 2014
Plan. 

 
2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 
The Company has a 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).  The number of shares of common stock that

may be issued under the ESPP will automatically increase on the first day of each fiscal year, commencing on January 1,
2015 and ending on December 31, 2024 in an amount equal to the lesser of a pre-determined formula or as determined by the
Company’s board of directors.  On January 1, 2019, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan was
increased by 207,402.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, 84,238 shares of common stock were
issued.  As of June 30, 2019, 524,674 shares remained available for issuance under the ESPP. 

 
Inducement Stock Option Awards
 
On June 20, 2017, the Company issued to Antony Mattessich, who became a director of the Company on June 20, 2017

and the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer on July 26, 2017, a non-statutory stock option to purchase an
aggregate of 590,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $10.94 per share. Subject to Mr.
Mattessich’s continued service to the Company, the stock option will vest over a four-year period, with 25% of the shares
underlying the option award vesting on the one-year anniversary of the grant date and the remaining 75% of the shares
underlying the award vesting monthly thereafter.  The stock option was issued outside of the Company’s 2014 Plan as an
inducement material to Mr. Mattessich’s acceptance of entering into employment with the Company in accordance with
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4). 

 
Stock-based Compensation
 
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to stock options in the following expense categories

of its statements of operations:
 

              

  Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended  
  June 30,  June 30,  
     2019     2018     2019     2018  
Research and development  $ 593  $ 619  $ 1,213  $ 1,226  
Selling and marketing   238   115   458   227  
General and administrative   864   1,096   1,966   2,208  
  $ 1,695  $ 1,830  $ 3,637  $ 3,661  
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As of June 30, 2019, the Company had an aggregate of $14,367 of unrecognized stock-based compensation cost, which

is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.7 years. 
As of June 30, 2019, there were outstanding unvested service-based stock options held by nonemployees for the

purchase of 24,584 shares of common stock. 
 

12. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Intellectual Property Licenses
 
The Company entered into a license agreement with Incept LLC (“Incept”) to use and develop certain intellectual

property rights in 2007.  The Company and Incept amended and restated the agreement in January 2012 (such amended and
restated agreement, the “Prior Agreement”).  Under the Prior Agreement, the Company was granted a worldwide, perpetual,
exclusive license to develop and commercialize products that are delivered to or around the human eye for diagnostic,
therapeutic or prophylactic purposes relating to ophthalmic diseases or conditions.  On September 13, 2018 (the “Effective
Date”), the Company and Incept further amended and restated the license agreement in full (the “Second Amended
Agreement”) to expand the scope of the Company’s intellectual property license and modify future intellectual property
ownership and other rights thereunder. 

 
The Company is obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on net sales of commercial products developed using the

licensed technology, commencing with the date of the first commercial sale of such products and until the expiration of the
last to expire of the patents covered by the license.  Any of the Company’s sublicensees also will be obligated to pay Incept a
royalty equal to a low single-digit percentage of net sales made by it and will be bound by the terms of the agreement to the
same extent as the Company.  The Company is obligated to reimburse Incept for its share of the reasonable fees and costs
incurred by Incept in connection with the prosecution of the patent applications licensed to the Company under the Prior
Agreement.  Through June 30, 2019, royalties paid under this agreement related to product sales were $244 and have been
charged to cost of product revenue. 

 
License Rights; Ownership of Intellectual Property
 
In the Second Amended Agreement, the parties have agreed to expand the field of use of the exclusive, worldwide,

perpetual, irrevocable license held by the Company under the Prior Agreement to include specified intellectual property
rights and technology owned or controlled by Incept to make, have made, use, offer for sale, sell, sublicense, have
sublicensed, offer for sublicense and import, (i) consistent with the Prior Agreement, products delivered to or around the
human eye for diagnostic, therapeutic or prophylactic purposes relating to all human ophthalmic diseases or conditions (the
“Ophthalmic Field of Use”) and (ii) as a result of the expansion of the scope of the license pursuant to the Prior Agreement,
products delivered for the treatment of acute post-surgical pain or for the treatment of ear, nose and/or throat diseases or
conditions, subject to specified exceptions (the “Additional Field of Use”).  The parties have further agreed to expand the
field of use of the license for certain patents, patent applications and other rights pertaining to shape-changing hydrogel
formulations thereunder (the “Shape-Changing IP”) to include all fields except those involving the nerves and associated
tissues specified in the Second Amended Agreement. 
 

The Company will solely own, without a license to Incept, all intellectual property rights conceived solely by one or
more individuals from the Company (“Company Individuals”) after the Effective Date, subject to exceptions specified
therein.  Subject to certain exceptions specified in the Second Amended Agreement, Incept will own and license to the
Company (i) all intellectual property rights included in the Prior Agreement (“Original IP”) in the Ophthalmic Field of Use
and the Additional Field of Use, (ii) intellectual property rights in the field of drug delivery conceived by one or more
Company Individuals on or before the Effective Date (“Incept IP”), and (iii) intellectual property rights in the field of drug
delivery conceived by one or more Company Individuals jointly with one or more individuals from Incept, including Dr.
Sawhney (“Incept Individuals”), after the Effective Date (“Joint IP” and, collectively with the Original IP and the Incept IP,
the “Licensed IP”). 
 

Financial Terms 
 
The Company and any of its sublicensees are obligated to pay Incept royalties as follows under the Second Amended

Agreement: (i) consistent with the Prior Agreement, a royalty equal to a low single-digit percentage of net sales by the
Company or its affiliates of products, devices, materials, or components thereof (“Licensed Products”),
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including or covered by Original IP, excluding the Shape-Changing IP, in the Ophthalmic Field of Use; (ii) a royalty equal to
a mid-single-digit percentage of net sales by the Company or its affiliates of Licensed Products including or covered by
Original IP, excluding the Shape-Changing IP, in the Additional Field of Use; and (iii) a royalty equal to a low single-digit
percentage of net sales by the Company or its affiliates of Licensed Products including or covered by Incept IP or Joint IP in
the field of drug delivery.  Royalty obligations under the Second Amended Agreement commence with the first commercial
sale of a Licensed Product described above and terminate upon the expiration of the last-to-expire patents included in the
Licensed IP, as applicable.  Any sublicensee of the Company also will be obligated to pay Incept royalties on net sales of
Licensed Products made by it and will be bound by the terms of the Second Amended Agreement to the same extent as the
Company. Additionally, at its sole discretion, Incept may require, as a condition of any sublicense by the Company in the
Additional Field of Use and in exchange for a reduction in the royalties owed on net sales of Licensed Products described
above, payments equal to a mid-teen percentage of any upfront payment and, subject to certain conditions, other payments
received by the Company from the sublicensee.
 

Patent Prosecution and Litigation 
 
Incept will continue to have sole control and responsibility for ongoing prosecution of patents included in the Original

IP, and the Company will have sole control and responsibility for ongoing prosecution of patents and patent applications
included in or arising under the Incept IP or Joint IP.  The parties have agreed to work together in good faith to enter into a
separate agreement under which, subject to certain limitations, the Company would assume control of the prosecution of
patents and patent applications included in or arising under the Shape-Changing IP.  The Company has the right, subject to
certain conditions, to bring suit against third parties who infringe the patents included in the Original IP in the Ophthalmic
Field of Use or the Additional Field of Use, patents included in the Incept IP in the drug delivery filed, patents included in
the Joint IP in the drug delivery field, and patents included in the Shape-Changing IP in all fields except as described
above.  The Company has also agreed, if requested by Incept, to enter into a joint defense and prosecution agreement for the
purpose of allowing the parties to share confidential and attorney-client privileged information regarding the possible
infringement of one or more patents covered by the Second Amended Agreement. The Company is responsible for all costs
incurred in prosecuting any infringement action it brings.
 

Term and Termination
 
The Second Amended Agreement will expire on the later of (i) the expiration or disclaimer by the Company of the last

valid claim of an issued and unexpired patent included in the Licensed IP or (ii) the final unappealable rejection or
abandonment of the last pending patent application arising under the Licensed IP.  Either party may terminate the Second
Amended Agreement in the event of the other party’s insolvency, bankruptcy or comparable proceedings, or if the other party
materially breaches the agreement and does not cure such breach during a specified cure period.

 
Collaboration Agreement
 
In October 2016, the Company entered into the Collaboration Agreement with Regeneron as described in Note

7.  Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, the Company has granted Regeneron an Option to enter into an
exclusive, worldwide license to develop and commercialize products containing the Company’s hydrogel in combination
with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds.  If the Option is exercised, the Company is obligated to
reimburse Regeneron for certain development costs incurred under the collaboration plan during the period through the
completion of the initial clinical trial, subject to a cap of $25,000, which cap may be increased by up to $5,000 under certain
circumstances.  Through June 30, 2019, the Option has not been exercised and no payments have been made to Regeneron.
 

Legal Proceedings
 

Securities Class Actions
 

On July 7, 2017, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s  current
and former executive officers in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, captioned Thomas Gallagher
v. Ocular Therapeutix, Inc, et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-05011. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of shareholders
who purchased the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2017 and July 6, 2017. The complaint generally alleges that
the Company and certain of the Company’s current and former officers violated Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
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thereunder by making allegedly false and/or misleading statements concerning the Form 483 issued by the FDA related to
DEXTENZA and the Company’s manufacturing operations for DEXTENZA. The complaint seeks unspecified damages,
attorneys’ fees, and other costs.  On July 14, 2017, an amended complaint was filed; the amended complaint purports to be
brought on behalf of shareholders who purchased the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2017 and July 11, 2017, and
otherwise includes allegations similar to those made in the original complaint.

 
On July 12, 2017, a second putative class action lawsuit was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s

current and former executive officers in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, captioned Dylan
Caraker v. Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-05095. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of
shareholders who purchased the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2017 and July 6, 2017. The complaint includes
allegations similar to those made in the Gallagher complaint, and seeks similar relief. 

 
On August 3, 2017, a third putative class action lawsuit was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s

current and former executive officers in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, captioned Shawna
Kim v. Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-05704. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of
shareholders who purchased the Company’s common stock between March 10, 2016 and July 11, 2017. The complaint
includes allegations similar to those made in the Gallagher complaint, and seeks similar relief. 

 
On October 27, 2017, a magistrate judge for the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey granted the

defendants’ motion to transfer the above-referenced Gallagher, Caraker, and Kim litigations to the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts.  These matters were assigned the following docket numbers in the District of
Massachusetts: 1:17-cv-12288 (Gallagher), 1:17-cv-12146 (Caraker), and 1:17-cv-12286 (Kim).

 
On March 9, 2018, the court consolidated the three actions and appointed co-lead plaintiffs and co-lead counsel for the

consolidated action.  On May 7, 2018, co-lead plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended class action complaint.  The amended
complaint makes allegations similar to those in the original complaints, against the same defendants, and seeks similar relief
on behalf of shareholders who purchased the Company’s common stock between March 10, 2016 and July 11, 2017.  The
amended complaint generally alleges that defendants violated Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-
5 promulgated thereunder.  On July 6, 2018, defendants filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended
complaint.  Plaintiffs filed an opposition to the motion to dismiss on September 4, 2018, and defendants filed a reply on
October 4, 2018.  The court held oral argument on the motion to dismiss on February 6, 2019.  By order dated April 30, 2019,
the court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss.  On May 31, 2019, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to the United States
Court of Appeals for the First Circuit regarding the District Court’s opinion and order of dismissal of the Complaint.

 
The Company denies any allegations of wrongdoing and intends to vigorously defend against these lawsuits.

Shareholder Derivative Litigation
 
On July 11, 2017, a purported shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed against certain of the Company’s current and

former executive officers, certain current and former board members, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the United
States District Court for the District of Massachusetts, captioned Robert Corwin v. Sawhney et al., Case No. 1:17-cv-
11270.  The complaint generally alleged that the individual defendants breached fiduciary duties owed to the Company by
making allegedly false and/or misleading statements concerning the Form 483 related to DEXTENZA and our manufacturing
operations for DEXTENZA.  The complaint purported to assert claims against the individual defendants for breach of
fiduciary duty, and sought to recover on behalf of the Company for any liability the Company incurs as a result of the
individual defendants’ alleged misconduct.  The complaint also sought contribution on behalf of the Company from all
individual defendants for their alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder.  The complaint sought declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of
damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.  On September 20, 2017, counsel for the plaintiff filed a notice of
voluntary dismissal, stating that the plaintiff wished to coordinate his efforts and proceed in a consolidated fashion with the
plaintiff in a similar derivative suit that was pending in the Superior Court of Suffolk County of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts captioned Angel Madera v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 17-2273 (which is discussed in the paragraph
immediately below) by filing an action in that court subsequent to the dismissal of this lawsuit.  The Corwin lawsuit was
dismissed without prejudice on September 21, 2017.  On October 24, 2017, the plaintiff filed a new derivative complaint in
Massachusetts Superior Court (Suffolk County), captioned Robert Corwin v. Sawhney et al., Case No. 17-3425 (BLS2).  The
new Corwin complaint includes allegations similar to those made in the federal court complaint and asserts a derivative claim
for breach of fiduciary duty against certain of our current and
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former officers and directors. The complaint also asserts an unjust enrichment claim against two additional defendants, SV
Life Sciences Fund IV, LP and SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic Partners, LP.  The complaint also names the Company as
a nominal defendant.

 
On July 19, 2017, a second purported shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed against certain of the Company’s current

and former executive officers, all current board members, one former board member, and the Company as a nominal
defendant, in the Superior Court of Suffolk County of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, captioned Angel Madera v.
Sawhney et al., Case. No. 17-2273.  The complaint included allegations similar to those made in the Corwin complaint.  The
complaint purported to assert derivative claims against the individual defendants for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust
enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, and waste of corporate assets, and sought to recover on behalf of the
Company for any liability the Company incurs as a result of the individual defendants’ alleged misconduct. The complaint
sought declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and
costs. On November 6, 2017, the court dismissed this action without prejudice due to plaintiff’s failure to complete service of
process within the time permitted under applicable court rules.  On December 21, 2017, the same plaintiff filed a new
derivative complaint in the same court, captioned Angel Madera v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 17-4126 (BLS2).  The new
Madera complaint is premised on substantially similar allegations as the previous complaint and purports to assert derivative
claims against certain current and former executive officers and board members for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust
enrichment, and waste of corporate assets, and names the Company as a nominal defendant.  Like the new Corwin complaint,
the new Madera complaint also asserts an unjust enrichment claim against two additional defendants, SV Life Sciences Fund
IV, LP and SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic Partners, LP.  

 
By order dated January 29, 2018, the court consolidated the state court Corwin and Madera complaints under the

Corwin docket and appointed lead counsel for plaintiffs. On February 28, 2018, plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended
complaint.  The consolidated complaint names substantially the same defendants and is premised on substantially similar
allegations as the previous Corwin and Madera complaints, asserting claims for breach of fiduciary duty against the
individual defendants and unjust enrichment against the two SV entity defendants.  On April 17, 2018, all defendants served
a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint.  On June 22, 2018, plaintiffs served their opposition to the motion
to dismiss and a cross-motion to stay the proceedings pending a decision on the motion to dismiss in the above-referenced
securities class action in the District of Massachusetts. On July 30, 2018, the parties filed a joint motion to stay the
proceedings pending a decision on the motion to dismiss in the above-referenced securities class action in the District of
Massachusetts. On August 3, 2018, the court granted the motion to stay.

 
On January 31, 2018, a third purported shareholder derivative suit was filed against certain of the Company’s current

and former executive officers, certain current and former board members, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the
United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts, captioned Brian Robinson v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 1:18-cv-
10199.  The complaint includes allegations similar to those made in the Corwin and Madera complaints.  The complaint does
not name either SV Life Sciences Fund, IV, LP or SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic Partners, LP as defendants, and adds
two former officers as defendants.  The complaint purports to assert derivative claims against the individual defendants for
breach of fiduciary duty, waste of corporate assets, and unjust enrichment, and seeks to recover on behalf of the Company for
any liability the Company incurs as a result of the individual defendants’ alleged misconduct. The complaint seeks
declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 
On April 30, 2018, all defendants filed a motion to dismiss or stay the complaint. Plaintiff filed his opposition on June 22,
2018. On July 26, 2018, the parties filed a joint motion to extend the deadline for defendants to file their reply brief pending
the potential substitution of the named shareholder plaintiff.  On August 20, 2018, the parties filed a joint stipulation and
proposed order regarding plaintiff’s unopposed request to substitute a new shareholder plaintiff and the parties’ joint request
that the court stay the proceedings pending a decision on the motion to dismiss in the above-referenced securities class action
in the District of Massachusetts.  On September 4, 2018, the court entered the requested order substituting the named plaintiff
and staying the matter.

 
On February 16, 2018, a fourth purported shareholder derivative suit was filed against certain of the Company’s current

and former executive officers, certain current and former board members, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the
United States District Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Terry Kelly v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 1:18-cv-
00277.  The complaint includes allegations similar to those made in the Corwin and Madera complaints.  The complaint
purports to assert derivative claims against the individual defendants for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment and
waste of corporate assets, and seeks to recover on behalf of the Company for any liability the Company incurs as a result of
the individual defendants’ alleged misconduct. The complaint also asserts an unjust enrichment claim against SV Life
Sciences Fund IV, LP and SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic Partners, LP.  The complaint seeks
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declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.
On June 11, 2018, the parties filed a stipulation staying the lawsuit pending final judgment in the consolidated derivative
action pending in Massachusetts state court under the Corwin docket, described above.  The court entered an order staying
the case on June 12, 2018.

 
The Company denies any allegations of wrongdoing and intend to vigorously defend against these lawsuits.
 
In addition, the Company received a subpoena from the SEC, dated December 15, 2017, requesting documents and

information concerning DEXTENZA (dexamethasone insert) 0.4mg, including related communications with the FDA,
investors and others.  The Company received a second subpoena from the SEC on August 21, 2018, requesting documents
and information concerning its participation in two investor conferences in June 2017.  By letter dated May 2, 2019, the SEC
notified the Company that the SEC had concluded its investigation and did not intend to recommend an enforcement action
against the Company or any individuals.

 
The Company is unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits or proceedings at this time. Moreover, any conclusion

of these matters in a manner adverse to the Company and for which it incurs substantial costs or damages not covered by our
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and
business. In addition, the proceedings could adversely impact the Company’s reputation and divert management’s attention
and resources from other priorities, including the execution of business plans and strategies that are important to the
Company’s ability to grow the Company’s business, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business.

 
13. Related Party Transactions
 

The Company has a license agreement with Incept to use and develop certain patent rights that it entered into in 2007,
amended and restated in January 2012 and further amended and restated in September 2018 (Note 12).  Incept and certain
owners of Incept are shareholders of the Company.  The Company’s former Chairman of the Board of Directors, President
and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) is a general partner of Incept and has a 50% ownership stake in Incept. 

 
Since October 2017, the Company has engaged McCarter English LLP (“McCarter”) to provide legal services to the

Company, including with respect to intellectual property matters.  Mr. Jonathan M. Sparks, Ph.D., a partner at McCarter &
English, has also served in the capacity as the Company’s in-house counsel since October 2017. The Company incurred fees
for legal services rendered by McCarter of $198 and $120 and $475 and $210 for the three and six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.  As of June 30, 2019, there was $51 recorded in accounts payable and $55 recorded in accrued
expenses for McCarter.

 
14. Leases

 
The Company leases real estate, including laboratory, manufacturing and office space, and certain equipment. The

Company’s leases have remaining lease terms ranging from less than 1 year to 9 years. Certain leases include one or more
options to renew, exercised at our sole discretion, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from one year to six
years.  All of the Company’s leases qualify as operating leases.

 
On April 4, 2019, the Company entered into a non-cancelable lease for 30,036 square feet of space located at 24

Crosby Street in Bedford, Massachusetts to be used for office space.   The five-year lease commenced on April 18, 2019 and
terminates on March 24, 2024 and does not include any lease renewal options.  The Company recorded an operating lease
asset and liability of $2,044 on its consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2019 in connection with this lease.
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The following table summarizes the presentation in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet of its operating leases:
 
      

    June 30, 
     Balance sheet location     2019
Assets:      

Operating lease assets  Operating lease assets  $ 7,010
      

Liability:      
Current operating lease liabilities  Operating lease liabilities  $ 1,024

Non-current operating lease liabilities  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current
portion   9,493 

Total Operating lease liabilities:    $ 10,517 
 

The following table summarizes the effect of lease costs in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss:

 
         

    For the  For the

    

Three
Months
Ended  

Six Months
Ended

    June 30,  June 30, 
     Statement of operations and comprehensive loss location    2019  2019
Operating lease costs  Research and development  $ 423  $ 792
  Selling and marketing   79   104
  General and administrative   89   137
    $ 591  $ 1,033

 
The minimum lease payments for the next five years and thereafter is expected to be as follows:
 

      

    June 30, 
Year Ending December 31,       2019
2019 (remaining six months)     1,182
2020     2,418
2021     2,483
2022     2,548
2023     2,358
Thereafter     5,383
Total lease payments    $ 16,372
Less: interest     5,855
Present value of operating lease liabilities    $ 10,517

 
Under the prior lease guidance minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable leases for each of the next five

years and total thereafter as of December 31, 2018, were as follows:
 

                 

     2019     2020     2021     2022     2023     Thereafter     Total
Minimum lease payments  $ 1,809  1,850  1,886  1,936  1,730  5,224  $ 14,435
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The weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate of our operating leases are as follows:
 

     

  June 30,  
     2019  
Weighted average remaining lease term in years   6.9  
Weighted average discount rate   13.55 %
 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information related to our operating leases included in cash flows provided by
operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:

 
       

  For the  For the
  Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
  June 30,  June 30, 
     2019  2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities  $ 445  $ 888
 

 
15. Subsequent Events

 
Amendment to Credit Agreement
 
On August 2, 2019, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Credit Agreement (Note 8) in which the

lenders agreed to remove the financial covenant requiring the Company to maintain a minimum of $5,000 of cash on
hand.  The effect of this amendment is that long-term restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2019 is
no longer restricted as to the Company’s withdrawal or usage and therefore will be reclassified to cash and cash equivalents.

 
Open Market Sales Agreement
 
From July 1, 2019 through August 5, 2019, the Company has sold 3,084,879 shares of common stock at-the-market

under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $14,841 after underwriting discounts and
commissions and expenses. Since inception of the 2019 Sales Agreement, the Company has sold an aggregate of 4,265,246
shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $19,915
after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 
 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 7,
2019.  Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties.  As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Risk
Factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our actual results could differ materially from the results described
in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. 

 
Overview
 
We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the formulation, development and commercialization of innovative

therapies for diseases and conditions of the eye using our proprietary, bioresorbable hydrogel platform technology. We use
this technology to tailor duration and amount of delivery of a range of therapeutic agents of varying duration in our product
candidates.

We currently incorporate U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approved therapeutic agents, including small
molecules and proteins, into our hydrogel technology with the goal of providing local programmed-release of drug to the eye.
We believe that our local programmed-release drug delivery technology has the potential to treat conditions and diseases of
both the front and the back of the eye and can be administered through a range of different modalities including
intracanalicular inserts, intracameral implants and intravitreal implants. We have products and product candidates in pre-
commercial, clinical and preclinical development applying this technology to treat post-surgical ocular inflammation and
pain, allergic conjunctivitis, dry eye disease, glaucoma and ocular hypertension, and wet age-related macular degeneration, or
wet AMD, among other conditions.

In November 2018, the FDA approved our new drug application, or NDA, for DEXTENZA  (dexamethasone
ophthalmic insert) 0.4mg for intracanalicular use for the treatment of ocular pain following ophthalmic
surgery.  DEXTENZA is the first FDA-approved intracanalicular insert delivering dexamethasone to treat post-surgical
ocular pain for up to 30 days with a single administration.  In June 2019, the FDA approved our supplemental new drug
application, or sNDA, for DEXTENZA to treat post-surgical ocular inflammation. On July 1, 2019, we commercially
launched DEXTENZA in the United States for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain. We have initiated
an 80-subject, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating DEXTENZA for the treatment of ocular itching in connection with
allergic conjunctivitis.

We are developing our product candidate OTX-TP (intracanalicular travoprost insert) for the reduction of intraocular
pressure, or IOP, in patients with glaucoma and ocular hypertension.  Both DEXTENZA and OTX-TP are local programmed-
release, drug-eluting, preservative-free intracanalicular inserts that are placed into the canaliculus through a natural opening
called the punctum located in the portion of the lower eyelid near the nose.

Our earlier stage assets include two development programs that have initiated clinical trials: OTX-TIC, an intracameral
travoprost implant for the reduction of IOP in patients with glaucoma and ocular hypertension when greater IOP reduction is
needed, and OTX-TKI, an intravitreal injection by fine gauge needle of a hydrogel, anti-angiogenic formulation of a tyrosine
kinase inhibitor, or TKI, for the treatment of wet AMD. We also have a collaboration with Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
or Regeneron, for the development and potential commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel in
combination with Regeneron’s VEGF inhibitor, aflibercept, currently marketed under the brand name Eylea.

In addition to our ongoing drug product development, we currently market ReSure  Sealant, a hydrogel ophthalmic
wound sealant approved by the FDA to seal corneal incisions following cataract surgery.

Inflammation and Pain after Ocular Surgery
 
DEXTENZA  (dexamethasone ophthalmic insert)
 

DEXTENZA incorporates the FDA-approved corticosteroid dexamethasone as an active pharmaceutical ingredient into
a hydrogel, drug-eluting intracanalicular insert. In November 2018 the FDA approved our NDA for DEXTENZA
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for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain. In June 2019, the FDA approved our sNDA, for DEXTENZA to treat post-
surgical ocular inflammation. In connection with our July 1, 2019 commercial launch of DEXTENZA, we have built our own
highly targeted, key account manager, or KAM, sales force that will focus on the ambulatory surgical centers, or ASCs,
responsible for the largest volumes of cataract surgery.  DEXTENZA is now available through distributors and our key
account managers are fully trained.  Commencing in May 2019, our KAMs worked actively with select ASCs in a sampling
program that we refer to as DEXTENZA Days. Our initial commercial efforts are focused on the two million cataract
procedures performed annually under Medicare Part B.  Following our receipt of FDA approval on November 30, 2018, we
submitted an application for a C-code for transitional pass-through payment status.  On May 29, 2019, we received formal
notification from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, that it had approved transitional pass-through
payment status and established a new reimbursement code for DEXTENZA. The code, C9048, became effective on July 1,
2019.  On December 28, 2018, we submitted an application for a J-code for permanent payment status.  In July 2019, we
subsequently received a specific and permanent J-code, that will become effective October 1, 2019.

A C-code is a unique temporary pricing code established by the CMS, for the Prospective Payment System and is only
valid for claims for hospital outpatient department services and procedures and ambulatory surgery settings.  A J-Code is a
permanent code used to report drugs that ordinarily cannot be self-administered.  J-codes are familiar to both medical
practices and their billing staffs, as well as Medicare (Part B and Part C) and commercial insurers. As a result, J-codes allow
for a simpler and more convenient reimbursement process. 

We have completed three Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation
and pain. The data from two of these three completed Phase 3 clinical trials and a prior Phase 2 clinical trial were used to
support our NDA for post-surgical ocular pain. We submitted a sNDA for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical
ocular inflammation in January 2019.  In June 2019, the FDA approved the sNDA. We have also completed two Phase 3
clinical trials of DEXTENZA for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis and a Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for the
treatment of dry eye disease.

In the third quarter of 2019, we initiated an 80-subject, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating DEXTENZA for the
treatment of ocular itching in connection with allergic conjunctivitis.  We are also planning to evaluate DEXTENZA in
pediatric subjects that are 0 to 3 years of age undergoing cataract surgery in the fourth quarter of 2019.    The planned
pediatric trial is a post-approval commitment to the FDA.  Additionally, we have received proposals for, and plan to support,
several investigator-initiated trials evaluating DEXTENZA in different clinical situations.  

Glaucoma Programs

Glaucoma is a large market and a disease that is estimated to impact an estimated that more than 2.7 million people age
40 or older in the U.S.  The primary goal of glaucoma treatment is to slow the progression of this chronic disease by reducing
intraocular pressure, and many medications can accomplish this.  Importantly, adherence to current topical glaucoma
therapies is known to be particularly poor with reported rates of non-adherence from 30% to 80%.  These low compliance
rates may be associated with disease progression and loss of vision, and may be part of the reason that glaucoma is a leading
cause of blindness in people over 60 years of age. 

Prostaglandins are the most commonly used class of medications to treat patients with glaucoma and are administered
via daily eye drops as the current standard of care.  The ability of patients to use and place daily eye drops is challenging.
Prostaglandins are the most commonly used class of medications to treat patients with glaucoma.  The products that we are
developing are designed to address the issue of compliance by delivering a prostaglandin analog formulated with our
programmed release hydrogel to lower intraocular pressure for several months with a single insert.

OTX-TP (intracanalicular travoprost insert)
 

Our product OTX-TP is an intracanalicular insert that delivers a preservative-free formulation of the drug travoprost
for the reduction of intraocular pressure, or IOP, in patients with primary open-angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension. OTX-
TP is designed to lower IOP for up to 90 days and to address the poor adherence associated with chronic, daily eye drop
regimens, the current standard of care. 

On May 20, 2019, we reported topline results of the Phase 3 randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial
that was conducted across more than 50 sites and enrolled 554 subjects with open-angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension in
the full analysis set, or FAS, population. The trial’s primary efficacy endpoint was an assessment of
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mean IOP at nine different time points, three diurnal time points (8 AM, 10 AM, and 4 PM) at each of 2, 6, and 12 weeks
following insertion. The secondary endpoints included an evaluation of whether OTX-TP demonstrated a statistically
superior mean reduction of IOP from baseline for OTX-TP treated subjects compared with placebo insert treated subjects
(Table 1) and a statistically superior mean percent change of IOP from baseline for OTX-TP treated subjects compared with
placebo insert treated subjects at the same nine time points.  Topline results show that the trial did not achieve its endpoint of
statistically significant superiority in mean reduction of IOP compared with placebo at all nine time points. OTX-TP treated
subjects did have a greater reduction in IOP from baseline relative to placebo insert at all nine time points (Table 2), and
these differences were statistically significant (p value < 0.05) for eight of the nine time points (Tables 2 and Table 3). The
reductions from baseline for OTX-TP treated subjects in this trial ranged from 3.27-5.72 millimeters of mercury (mm Hg)
across the nine time points with higher levels of intraocular pressure reduction seen at the earlier time points in this trial
(Table 3).  

 
Table 1:  Baseline Values   

Baseline OTX-TP Placebo
8:00 AM 26.63 26.92

10:00 AM 25.1 25.03
4:00 PM 24.76 24.58

 
 
 

Table 2: Mean Intraocular Pressure Values

Diurnal
Time
points

2 Weeks 6 Weeks 12 Weeks
mm Hg

LS Mean
p-value

mm Hg LS
Mean

p-value

mm Hg LS
Mean

p-value
OTX-

TP Placebo
OTX-

TP Placebo OTX-TP Placebo
8:00 AM 21.02 22.86 <.0001 21.93 22.73 0.0181 22.83 23.23 0.2521

10:00 AM 20.16 21.92 <.0001 21.05 21.85 0.0077 21.74 22.45 0.0234
4:00 PM 19.46 21.51 <.0001 20.53 21.55 0.0004 21.41 22.08 0.0310

FAS Population (OTX-TP=343 subjects, Placebo=211 subjects)  Least Squares (LS) Means
 

Table 3: Reduction in Intraocular Pressure (Change from Baseline)

Diurnal
Time
points

2 Week 6 Week 12 Week
mm Hg

p-value

mm Hg

p-value

mm Hg

p-value
OTX-

TP  Placebo
OTX-

TP Placebo OTX-TP Placebo
8:00 AM -5.72 -3.88 <.0001 -4.81 -4.01 0.0181 -3.91 -3.52 0.2521

10:00 AM -4.92 -3.16 <.0001 -4.03 -3.23 0.0077 -3.34 -2.63 0.0234
4:00 PM -5.22 -3.18 <.0001 -4.16 -3.14 0.0004 -3.27 -2.60 0.0310

FAS Population (OTX-TP=343 subjects, Placebo=211 subjects)  Least Squares (LS) Means
 

OTX-TP was generally well tolerated and no ocular serious adverse events were observed. The most common ocular
adverse events seen in the study eye were dacryocanaliculitis (approximately 7.0% in OTX-TP vs. 3.0% in placebo) and
lacrimal structure disorder (approximately 6.0% in OTX-TP vs. 4.0% in placebo).

We do not intend to initiate a second Phase 3 clinical trial until we review and discuss with the FDA the data from the
first Phase 3 clinical trial. We currently anticipate this meeting to occur in the second half of 2019.  Given the anticipated use
of OTX-TP as a chronic therapy, we intend to generate six-month (300 patients) and one-year (100 patients) safety data to
support our product registration. In order to meet these targets, we began enrollment in an open-label one-year safety
extension study in July 2018.

OTX-TIC (intracanalicular travoprost implant)
 

OTX-TIC is our product candidate for glaucoma patients in need of a more significant reduction in IOP and ocular
hypertension. OTX-TIC is a bioresorbable hydrogel implant incorporating travoprost that is designed to be administered
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by a physician as an intracameral injection with an initial target duration of drug release of four to six months. Preclinical
studies to date have demonstrated reduction of IOP and pharmacokinetics in the aqueous humor that suggest a
pharmacodynamic response of IOP reduction in humans. Our investigational new drug application, or IND, for our U.S. trial
became effective in the first quarter of 2018, and we dosed the first patient in May 2018. This clinical trial is a multi-center,
open-label, dose-escalation, proof-of-concept study designed to evaluate the safety, durability, tolerability, and efficacy of
OTX-TIC in patients with primary open-angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension. We presented initial results from the first
cohort, comprised of five patients, in this clinical trial at the Association of Research and Vision of Ophthalmology (ARVO)
meeting in April 2019 and the American Society of Cataract and Refractive Surgery annual meeting in May 2019.  This data
demonstrated that, with a single implant, subjects were able to achieve IOP lowering for up to thirteen months at a level least
as good as topical travoprost that was placed in each subject’s non-study eye. In addition, the hydrogel carrier, as designed,
biodegraded in six to seven months. There were no clinically meaningful changes in corneal health as measured by
endothelial cell evaluation and corneal pachymetry. Several subjects reported low grade inflammation and peripheral anterior
synechiae that we believe may be addressable with modifications to the implants.  We are currently collecting additional data
from the first two cohorts. We have developed two new formulations of OTX-TIC and expect to evaluate these formulations
in this clinical trial in the future.

 
Back-of-the-Eye Programs
 

We are engaged in the development of formulations of our hydrogel administered via intravitreal injection to address
the large and growing markets for diseases and conditions of the back of the eye. Our initial development efforts are focused
on the use of our extended-delivery hydrogel in combination with anti-angiogenic drugs, such as protein-based anti-VEGF
drugs, or small molecule drugs, such as TKIs, for the treatment of retinal diseases such as wet AMD, retinal vein occlusion
and diabetic macular edema. Our initial goal for these programs is to provide extended delivery over a four to nine month
period thereby reducing the frequency of the current monthly or bi-monthly immediate release intravitreal injection regimen
for wet AMD and other retinal diseases.

OTX-TKI (intravitreal tyrosine kinase inhibitor ophthalmic implant)
 
OTX-TKI is a preformed, bioresorbable hydrogel fiber incorporating a small molecule TKI with anti-angiogenic

properties delivered by intravitreal injection. TKIs have shown promise in the treatment of wet AMD. In May 2017, we
reported data from preclinical studies evaluating the efficacy, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of OTX-TKI. In this study,
OTX-TKI was well-tolerated, and high levels of drug were maintained in the tissue for up to twelve months in Dutch belted
rabbits. In the first quarter of 2019, we began dosing patients in a Phase 1 clinical trial in Australia. This clinical trial is a
multi-center, open-label study designed to evaluate the safety, durability and tolerability of OTX-TKI. We also plan to
evaluate biological activity by following visual acuity over time and measuring retinal thickness using standard optical
coherence tomography.  The independent Data Safety and Monitoring Committee met to review the safety from the first
cohort of subjects in the Phase 1 clinical trial and recommended moving to a higher dose of OTX-TKI for the next cohort of
subjects to be treated, which we expect to treat in the third quarter of 2019.

OTX-IVT (intravitreal aflibercept implant) in collaboration with Regeneron
 

In October 2016, we entered into a strategic collaboration, option and license agreement, or Collaboration Agreement,
with Regeneron for the development and potential commercialization of products using our hydrogel in combination with
Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds for the treatment of retinal diseases, with the initial focus on the
VEGF trap aflibercept, currently marketed under the brand name Eylea. Under the terms of the agreement, we granted
Regeneron an option, or the Option, to enter into an exclusive, worldwide license under our intellectual property to develop
and commercialize products using our hydrogel in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting
compounds, or Licensed Products. The Collaboration Agreement does not cover the development of any products that deliver
small molecule drugs, including TKIs, for any target including VEGF, or any products that deliver large molecule drugs other
than those that target VEGF proteins. Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, we and Regeneron have agreed to
conduct a joint research program with the aim of developing an extended-delivery formulation of aflibercept that is suitable
for advancement into clinical development.   We refer to the formulation we are developing with Regeneron as OTX-IVT.

 
Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, Regeneron is responsible for funding an initial preclinical tolerability

study.  If the Option is exercised, Regeneron will conduct further preclinical development and an initial clinical trial under a
collaboration plan. We are obligated to reimburse Regeneron for certain development costs during the period through the
completion of the initial clinical trial, subject to a cap of $25 million, which cap may be increased
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by up to $5 million under certain circumstances. We do not expect our funding requirements under the collaboration to be
material over the next twelve months. If Regeneron elects to proceed with further development beyond the initial clinical
trial, it will be solely responsible for conducting and funding further development and commercialization of product
candidates. If the Option is exercised, Regeneron is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to research, develop and
commercialize at least one Licensed Product. Such efforts shall include initiating the dosing phase of a subsequent clinical
trial within specified time periods following the completion of the first-in-human clinical trial or the initiation of preclinical
toxicology studies, subject to certain extensions.

 
Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, Regeneron has agreed to pay us $10 million upon exercise of the

Option.  We are also eligible to receive up to $145 million per Licensed Product upon the achievement of specified
development and regulatory milestones, including successful results from the first-in-human clinical trial, $100 million per
Licensed Product upon first commercial sale of such Licensed Product and up to $50 million based on the achievement of
specified sales milestones for all Licensed Products.  In addition, we are entitled to tiered, escalating royalties, in a range
from a high-single digit to a low-to-mid teen percentage of net sales of Licensed Products.

 
In December 2017, we delivered to Regeneron a proposed final formulation for the initial preclinical tolerability

study.  Regeneron initiated the preclinical study in early 2018.  We and Regeneron have subsequently reached an
understanding that the proposed formulation was not final and have ceased development of it.  We are currently in
discussions with Regeneron, in accordance with the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, regarding the development of an
alternative formulation.

 
ReSure®  Sealant
 

We commercially launched this product in the United States in 2014. ReSure Sealant is approved to seal corneal
incisions following cataract surgery. In the pivotal clinical trials that formed the basis for FDA approval, ReSure Sealant
provided superior wound closure and a better safety profile than sutured closure.

 
The FDA required two post-approval studies as a condition for approval of our premarket approval, or PMA,

application for ReSure Sealant. The first post-approval study, identified as the Clinical PAS, was to confirm that ReSure
Sealant can be used safely by physicians in a standard cataract surgery practice and to confirm the incidence of the most
prevalent adverse ocular events identified in our pivotal study in eyes treated with ReSure Sealant.  We submitted the final
study report to the FDA in June 2016 and the FDA has confirmed the Clinical PAS has been completed. The second post-
approval study, identified as the Device Exposure Registry Study, is intended to link to the Medicare database to ascertain if
patients are diagnosed or treated for endophthalmitis within 30 days following cataract surgery and application of ReSure
Sealant. The Device Exposure Registry Study is required to include at least 4,857 patients. Due to difficulties in establishing
an acceptable way to link ReSure Sealant to the Medicare database and lack of investigator interest, we have been unable to
enroll trial sites and patients, collect patient data and report study data to the FDA. We have provided regular periodic reports
to the FDA on the progress of this post-approval study.

 
We received a warning letter from the FDA in October 2018 relating to our compliance with data collection and

information reporting obligations in the Device Exposure Registry Study. The FDA warning letter refers to a lack of progress
with the enrollment and related data collection and information reporting obligations for a required post-approval trial. In
November 2018, we appealed this warning letter.  In December 2018, the FDA rejected our appeal. Failure by us to conduct
the required post-approval trial for ReSure Sealant to the FDA’s satisfaction may result in withdrawal of the FDA’s approval
of ReSure Sealant or other regulatory action. 

 
A teleconference was held with the FDA in January 2019 resulting in tentative agreement on a proposed retrospective

registry study of endophthalmitis rates to satisfy the Device Exposure Registry Study requirements.  In a letter dated June 7,
2019 from the FDA, the agency acknowledged receipt of a letter dated March 29, 2019 from us in which we proposed
conducting the proposed retrospective analysis of the IRIS Registry, comparing endophthalmitis rates from sites that
purchased ReSure versus those sites that did not purchase ReSure.  If the rates are no different, the FDA has indicated that it
will consider the post approval requirement to have been fulfilled.  If there is a statistically significant increase in
endophthalmitis rates at sites purchasing ReSure compared with those not purchasing ReSure, a prospective study will be
required.  The FDA has indicated it will consider our response to the warning letter adequate once it approves the study
protocol for the retrospective analysis of the IRIS Registry and the outline of the prospective study.  We are currently
working on completing the protocol for the retrospective study and expects to submit the protocol to the FDA during the third
quarter of 2019.  ReSure Sealant currently remains commercially available in the
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United States, though there is no sales support provided to the product at this time.  We have received only limited revenues
from ReSure Sealant to date and anticipate only limited sales for 2019.

 
Additional Potential Areas for Growth

 
We continue to leverage the potential of our hydrogel platform to explore areas for growth with our focus on

formulating, developing and commercializing innovative therapies for diseases and conditions of the eye.  We expect to file a
new investigational new drug application in an undisclosed ocular indication by the end of the year. 

We are also assessing the potential use of our hydrogel platform technology in other areas of the body and are
studying several localized delivery platforms including via wound inlays; sinus and ear inserts; and subcutaneous, peripheral,
and intra-articular injections.  In September 2018, we entered into a second amended and restated license agreement, or
Second Amended Agreement, with Incept LLC, an intellectual property holding company, or Incept. The Second Amended
Agreement expands the scope of our intellectual property license to include products delivered for the treatment of acute
post-surgical pain or for the treatment of ear, nose and/or throat diseases or conditions, subject to specified exceptions.

Financial Position
 

We have generated limited revenue to date.  All of our programmed-release drug delivery products are in various
phases of pre-commercial, clinical and preclinical development.  Our ability to generate product revenues sufficient to
achieve profitability will depend heavily on our commercialization of DEXTENZA for the treatment of ocular inflammation
and pain following ophthalmic surgery and our obtaining marketing approval for and commercializing other products with
significant market potential, including DEXTENZA for additional indications and OTX-TP.  Since inception, we have
incurred significant operating losses.  Our net loss was $24.5 million and $13.8 million and $41.6 million and $27.6 million
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  As of June 30, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit
of $338.8 million. 

 
Our total cost and operating expenses were $22.2 million and $42.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30,

2019, including $2.3 million and $4.8 million in non-cash stock-based compensation expense and depreciation expense. Our
operating expenses have grown as we prepared for the commercial launch of DEXTENZA in July 2019; continue to pursue
the clinical development of OTX-TP, OTX-TIC, and DEXTENZA for additional indications; continue the internal
development of our intravitreal hydrogel formulation for the local programmed-release of protein-based or small molecule
anti-angiogenic drugs, such as OTX-IVT and OTX-TKI for the treatment of wet AMD and other back-of-the-eye diseases;
continue the research and development of our other product candidates; and seek marketing approval for any such product
candidate for which we obtain favorable pivotal clinical trial results.  We expect to incur substantial sales and marketing
expenses in connection with the ongoing DEXTENZA commercial launch and that of any of our other product candidates.  In
addition, we will continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company, including legal costs
associated with any pending legal proceedings.

 
Although, we expect to generate revenue from sales of DEXTENZA and potentially ReSure Sealant, we will need to

obtain substantial additional funding to fully support our continuing operations and the commercialization of DEXTENZA. If
we are unable to raise capital or access our borrowing capacity when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to
delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts or to relinquish
valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on
terms that may not be favorable to us.

 
In November 2016, we entered into a controlled equity offering sales agreement, or the 2016 Sales Agreement, with

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., or Cantor, under which we could offer and sell our common stock having aggregate proceeds of up
to $40.0 million from time to time. Through March 31, 2019, we have sold an aggregate of 6,330,222 shares of common
stock under the 2016 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $38.4 million after underwriting discounts
and commissions and other offering expenses.  As of February 25, 2019, we had no amounts remaining available for future
sale under the 2016 Sales Agreement. On February 28, 2019, pursuant to the 2016 Sales Agreement, we delivered a
termination notice to Cantor, terminating the 2016 Sales Agreement. 

 
In January 2018, we completed a follow-on offering of our common stock at a public offering price of $5.00 per share.

The offering consisted of 7,475,000 shares of common stock sold by us, including those shares sold in connection
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with the exercise by the underwriter of its option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds from the follow-on
offering of approximately $34.7 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses.

 
On March 1, 2019, we issued $37.5 million of unsecured senior subordinated convertible notes, or the 2026

Convertible Notes. The 2026 Convertible Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 6% of its outstanding principal amount,
payable at maturity, on March 1, 2026, unless earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed. The holders of the 2026
Convertible Notes may convert all or part of the outstanding principal amount of their 2026 Convertible Notes into shares of
our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, prior to maturity and provided that no conversion results in a holder
beneficially owning more than 19.99% of our issued and outstanding common stock. The conversion rate is initially
153.8462 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price is $6.50 per share.  The conversion rate is subject to adjustment in customary circumstances such as
stock splits or similar changes to our capitalization.

 
On April 5, 2019, we entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement ,  or the 2019 Sales Agreement,  with

Jefferies LLC, or Jefferies, under which we may offer and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering
price of up to $50.0 million from time to time through Jefferies, acting as agent.  In the second quarter of 2019,  we sold
1,180,367 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately
$5.1 million after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses.  From July 1, 2019 to August 5, 2019, we have
sold an additional 3,084,879 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net
proceeds of approximately $14.8 million after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses. From inception to
August 5, 2019, we have sold 4,265,246 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in
net proceeds of approximately $19.9 million after underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses.

On August 2, 2019, we entered into the Second Amendment of our Third Amended and Restated Credit and Security
Agreement, between us and our senior note lenders MidCap Financial and Silicon Valley Bank, whereby the lenders agreed
to remove the restrictions on the $5.0 million of restricted cash required under the Third Amended and Restated Credit and
Security Agreement as of June 30, 2019.

Based on our current plans and forecasted expenses, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, as of June
30, 2019, along with $14.8 million raised under our 2019 Sales Agreement in the third quarter as of August 5, 2019, and the
$5.0 million of restricted cash of June 30, 2019, whose restrictions were removed by the lenders in August  2019, as
discussed in Note 15 of the notes to the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,  and
anticipated cash inflows from DEXTENZA product sales, will enable it to fund its operating expenses, debt service
obligations and capital expenditure requirements into the third quarter of calendar year 2020.  This is of course subject to a
number of assumptions related to the revenues and expenses associated with the commercialization of DEXTENZA as well
as the pace of our research and clinical development programs, and other aspects of our business.    We have based this
estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we currently
expect.  We will need to raise additional capital to support our   ongoing operations.  See “—Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”

 
Financial Operations Overview

 
Revenue
 
From our inception through June 30, 2019, we have generated limited amounts of revenue from the sales of our

products.  We began to recognize limited product revenue from DEXTENZA during the second quarter of 2019 with the first
commercial shipments to customers in June 2019.  Our ReSure Sealant product received premarket approval from the FDA in
2014.  We commenced sales of ReSure Sealant in the first quarter of 2014, have received only limited revenues from ReSure
Sealant to date and anticipate only limited sales for 2019. Until June 2019, ReSure Sealant was our only source of revenue
from product sales. We may generate revenue in the future if we successfully commercialize DEXTENZA and develop and
commercialize one or more of our product candidates and receive marketing approval for any such product candidate or if we
enter into longer-term collaboration agreements with third parties.
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Operating Expenses
 
Cost of Product Revenue
 
Cost of product revenue consists primarily of costs of DEXTENZA product revenue, which include:
 

· Direct materials costs;
 

· Direct labor, which includes employee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits and payroll
taxes, travel and stock-based compensation expense for employees engaged in the production process; 

 
· Manufacturing overhead costs, which includes rent, depreciation, and indirect labor costs associated with

the production process;
 

· Transportation costs; and
 

· Cost of scrap material.
 
 

Research and Development Expenses
 
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for the development of our product candidates,

which include:
 

· employee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits and payroll taxes, travel and stock-based
compensation expense for employees engaged in research and development, clinical and regulatory and
other related functions;

 
· expenses incurred in connection with the clinical trials of our product candidates, including with the

investigative sites that conduct our clinical trials and under agreements with contract research
organizations, or CROs;

 
· expenses relating to regulatory activities, including filing fees paid to the FDA for our submissions for

product approvals;
 
· expenses associated with developing our pre-commercial manufacturing capabilities and manufacturing

clinical trial materials;
 
· ongoing research and development activities relating to our core bioresorbable hydrogel technology and

improvements to this technology;
 
· facilities, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and

maintenance of facilities, insurance and supplies;
 
· costs relating to the supply and manufacturing of product inventory, prior to approval by the FDA or other

regulatory agencies of our products; and
 
· expenses associated with preclinical development activities. 
 

We expense research and development costs as incurred.  We recognize external development costs based on an
evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by our vendors and our clinical
investigative sites. 

 
Our direct research and development expenses are tracked on a program-by-program basis and consist primarily of

external costs, such as fees paid to investigators, consultants, central laboratories and CROs in connection with our clinical
trials and regulatory fees.  We do not allocate employee and contractor-related costs, costs associated with our platform
technology, costs related to manufacturing or purchasing clinical trial materials, and facility expenses,
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including depreciation or other indirect costs, to specific product development programs because these costs are deployed
across multiple product development programs and, as such, are not separately classified.  We use internal resources in
combination with third-party CROs, including clinical monitors and clinical research associates, to manage our clinical trials,
monitor patient enrollment and perform data analysis for many of our clinical trials.  These employees work across multiple
development programs and, therefore, we do not track their costs by program. 

 
The table below summarizes our research and development expenses incurred by product development program:

 
              

  Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended  
  June 30,  June 30,  
     2019     2018     2019     2018  
              
ReSure Sealant  $ 24  $ 23  $ 73  $ 38  
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain   366   261   515   367  
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis   115    6   115   20  
OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension   323   1,427   1,158   2,736  
OTX-TIC for glaucoma and ocular hypertension   210    —   299    —  
OTX-TKI for Wet AMD   178    —   178    —  
Preclinical programs   231    —   1,129    —  
Unallocated expenses   7,967   7,028   17,264   13,811  

Total research and development expenses  $ 9,414  $ 8,745  $ 20,731  $ 16,972  
 

We expect that our expenses will increase in connection with our ongoing activities including costs related to clinical
trials and other research and development activities for DEXTENZA, OTX-TP, OTX-TIC, OTX-TKI and other product
candidates and other research and development activities. 

 
The successful development and commercialization of our products or product candidates is highly uncertain.  This is

due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development and commercialization, including the
uncertainty of:

 
· the scope, progress, outcome and costs of our clinical trials and other research and development activities;
 
· the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals;
 
· the efficacy and potential advantages of our products or product candidates compared to alternative

treatments, including any standard of care;
 
· the market acceptance of our products or product candidates; and
 
· significant and changing government regulation.

 
Any changes in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our product candidates in pre-

commercial, clinical and preclinical development could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the
development of these product candidates.  For example, if the FDA or another regulatory authority were to require us to
conduct clinical trials or other testing beyond those that we currently expect or if we experience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on
the completion of clinical development of that product candidate. 

 
Selling and Marketing Expenses
 
Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for personnel in selling and marketing

functions as well as consulting and advertising and promotion costs.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019
and 2018, we incurred selling and marketing expenses in connection with ReSure Sealant, which we began commercializing
in 2014, and marketing expenses in preparation for the commercial launch of DEXTENZA in July 2019. As we have now
commercially launched DEXTENZA, our selling and marketing expenses will continue to increase. 
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General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs, including stock-based

compensation, for personnel in executive, finance, information technology, human resources and administrative
functions.  General and administrative expenses also include facility-related costs and professional fees for legal, patent,
consulting and accounting and audit services. 

 
We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to

support our continued development and commercialization of our product candidates.  We also anticipate that we will
continue to incur increased accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance, director and officer insurance costs as well as
investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public company. 

 
Other Income (Expense)
 
Interest Income.  In 2018, interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents.  In

the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, our interest income has not been significant due to the low rates of
interest being earned on our invested balances. 

 
Interest Expense.  Interest expense is incurred on our debt.  We borrowed $15.0 million in aggregate principal amount

in April 2014. In December 2015, we amended our credit and security agreement, or the Credit Agreement, in connection
with our credit facility, or our Credit Facility, to increase the aggregate principal amount to $15.6 million, extend the interest-
only payment period through December 2016, and extend the maturity date to December 1, 2019. In March 2017, we
amended the Credit Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount under the Credit Facility to $18.0 million, extend
the interest-only payment period through February 2018, and extend the maturity date to December 1, 2020. In December
2018, we amended the Credit Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount under the Credit Facility to $25.0
million, extend the interest-only payment period through December 2020, and extend the maturity date to December
2023.  In March 2019, we issued $37.5 million of unsecured senior subordinated convertible notes, or the 2026 Convertible
Notes. The 2026 Convertible Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 6% of its outstanding principal amount, payable at
maturity, on March 1, 2026, unless earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed.

 
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability. In 2019, in connection with the issuance of our 2026 Convertible Notes,

we identified an embedded derivative liability, which we are required to measure at fair value at inception and then at the end
of each reporting until the embedded derivative is settled.  The changes in fair value are recorded through the statement of
operations and comprehensive loss and are presented under the caption change in fair value of derivative liability.

 
 

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.  The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our consolidated financial statements.  On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, accrued research and development expenses and
stock-based compensation.  We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events and various other
factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, there
were no material changes to our critical accounting policies.  Our critical accounting policies are described under the heading
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies
and Significant Judgments and Estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, on March 7, 2019 and the notes to the financial
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statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.  We believe that of our critical accounting policies,
the following accounting policies involve the most judgment and complexity:

 
· revenue recognition;
 
· accrued research and development expenses;

 
· stock-based compensation; and

 
· derivative liability.
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2019, in connection with issuance of our 2026 Convertible Notes, we
identified an embedded derivative liability, which we are required to measure at fair value at inception and then at the end of
each reporting until the embedded derivative is settled.  

 
Given the judgment and complexity involved in determining the fair value of this liability, we concluded that this

derivative liability is a critical accounting policy. The fair value of the 2026 Convertible Notes with and without the
conversion option is estimated using a binomial lattice approach. The key inputs to valuing the 2026 Convertible Notes with
the conversion option include our stock price on the valuation date, the expected annual volatility of our common stock and
the discount yield, which was derived by making the fair value of the 2026 Convertible Notes equal to the face value on the
issuance date. Fair value measurements are highly sensitive to changes in these inputs and significant changes in these inputs
would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value. 

 
Accordingly, we believe the policies set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 7, 2019

are critical to fully understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations.  If actual results or events
differ materially from the estimates, judgments and assumptions used by us in applying these policies, our reported financial
condition and results of operations could be materially affected. 
 
Results of Operations
 

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
 
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

 
          

  Three Months Ended    
  June 30,  Increase
     2019     2018     (Decrease)
  (in thousands)
Revenue:             

Product revenue, net  $ 650  $ 648  $  2
Total revenue, net   650   648    2

Costs and operating expenses:             
Cost of product revenue   552   153   399
Research and development   9,414   8,745   669
Selling and marketing   7,225   867   6,358
General and administrative   5,058   4,447   611

Total costs and operating expenses   22,249   14,212   8,037
Loss from operations   (21,599)  (13,564)  (8,035)
Other income (expense):             

Interest income   379   215   164
Interest expense   (1,627)  (455)  (1,172)
Change in fair value of derivative liability   (1,606)   —   (1,606)

Total other income (expense), net   (2,854)  (240)  (2,614)
Net loss  $ (24,453) $ (13,804) $ (10,649)

 

39



Table of Contents

Revenue
 
We generated $0.6 million of revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2019 from sales of our DEXTENZA and

ReSure Sealant product.  We generated $0.6 million of revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2018, from sales of
our ReSure Sealant product.  We began to recognize product revenue from DEXTENZA during the second quarter of 2019
with the first commercial shipments to customers in June 2019.  In 2018, we only had product revenue from ReSure Sealant. 

 
Research and Development Expenses

 
          

  Three Months Ended    
  June 30,  Increase
     2019     2018     (Decrease)
   (in thousands)
Direct research and development expenses by program:             

ReSure Sealant  $ 24  $ 23  $  1
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain   366   261   105
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis   115    6   109
OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension   323   1,427   (1,104)
OTX-TIC for glaucoma and ocular hypertension   210    —   210
OTX-TKI for Wet AMD   178    —   178
Preclinical programs   231    —   231

Unallocated expenses:            
Personnel costs   4,795   4,262   533
All other costs   3,172   2,766   406

Total research and development expenses.  $ 9,414  $ 8,745  $ 669
 
Research and development expenses were $9.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $8.7

million for the three months ended June 30, 2018.  Research and development costs increased by $0.7 million primarily due
to an increase of $0.5 million in unallocated personnel costs, $0.4 million in unallocated all other costs, and a net decrease of
$0.3 million in costs incurred in connection with our DEXTENZA program, our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment
of glaucoma and ocular hypertension, our OTX-TIC program for glaucoma and ocular hypertension, OTX-TKI for Wet AMD
and our other preclinical programs.    

 
For the three months ended June 30, 2019, we incurred $1.2 million in direct research and development expenses for

our programmed-release drug delivery product candidates, including $0.4 million for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-
surgical inflammation and $0.3 million for OTX-TP. For the three months ended June 30, 2018, we incurred $1.7 million in
direct research and development expenses for our intracanalicular insert product candidates, including $0.3 million for
DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain which was in Phase 3 clinical trials, and $1.4
million for OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which was in a Phase 3 clinical trial.  Unallocated
research and development expense increased $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to the three
months ended June 30, 2018, due primarily to an increase in personnel costs of $0.5 million due to additional hiring primarily
in our clinical, regulatory and quality departments and  $0.4 million in all  other costs.    

 
Selling and Marketing Expenses

 
          

  Three Months Ended    
  June 30,  Increase
     2019     2018     (Decrease)
  (in thousands)
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)  $ 3,398  $ 407  $ 2,991
Professional fees   3,185   280   2,905
Facility related and other   642   180   462

Total selling and marketing expenses  $ 7,225  $ 867  $ 6,358
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Selling and marketing expenses were $7.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $0.9 million
for the three months ended June 30, 2018.  The increase of $6.4 million was primarily due to increases of $3.0 million in
personnel costs, $2.9 million in professional fees including consulting, trade shows and conferences and $0.5 million in
facility related and other costs. 

 
We expect our selling and marketing expenses to continue to increase in 2019 and beyond, due to the approval of

DEXTENZA as we support the commercial launch. 
 
General and Administrative Expenses

 
          

  Three Months Ended    
  June 30,  Increase
     2019     2018     (Decrease)
  (in thousands)
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)  $ 2,313  $ 2,011  $ 302
Professional fees   2,174   2,027   147
Facility related and other   571   409   162

Total general and administrative expenses  $ 5,058  $ 4,447  $ 611
 
General and administrative expenses were $5.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $4.4

million for the three months ended June 30, 2018.  The increase of $0.6 million was primarily due to an increase of $0.3
million in personnel costs and $0.2 million in facility related costs. 

 
Other Income (Expense), Net
 
Other expense, net was $2.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $0.3 million for the three

months ended June 30, 2018.  The change of $2.6 million, was due to the change in fair value of the derivative liability
associated with the 2026 Convertible Notes of $1.6 million offset by higher interest expense of $1.2 million associated with
the Credit Facility and the 2026 Convertible Notes.    

 
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability
 
In 2019, in connection with the issuance of our 2026 Convertible Notes, we identified an embedded derivative liability,

which we are required to measure at fair value at inception and then at the end of each reporting period until the embedded
derivative is settled.  The change in fair value of the derivative liability was a loss in the amount of $1.6 million during the
three months ended June 30, 2019 due changes in the underlying assumptions of the derivative liability, primarily related to a
decline in our common stock price.   We expect the change in fair value of the derivative liability will continue to fluctuate
until it is settled based on the extent changes occur in the underlying assumptions.  There was no change in fair value of
derivative liability during the three months ended June 30, 2018 as there was no were no embedded derivatives during that
period.
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Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
 
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:
 

           

  Six Months Ended     
  June 30,  Increase  
     2019     2018     (Decrease)  
  (in thousands)  
Revenue:              

Product revenue, net  $ 1,142  $ 988  $ 154  
Total revenue, net   1,142   988   154  

Costs and operating expenses:              
Cost of product revenue   680   233   447  
Research and development   20,731   16,972   3,759  
Selling and marketing   10,572   1,584   8,988  
General and administrative   10,416   9,218   1,198  

Total costs and operating expenses   42,399   28,007   14,392  
Loss from operations   (41,257)  (27,019)  (14,238) 
Other income (expense):              

Interest income   708   391   317  
Interest expense   (2,645)  (941)  (1,704) 
Change in fair value of derivative liability   1,617    —   1,617  

Total other expense, net   (320)  (550)  230  
Net loss  $ (41,577) $ (27,569) $ (14,008) 

 
Revenue
 
We generated $1.1 million of revenue during the six months ended June 30, 2019 from sales of our DEXTENZA and

ReSure Sealant products compared to $1.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. We began to recognize product
revenue from DEXTENZA during the second quarter of 2019 with the first commercial shipments to customers in June
2019.  In 2018, we only had product revenue from ReSure Sealant.

 
Research and Development Expenses
 

           

  Six Months Ended     
  June 30,  Increase  
     2019     2018     (Decrease) 
   (in thousands)  
Direct research and development expenses by program:              

ReSure Sealant  $ 73  $ 38  $ 35  
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain  515   367   148  
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis   115   20   95  
OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension   1,158   2,736   (1,578) 
OTX-TIC for glaucoma and ocular hypertension   299    —   299  
OTX-TKI for Wet AMD   178    —   178  
Preclinical activities   1,129    —   1,129  

Unallocated expenses:              
Personnel costs   10,086   8,276   1,810  
All other costs   7,178   5,535   1,643  

Total research and development expenses  $20,731  $16,972  $ 3,759  
 
Research and development expenses were $20.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to

$17.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Research and development costs increased by $3.8 million primarily
as a result of an increase of $1.8 million in unallocated personnel costs and $1.6 million in all other costs, partially offset by
an increase of $0.3 million in costs incurred in connection with the clinical trials of our DEXTENZA product candidate for
the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, our DEXTENZA product candidate
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for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis, our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of dry eye and our OTX-TP
product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension, and other preclinical activities.

 
For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we incurred $2.3 million in direct research and development expenses for our

sustained release drug delivery product candidates for the front of the eye, including $0.5 million for our DEXTENZA
product candidate for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain and $1.2 million for our OTX-TP product
candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which was in Phase 3 clinical trials. For the six months
ended June 30, 2018, we incurred $3.1 million in direct research and development expenses for our sustained release drug
delivery product candidates for the front of the eye, including $0.4 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the
treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain which was in Phase 3 clinical trials and $2.7 million for our OTX-TP
product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which was in Phase 3 clinical trials.  Unallocated
research and development expense increased $3.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to the six
months ended June 30, 2018, due primarily to an increase in personnel costs of $1.8 million due to additional hiring primarily
in our clinical, regulatory and quality departments,. 
 

 
Selling and Marketing Expenses
 

           

  Six Months Ended     
  June 30,  Increase  
     2019     2018     (Decrease)  
  (in thousands)  
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)  $ 4,935  $ 791  $ 4,144  
Professional fees   4,560   428   4,132  
Facility related and other   1,077   365   712  

Total selling and marketing expenses  $10,572  $ 1,584  $ 8,988  
 
Selling and marketing expenses were $10.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $1.6 million

for the six months ended June 30, 2018. The increase of $9.0 million was primarily due to an increase of $4.2 million in
personnel costs, an increase of $4.1 million in professional fees including consulting, trade shows and conferences and an
increase of $0.7 million in facility-related and other costs.  

 
General and Administrative Expenses
 

           

  Six Months Ended     
  June 30,  Increase  
     2019     2018     (Decrease)  
  (in thousands)  
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)  $ 4,684  $ 4,072  $ 612  
Professional fees   4,587   4,345   242  
Facility related and other   1,145   801   344  

Total general and administrative expenses  $10,416  $ 9,218  $ 1,198  
 
General and administrative expenses were $10.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to

$9.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. The increase of $1.2 million was primarily due to an increase of $0.6
million in personnel costs and additional stock-based compensation expense and an increase of $0.2 million in professional
fees and an increase of $0.3 million in facility-related and other costs. 

 
Other Income (Expense), Net
 
Other expense, net was $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $0.6 million for the six

months ended June 30, 2018. The change of $0.2 million, was due to the change in fair value of the derivative liability
associated with the 2026 Convertible Notes of $1.6 million offset by higher interest expense of $1.7 million associated with
the Credit Facility and the 2026 Convertible Notes.    

 
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability
 
The change in fair value of the derivative liability was a loss in the amount of $1.6 million during the six months ended

June 30, 2019 due changes in the underlying assumptions of the derivative liability, primarily related to a decline
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in our common stock price.   We expect the change in fair value of the derivative liability will continue to fluctuate until it is
settled based on the extent changes occur in the underlying assumptions.  There was no change in fair value of derivative
liability during the six months ended June 30, 2018 as there was no were no embedded derivatives during that period.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses.  Our net losses were $41.6 million and $27.6 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $60.0 million and $63.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  As of June 30, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $338.8 million. 

 
We have generated limited revenue to date.  In 2014, we began recognizing revenue from sales of ReSure Sealant. We

commercially launched DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain in July 2019.  All of our other sustained
drug delivery products are in various phases of pre-commercial, clinical and preclinical development.  Our ability to generate
product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on our commercialization of DEXTENZA for the
treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery and our obtaining marketing approval for and
commercializing other products with significant market potential, including DEXTENZA for additional indications and
OTX-TP.   

 
Through June 30, 2019, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred stock,

public offerings of our common stock, private placements of our convertible notes and borrowings under credit facilities.  In
January 2018, we completed a follow-on offering of our common stock at a public offering price of $5.00 per share. The
offering consisted of 7,475,000 shares of common stock sold by us, including those shares sold in connection with the
exercise by the underwriter of its option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds from the follow-on offering
of approximately $34.7 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. 

 
In November 2016, we entered into the 2016 Sales Agreement with Cantor, under which we could offer and sell our

common stock having aggregate proceeds of up to $40.0 million from time to time.  Through February 25, 2019, we have
sold an aggregate of 6,330,222 shares of common stock under the 2016 Sales Agreement resulting in net proceeds of
approximately $38.4 million after underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.   On February 28,
2019, pursuant to the 2016 Sales Agreement, we delivered a termination notice to Cantor, terminating the 2016 Sales
Agreement.   

 
In December 2018, we amended our Credit Agreement to increase the total indebtedness to $25.0 million. The interest-

only payment period was extended through December 2020.
 
On March 2019, we issued $37.5 million of unsecured senior subordinated convertible notes, or the 2026 Convertible

Notes. The 2026 Convertible Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 6% of its outstanding principal amount, payable at
maturity, on March 1, 2026, unless earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed. The holders of the 2026 Convertible Notes
may convert all or part of the outstanding principal amount of their 2026 Convertible Notes into shares of our common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, prior to maturity and provided that no conversion results in a holder beneficially owning more
than 19.99% of our issued and outstanding common stock. The conversion rate is initially 153.8462 shares of our common
stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price is $6.50
per share.  The conversion rate is subject to adjustment in customary circumstances such as stock splits or similar changes to
our capitalization.

 
On April 5, 2019, we entered into the 2019 Sales Agreement with Jefferies, under which we may offer and sell shares

of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million from time to time through Jefferies, acting as
agent.  In the second quarter of 2019,  we sold 1,180,367 shares of common stock at-the-market under the 2019 Sales
Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $5.1 million after underwriting discounts and commissions and
expenses.  From July 1, 2019 to August 5, 2019, we have sold an additional 3,084,879 shares of common stock at-the-market
under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $14.8 million after underwriting discounts and
commissions and expenses. From inception through August 5, 2019, we have sold 4,265,246 shares of common stock at-the-
market under the 2019 Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $19.9 million after underwriting
discounts and commissions and expenses.

44



Table of Contents

 
We may receive $10.0 million under our collaboration arrangement with Regeneron in the event Regeneron exercises

its option to enter into an exclusive, worldwide license to develop and commercialize products containing our extended-
delivery hydrogel formulation with us in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting
compounds.  However, if the option is exercised, Regeneron will conduct further preclinical development and an initial
clinical trial under a collaboration plan and we are obligated to reimburse Regeneron for certain development costs incurred
by Regeneron under the collaboration plan during the period through the completion of the initial clinical trial, subject to a
cap of $25 million which cap may be increased by up to $5 million under certain circumstances. 

 
As of June 30, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $61.8 million; outstanding debt of $24.9 million, net of

unamortized discount; and convertible notes, of $37.5 million of aggregate principal amount of senior subordinated
convertible notes.  Cash in excess of immediate requirements is invested in accordance with our investment policy, primarily
with a view to liquidity and capital preservation.  Based on our current plans and forecasted expenses, we believe that our
existing cash and cash equivalents, as of June 30, 2019, along with $14.8 million raised under our 2019 Sales Agreement in
the third quarter as of August 5, 2019, the $5.0 million of restricted cash of June 30, 2019, whose restrictions were removed
by our Company’s lenders in August 2019 as discussed in Note 15 of the notes to the financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,  and anticipated cash inflows from DEXTENZA product sales, will enable
us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital expenditure requirements into the third quarter of
calendar year.  Such projection is   subject to a number of assumptions related to the revenues and expenses associated with
the commercialization of DEXTENZA as well as the pace of our research and clinical development programs and other
aspects of our business. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our
capital resources sooner than we currently expect.  These factors, and the factors described above, continue to raise
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

 
Cash Flows
 
The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:

 
       

  Six Months Ended
  June 30, 
     2019     2018
       
Cash used in operating activities  $ (38,567) $ (24,706)
Cash used in investing activities   (1,218)  (937)
Cash provided by financing activities   47,638   40,939

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 7,853  $ 15,296
 

Operating activities.  Net cash used in operating activities was $38.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019,
primarily resulting from our net loss of $41.6 million and changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $1.9  million.  Our
net loss was primarily attributed to research and development activities, selling and marketing expenses, and our general and
administrative expenses.  Our net non-cash charges during the six months ended June 30, 2019 consisted primarily of $6.6
million of stock-based compensation expense,  depreciation expense and other non-cash expenses offset by the change in fair
value of the derivative liability of $1.6 million.  Net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities during the six
months ended June 30, 2019 consisted primarily of increases in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.6
million.  The changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses were due to the timing of vendor invoicing and payments.    

 
Net cash used in operating activities was $24.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018, primarily resulting

from our net loss of $27.6 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of $5.0 million.  Our net loss was primarily attributed
to research and development activities, selling and marketing expenses, and our general and administrative expenses.  Our
net non-cash charges during the six months ended June 30, 2018 consisted primarily of $4.8 million of stock-based
compensation expense and depreciation expense.  Net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities during the
six months ended June 30, 2018 consisted primarily of a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.3 million
partially offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.2 million.  The changes in accounts payable
and accrued expenses were due to the timing of vendor invoicing and payments. 

 
Investing activities.  Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 totaled $1.2

million and $0.9 million, respectively.  For the six months ended June 30, 2019, net cash used in investing activities
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is due to the purchases of property and equipment, primarily laboratory equipment was $1.2 million.  For the six months
ended June 30, 2018, net cash used in investing activities is due to the purchases of property and equipment, primarily
laboratory equipment was $0.9 million.

 
Financing activities.  Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2019 was $47.6

million and for the six months ended June 30, 2018 was $40.9 million.  Net cash provided by financing activities for the six
months ended June 30, 2019 consisted primarily of proceeds from the 2026 Convertible Notes of $37.3 million and the 2016
Sales Agreement of $5.0 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses and 2019 Sales
Agreement of $5.0 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.  Net cash provided
by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2018 consisted primarily of proceeds from our follow-on offering in
January 2018 and the 2016 Sales Agreement of $43.1 million, net of underwriting discounts and other offering expenses, and
$0.3 million from the exercise of common stock options offset by $2.6 million for principal payments under our Credit
Facility. 

 
Funding Requirements
 
We expect to continue to incur losses in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance the clinical

trials of our products in development and increase our sales and marketing resources focused on the potential launch of our
product candidates, subject to receiving FDA approval. 
 

We anticipate we will incur substantial expenses if and as we:
 

· continue to commercialize DEXTENZA in the United States;
 

· continue to develop and expand our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for DEXTENZA and
any of our product candidates;

 
· continue to pursue the clinical development of our most advanced intracanalicular insert product

candidates, OTX-TP and DEXTENZA for additional indications;
 

· continue clinical trials of our product candidates OTX-TIC and OTX-TKI;
 

· conduct joint research and development under our strategic collaboration with Regeneron,  for the
development and potential commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel
formulation in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule, VEGF-targeting compounds to treat retinal
diseases; 
 

· continue the research and development of our other product candidates;
 

· seek to identify and develop additional product candidates, including through additional preclinical
development activities associated with our back-of-the-eye program and glaucoma intracameral implant
program and potential opportunities outside the field of ophthalmology;  
 

· seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical
development;
 

· scale up our manufacturing processes and capabilities to support sales of commercial products, our
ongoing clinical trials of our product candidates and commercialization of any of our product candidates
for which we obtain marketing approval, and expand our facilities to accommodate this scale up and the
expected growth in personnel;
 

· renovate our new facility including research and development laboratories, manufacturing space and
office space;
 

· maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
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· expand our operational, financial and management systems and personnel, including personnel to support
our clinical development, manufacturing and commercialization efforts and our operations as a public
company;

· defend ourselves against legal proceedings;
 

· increase our product liability and clinical trial insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials and
commercialization efforts; and
 

· continue to operate as a public company. 
 
Based on our current plans and forecasted expenses, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, along with

$14.8 million raised under our 2019 Sales Agreement in the third quarter as of August 5, 2019 and the $5.0 million of
restricted cash of June 30, 2019, whose restrictions were removed by the lenders in August 2019, as discussed in Note 15 of
the notes to the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,  and anticipated cash
inflows from DEXTENZA product sales, will enable us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital
expenditure requirements into the third quarter of calendar year 2020.  Such projection is subject to a number of assumptions
related to the revenues and expenses associated with the commercialization of DEXTENZA as well as the pace of our
research and clinical development programs and other aspects of our business. We have based this estimate on assumptions
that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we currently expect. 

 
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
 

· our ability to successfully commercialize and sell DEXTENZA in the United States;
 

· the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates by the FDA, the EMA or
other regulatory authorities;
 

· the level of product sales from DEXTENZA and any additional products for which we obtain marketing
approval in the future;

 
· the costs of manufacturing, sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization efforts with respect

to DEXTENZA and any additional products for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;
 
· the costs of expanding our facilities to accommodate our manufacturing needs and expected growth in

personnel;
 
· the progress, costs and outcome of the clinical trials of our extended-delivery drug delivery product

candidates, in particular OTX-TP and DEXTENZA for additional indications;
 
· the progress and status of our collaboration with Regeneron, including any development costs for which we

reimburse Regeneron, the potential exercise by Regeneron of its option for a license for the development
and potential commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel formulation in
combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds, and our potential receipt of
future milestone payments from Regeneron;

 
· the scope, progress, costs and outcome of preclinical development and clinical trials of our other product

candidates;
 

· the extent of our debt service obligations;
 
· the amounts we are entitled to receive, if any, from Regeneron for potential option exercise, development,

regulatory and sales milestones and royalty payments;
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· the extent to which we choose to establish additional collaboration, distribution or other marketing
arrangements for our products and product candidates;

 
· the costs and outcomes of legal actions and proceedings, including the current lawsuits described under

“Item 1 — Legal Proceedings”;
 
· the costs and timing of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our

intellectual property rights and defending any intellectual property-related claims; and
 
· the extent to which we acquire or invest in other businesses, products and technologies. 
 

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance
our cash needs through equity offerings, debt financings, government or other third-party funding, collaborations, strategic
alliances, licensing arrangements, royalty agreements, and marketing and distribution arrangements.  We do not have any
committed external source of funds, although our collaboration agreement with Regeneron provides for the potential receipt
of option exercise, development, regulatory and sales milestones and royalties payments.  To the extent that we raise
additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, each security holder’s ownership interest will be
diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect each security
holder’s rights as a common stockholder.  Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve
agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt,
making capital expenditures or declaring dividends.  The covenants under our existing Credit Agreement, the pledge of our
assets as collateral and the negative pledge of intellectual property limit our ability to obtain additional debt financing.  If we
raise additional funds through government or other third-party funding, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing
arrangements, royalty agreements, or marketing and distribution arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to
our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us.  If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be
required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to
develop and market products or product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. 

 
As discussed in Note 1 of the  notes to the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form

10-Q, we have the responsibility to evaluate whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt about our ability to meet our
future financial obligations as they become due within one year after the date the financial statements are issued.
 This evaluation initially cannot take into consideration the potential mitigating effects of plans that have not been fully
implemented as of the date the financial statements are issued.  Since we currently anticipate that our existing capital
resources, along with $14.8 million raised under our 2019 Sales Agreement in the third quarter as of August 5, 2019, the $5.0
million of restricted cash of June 30, 2019, whose restrictions were removed by the lenders in August 2019, as discussed in
Note 15 of the notes to the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,  and anticipated
cash inflows from DEXTENZA product sales, will enable us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and
capital expenditure requirements into the third quarter of calendar year 2020, we have concluded that there is substantial
doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year of the issuance date of these unaudited consolidated
financial statements. While we have plans in place to mitigate this risk, which primarily consist of raising additional capital
through a combination of equity or debt financings, and, depending on the availability and level of additional financings,
potentially new collaborations and reducing cash expenditures, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in these
mitigation efforts.

 
Since our inception in 2006, we have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for the net losses we

have incurred in each year or our earned research and development tax credits, due to our uncertainty of realizing a benefit
from those items.  As of December 31, 2018, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $190.6 million, which begin
to expire in 2026, and state net operating loss carryforwards of $161.8 million, which begin to expire in 2026.  As of
December 31, 2018, we also had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $7.0 million and state research
and development tax credit carryforwards $3.6 million, which begin to expire in 2026 and 2025, respectively.  We have not
completed a study to assess whether an ownership change, generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in the
equity ownership of our corporate entity over a three-year period, has occurred or whether there have been multiple
ownership changes since our inception, due to the significant costs and complexities associated with such
studies.  Accordingly, our ability to utilize our tax carryforwards may be limited.  Additionally, U.S. tax laws
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limit the time during which these carryforwards may be utilized against future taxes.  As a result, we may not be able to take
full advantage of these carryforwards for federal and state tax purposes. 

 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at June 30, 2019 and the effects such obligations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

 
                

     Less Than  1 to 3  3 to 5  More than
     Total     1 Year     Years     Years     5 Years
  (in thousands)
Operating lease commitments  $ 16,396  $ 2,408  $ 4,969  $ 4,499  $ 4,520
Purchase commitments   4,065   2,109   1,842   114    —
Debt obligations including interest   33,411   2,487   16,469   14,455    —
2026 Convertible Notes   53,469    —    —    —   53,469
Total  $107,341  $ 7,004  $23,280  $19,068  $57,989

 
In the table above, we set forth our enforceable and legally binding obligations and future commitments at June 30,

2019, as well as obligations related to contracts that we are likely to continue, regardless of the fact that they may be
cancelable at June 30, 2019. Some of the figures that we include in this table are based on management’s estimates and
assumptions about these obligations, including their duration, and other factors. Because these estimates and assumptions are
necessarily subjective, the obligations we will actually pay in future periods may vary from those reflected in the table.

 
Operating lease commitments represent payments due under our leases of office, laboratory and manufacturing space

in Bedford, Massachusetts and certain office equipment under operating leases that expire in July 2023, March 2024 and July
2027. 

 
In June 2016, we entered into a lease agreement for approximately 70,712 square feet of general office, research and

development and manufacturing space.  The lease term commenced on February 1, 2017 and expires on July 31, 2027.  No
base rent was due under the lease until August 1, 2017.  The initial annual base rent is approximately $1.2 million and will
increase annually beginning on February 1 of each year.  We are obligated to pay all real estate taxes and costs related to the
premises, including costs of operations, maintenance, repair, and replacement and management of the new leased
premises.  We posted a customary letter of credit in the amount of $1.5 million as a security deposit.  We relocated our
corporate headquarters to the new leased premises in June 2017 and are evaluating the potential relocation of our
manufacturing operations to the new leased premises.  The lease agreement allowed for a construction allowance not to
exceed approximately $2.8 million to be applied to the total construction costs of the new leased premises. 

 
On October 10, 2017, we entered into an amendment to the lease agreement for our laboratory and manufacturing

space located at 34 Crosby Drive and 36 Crosby Drive, each in Bedford, Massachusetts, which we refer to as the Second
Amendment.  The Second Amendment extends the term of our lease for 36 Crosby Drive from June 30, 2018 to July 31,
2023.  Further, the Second Amendment acknowledges that we have previously vacated and surrendered, and the lease has
expired with regards to 34 Crosby Drive, reducing the total laboratory and manufacturing space subject to the lease to 20,445
square feet.  Accordingly, the Second Amendment reduces the required security deposit under the lease from $0.2 million to
$0.1 million.  Under the Second Amendment, the annual base rent for 36 Crosby Drive shall be approximately $0.5 million
until June 30, 2018, shall be $0 from July 1, 2018 to July 31, 2018, and shall be approximately $0.5 million from August 1,
2018 to July 31, 2019.  The annual base rent shall increase annually thereafter.  The Second Amendment also provides us a
one-time option to terminate the Lease on July 31, 2021, upon the delivery to the landlord on or before July 31, 2020, of a
termination notice and the payment to the landlord of a termination fee of approximately $0.3 million. 

On April 4, 2019, we entered into a sublease agreement for approximately 30,036 square feet of general office space
located at 24 Crosby Drive in Bedford, Massachusetts.  The lease term commenced on April 4, 2019 and expires on March
31, 2024.  No base rent was due under the lease until July 2019.  The initial annual base rent is approximately $0.6 million
and will increase annually beginning on April 1 of each year.  We are obligated to pay all real estate taxes and costs related to
the premises.  We posted a customary letter of credit in the amount of approximately $0.2 million as
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a security deposit.  These rent payments have not been included in the table of contractual obligations and commitments
above.

 
Purchase commitments represent non-cancelable contractual commitments associated with certain clinical trial

activities with our CROs.
 
Manufacturing commitments generally provide for termination on notice, and therefore are cancelable contracts but are

contracts that we are likely to continue, regardless of the fact that they are cancelable.
 
We enter into contracts in the normal course of business to assist in the performance of our research and development

activities and other services and products for operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination on notice,
and therefore are cancelable contracts and not included in the table of contractual obligations and commitments.

 
In April 2014, we entered into the Credit Agreement to establish the Credit Facility with Silicon Valley Bank and

MidCap Financial SBIC, LP, pursuant to which we were able to borrow an aggregate principal amount of up to $20.0 million,
of which we borrowed $15.0 million. We did not borrow the remaining $5.0 million, and this amount is no longer available to
us. The Credit Facility carried a fixed annual interest rate of 8.25% on outstanding borrowings. In April 2014, we issued the
lenders warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our Series D-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock with an exercise price
of $3.00 per share. Upon the closing of our IPO in July 2014, the preferred stock warrants became warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 37,878 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $7.92 per share.

 
In December 2015, we amended the Credit Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount under the Credit

Facility to $15.6 million to capitalize certain accrued interest. The Credit Facility provided for monthly, interest-only
payments on outstanding borrowings through December 2016. Thereafter, we were required to pay thirty-six consecutive,
equal monthly installments of principal and interest through December 1, 2019. In March 2017, we further amended the
Credit Agreement increase the aggregate principle borrowed under the Credit Facility to $18.0 million. The interest-only
payment period was extended through February 1, 2018. There were no financial covenants associated with the Credit
Agreement. 

 
In December 2018, we further amended the Credit Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount borrowed

under the Credit Facility to $25.0 million.  The interest-only payment period was extended through December
2020. Commencing in January 2021, we are required to make 36 equal monthly installments of principal in the amount of
$0.7 million, plus interest, through December 2023.  Under the December 2018 amendment, we were required to maintain a
minimum of $5.0 million of cash and/or cash equivalents on hand as a financial covenant to the borrowing
arrangement.  There are no other financial covenants associated with the Credit Agreement; however, there are negative
covenants restricting our activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; incurring indebtedness,
 liens or encumbrances; paying dividends; making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business
transactions.  The obligations under the Credit Agreement are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events
of default, including a material adverse change in our business, operations or financial or other condition.  The debt is
collateralized by a first-priority lien on all of our assets, including our intellectual property.

 
In connection with our entry into the Purchase Agreement, as described below, in February 2019, we further amended

the Credit Agreement to permit our issuance and sale of the 2026 Convertible Notes in March 2019.  The February
amendment added, among other provisions, a negative covenant restricting us from paying the holders of the 2026
Convertible Notes ahead in priority to the senior lenders, for so long as indebtedness remains outstanding under the Credit
Facility, and a cross-default provision to establish that an event of default under the Purchase Agreement also constituted an
event of default under the Credit Agreement.  In August 2019, we entered into the Second Amendment to the Credit
Agreement to further amended the Credit Agreement to remove restrictions on us to maintain a minimum of $5.0 million of
cash on hand as a financial covenant. 

 
We have in-licensed a significant portion of our intellectual property from Incept, an intellectual property holding

company, under an amended and restated license agreement, or the License Agreement, that we entered into with Incept in
January 2012, which was most recently amended in September 2018. We are obligated to pay Incept a royalty equal to a low-
single-digit percentage of net sales made by us or our affiliates of any products, devices, materials, or components thereof, or
the Licensed Products, including or covered by Original IP (as defined in the License Agreement), excluding
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the Shape-Changing IP (as defined in the License Agreement), in the Ophthalmic Field of Use (as defined in the License
Agreement).  We are obligated to pay Incept a royalty equal to a mid-single-digit percentage of net sales made by us or our
affiliates of any Licensed Products including or covered by Original IP, excluding the Shape-Changing IP, in the Additional
Field of Use (as defined in the License Agreement). We are obligated to pay Incept a royalty equal to a low-single-digit
percentage of net sales made by us or our affiliates of any Licensed Products including or covered by Incept IP (as defined in
the License Agreement) or Joint IP (as defined in the License Agreement) in the field of drug delivery. Any sublicensee of
ours also will be obligated to pay Incept a royalty on net sales of Licensed Products made by it and will be bound by the
terms of the agreement to the same extent as we are. We are obligated to reimburse Incept for our share of the reasonable fees
and costs incurred by Incept in connection with the prosecution of the patent applications licensed to us under the agreement.
Our share of these fees and costs is equal to the total amount of such fees and costs divided by the total number of Incept’s
exclusive licensees of the patent application. We have not included in the table above any payments to Incept under this
license agreement as the amount, timing and likelihood of such payments are not known.

 
In October 2016, we entered into the Collaboration Agreement with Regeneron.  If the Option is exercised, Regeneron

will conduct further preclinical development and an initial clinical trial under a collaboration plan. We are obligated to
reimburse Regeneron for certain development costs during the period through the completion of the initial clinical trial,
subject to a cap of $25.0 million, which cap may be increased by up to $5.0 million under certain circumstances. We have not
included in the table above any payments to Regeneron under this Collaboration Agreement as the timing of such payments
are not known.  Regeneron will be responsible for funding an initial preclinical tolerability study, which Regeneron initiated
in early 2018. We do not expect our funding requirements under our collaboration with Regeneron to be material over the
next twelve months. If Regeneron elects to proceed with further development beyond the initial clinical trial, it will be solely
responsible for conducting and funding further development and commercialization of product candidates.

 
On March 2019, we issued the 2026 Convertible Notes pursuant to a note purchase agreement, or the Purchase

Agreement. The 2026 Convertible Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 6% of its outstanding principal amount, payable
at maturity, on March 1, 2026, unless earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed. The holders of the 2026 Convertible Notes
may convert all or part of the outstanding principal amount of their 2026 Convertible Notes into shares of our common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, prior to maturity and provided that no conversion results in a holder beneficially owning more
than 19.99% of our issued and outstanding common stock. The conversion rate is initially 153.8462 shares of our common
stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price is $6.50
per share.  The conversion rate is subject to adjustment in customary circumstances such as stock splits or similar changes to
our capitalization. At our election, we may choose to make such conversion payment in cash, in shares of common stock, or
in a combination thereof. Upon any conversion of any 2026 Convertible Note, we are obligated to make a cash payment to
the holder of such 2026 Convertible Note for any interest accrued but unpaid on the principal amount converted. Upon the
occurrence of a Corporate Transaction (as defined in the 2026 Convertible Notes), the holder of a 2026 Convertible Note is
entitled, at such holder’s option, to convert all of the outstanding principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Note in
accordance with the foregoing and receive an additional, “make-whole” cash payment in accordance with a table set forth in
each 2026 Convertible Note.

 
Upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction, each holder of a 2026 Convertible Note has the option to require us to

repurchase all or part of the outstanding principal amount of such 2026 Convertible Note at a repurchase price equal to 100%
of the outstanding principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Note to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the repurchase date.

On or after March 1, 2022, if the last reported sale price of the common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion
rate then in effect for twenty of the preceding thirty trading days (including the last trading day of such period), we are
entitled, at our option, to redeem all or part of the outstanding principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes, on a pro rata
basis, at an optional redemption price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2026 Convertible Notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the optional redemption date.

The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties by us and the noteholder. The Purchase
Agreement does not include any financial covenants. Our obligations under the Purchase Agreement and the 2026
Convertible Notes are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including a default or breach
of certain contracts material to us and the delisting and deregistration of our common stock.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as
defined in the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such relationships with unconsolidated
entities or financial partnerships, which are often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, established for
the purpose of facilitating financing transactions that are not required to be reflected on our balance sheets. 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

Information regarding new accounting pronouncements is included in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies to the current period’s consolidated financial statements. 

 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 
 

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates.  As of June 30, 2019, we had cash and cash
equivalents of $61.8 million, which consisted of money market funds.  We have policies requiring us to invest in high-quality
issuers, limit our exposure to any individual issuer, and ensure adequate liquidity.  Our primary exposure to market risk is
interest rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularly because our
investments are in short-term securities.  Due to the short-term duration of our investment portfolio and the low risk profile of
our investments, an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market
value of our portfolio. 

 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures. 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2019.  The term “disclosure controls and procedures,”
as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported,
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.  Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including
its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.  Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.  Based on the evaluation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of June 30, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. 

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings. 
 
Securities Class Actions
 

On July 7, 2017, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against us and certain of our current and former executive
officers in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, captioned Thomas Gallagher v. Ocular
Therapeutix, Inc, et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-05011. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of shareholders who
purchased our common stock between May 5, 2017 and July 6, 2017. The complaint generally alleges that we and certain of
our current and former officers violated Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange
Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making allegedly false and/or misleading statements concerning the Form
483 issued by the FDA related to DEXTENZA and our manufacturing operations for DEXTENZA. The complaint seeks
unspecified damages, attorneys’ fees, and other costs.  On July 14, 2017, an amended complaint was filed; the amended
complaint purports to be brought on behalf of shareholders who purchased our common stock between May 5, 2017 and July
11, 2017, and otherwise includes allegations similar to those made in the original complaint.

 
On July 12, 2017, a second putative class action lawsuit was filed against us and certain of our current and former

executive officers in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, captioned Dylan Caraker v. Ocular
Therapeutix, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-05095. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of shareholders who
purchased our common stock between May 5, 2017 and July 6, 2017. The complaint includes allegations similar to those
made in the Gallagher complaint and seeks similar relief. 

 
On August 3, 2017, a third putative class action lawsuit was filed against us and certain of our current and former

executive officers in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, captioned Shawna Kim v. Ocular
Therapeutix, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-05704. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of shareholders who
purchased our common stock between March 10, 2016 and July 11, 2017. The complaint includes allegations similar to those
made in the Gallagher complaint and seeks similar relief. 

 
On October 27, 2017, a magistrate judge for the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey granted the

defendants’ motion to transfer the above-referenced Gallagher, Caraker, and Kim litigations to the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts.  These matters were assigned the following docket numbers in the District of
Massachusetts: 1:17-cv-12288 (Gallagher), 1:17-cv-12146 (Caraker), and 1:17-cv-12286 (Kim).

 
On March 9, 2018, the court consolidated the three actions and appointed co-lead plaintiffs and co-lead counsel for the

consolidated action.  On May 7, 2018, co-lead plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended class action complaint.  The amended
complaint makes allegations similar to those in the original complaints, against the same defendants, and seeks similar relief
on behalf of shareholders who purchased our common stock between March 10, 2016 and July 11, 2017.  The amended
complaint generally alleges that defendants violated Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder.  On July 6, 2018, defendants filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended
complaint.  Plaintiffs filed an opposition to the motion to dismiss on September 4, 2018, and defendants filed a reply on
October 4, 2018.  The court held oral argument on the motion to dismiss on February 6, 2019.  By order dated April 30,
2019, the court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss. On May 31, 2019, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to the United
States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit regarding the District Court’s opinion and order of dismissal of the Complaint.

 
We deny any allegations of wrongdoing and intend to vigorously defend against these lawsuits.

 
Shareholder Derivative Litigation
 

On July 11, 2017, a purported shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed against certain of our current and former
executive officers, certain current and former board members, and us as a nominal defendant, in the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts, captioned Robert Corwin v. Sawhney et al., Case No. 1:17-cv-11270.  The complaint
generally alleged that the individual defendants breached fiduciary duties owed to us by making allegedly false and/or
misleading statements concerning the Form 483 related to DEXTENZA and our manufacturing operations for
DEXTENZA.  The complaint purported to assert claims against the individual defendants for breach of fiduciary
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duty, and sought to recover on behalf of us for any liability we incur as a result of the individual defendants’ alleged
misconduct.  The complaint also sought contribution on behalf of us from all individual defendants for their alleged
violations of Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  The complaint sought
declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and
costs.  On September 20, 2017, counsel for the plaintiff filed a notice of voluntary dismissal, stating that the plaintiff wished
to coordinate his efforts and proceed in a consolidated fashion with the plaintiff in a similar derivative suit that was pending
in the Superior Court of Suffolk County of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts captioned Angel Madera v. Sawhney et al.,
Case. No. 17-2273 (which is discussed in the paragraph immediately below) by filing an action in that court subsequent to
the dismissal of this lawsuit.  The Corwin lawsuit was dismissed without prejudice on September 21, 2017.  On October 24,
2017, the plaintiff filed a new derivative complaint in Massachusetts Superior Court (Suffolk County), captioned Robert
Corwin v. Sawhney et al., Case No. 17-3425 (BLS2).  The new Corwin complaint includes allegations similar to those made
in the federal court complaint and asserts a derivative claim for breach of fiduciary duty against certain of our current and
former officers and directors. The complaint also asserts an unjust enrichment claim against two additional defendants, SV
Life Sciences Fund IV, LP and SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic Partners, LP.  The complaint also names us as a nominal
defendant.

 
On July 19, 2017, a second purported shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed against certain of our current and former

executive officers, all current board members, one former board member, and us as a nominal defendant, in the Superior
Court of Suffolk County of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, captioned Angel Madera v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 17-
2273.  The complaint included allegations similar to those made in the Corwin complaint.  The complaint purported to assert
derivative claims against the individual defendants for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross
mismanagement, and waste of corporate assets, and sought to recover on behalf of us for any liability we incur as a result of
the individual defendants’ alleged misconduct. The complaint sought declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an
unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs. On November 6, 2017, the court dismissed this
action without prejudice due to plaintiff’s failure to complete service of process within the time permitted under applicable
court rules.  On December 21, 2017, the same plaintiff filed a new derivative complaint in the same court, captioned Angel
Madera v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 17-4126 (BLS2).  The new Madera complaint is premised on substantially similar
allegations as the previous complaint and purports to assert derivative claims against certain current and former executive
officers and board members for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and waste of corporate assets, and names the
company as a nominal defendant.  Like the new Corwin complaint, the new Madera complaint also asserts an unjust
enrichment claim against two additional defendants, SV Life Sciences Fund IV, LP and SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic
Partners, LP.  

 
By order dated January 29, 2018, the court consolidated the state court Corwin and Madera complaints under the

Corwin docket and appointed lead counsel for plaintiffs.  On February 28, 2018, plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended
complaint.  The consolidated complaint names substantially the same defendants and is premised on substantially similar
allegations as the previous Corwin and Madera complaints, asserting claims for breach of fiduciary duty against the
individual defendants and unjust enrichment against the two SV entity defendants.  On April 17, 2018, all defendants served
a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint.  On June 22, 2018, plaintiffs served their opposition to the motion
to dismiss and a cross-motion to stay the proceedings pending a decision on the motion to dismiss in the above-referenced
securities class action in the District of Massachusetts.  On July 30, 2018, the parties filed a joint motion to stay the
proceedings pending a decision on the motion to dismiss in the above-referenced securities class action in the District of
Massachusetts. On August 3, 2018, the court granted the motion to stay.

 
On January 31, 2018, a third purported shareholder derivative suit was filed against certain of our current and former

executive officers, certain current and former board members, and us as a nominal defendant, in the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts, captioned Brian Robinson v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 1:18-cv-10199.  The
complaint includes allegations similar to those made in the Corwin and Madera complaints. The complaint does not name
either SV Life Sciences Fund, IV, LP or SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic Partners, LP as defendants, and adds two former
officers as defendants.  The complaint purports to assert derivative claims against the individual defendants for breach of
fiduciary duty, waste of corporate assets, and unjust enrichment, and seeks to recover on behalf of us for any liability we
incur as a result of the individual defendants’ alleged misconduct. The complaint seeks declaratory, equitable, and monetary
relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs. On April 30, 2018, all defendants filed
a motion to dismiss or stay the complaint.  Plaintiff filed his opposition on June 22, 2018. On July 26, 2018, the parties filed a
joint motion to extend the deadline for defendants to file their reply brief pending the potential substitution of the named
shareholder plaintiff.  On August 20, 2018, the parties filed a joint stipulation and proposed order regarding plaintiff’s
unopposed request to substitute a new shareholder plaintiff and the parties’ joint

54



Table of Contents

request that the court stay the proceedings pending a decision on the motion to dismiss in the above-referenced securities
class action in the District of Massachusetts.  On September 4, 2018, the court entered the requested order substituting the
named plaintiff and staying the matter.

 
On February 16, 2018, a fourth purported shareholder derivative suit was filed against certain of our current and former

executive officers, certain current and former board members, and us as a nominal defendant, in the United States District
Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Terry Kelly v. Sawhney et al., Case. No. 1:18-cv-00277.  The complaint includes
allegations similar to those made in the Corwin and Madera complaints.  The complaint purports to assert derivative claims
against the individual defendants for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and waste of corporate assets, and seeks to
recover on behalf of us for any liability we incur as a result of the individual defendants’ alleged misconduct. The complaint
also asserts an unjust enrichment claim against SV Life Sciences Fund IV, LP and SV Life Sciences Fund IV Strategic
Partners, LP.  The complaint seeks declaratory, equitable, and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with
interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs. On June 11, 2018, the parties filed a stipulation staying the lawsuit pending final
judgment in the consolidated derivative action pending in Massachusetts state court under the Corwin docket, described
above.  The court entered an order staying the case on June 12, 2018.

 
We deny any allegations of wrongdoing and intend to vigorously defend against these lawsuits.
 
In addition, we received a subpoena from the SEC, dated December 15, 2017, requesting documents and information

concerning DEXTENZA (dexamethasone insert) 0.4mg, including related communications with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, investors and others.  We received a second subpoena from the SEC on August 21, 2018, requesting
documents and information concerning its participation in two investor conferences in June 2017.  By letter dated May 2,
2019, the SEC notified us that the SEC had concluded its investigation and did not intend to recommend an enforcement
action against us or any individuals.

 
We are unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits or proceedings at this time. Moreover, any conclusion of these

matters in a manner adverse to us and for which we incur substantial costs or damages not covered by our directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and business. In addition, the
proceedings could adversely impact our reputation and divert management’s attention and resources from other priorities,
including the execution of business plans and strategies that are important to our ability to grow our business, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors. 

 
The following risk factors and other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be carefully

considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we presently deem less significant may also impair our business operations. Please see page 1
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of some of the forward-looking statements that are qualified by these
risk factors. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth
prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
 
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital
 
We have incurred significant losses since our inception. We expect to incur losses over the next several years and may
never achieve or maintain profitability.
 

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our net losses were $63.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017, $60.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, and $41.6 million for the six months ended June
30, 2019. As of June 30, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $338.8 million. Through June 30, 2019, we have financed
our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred stock, public offerings of our common stock, private
placements of our convertible notes and borrowings under credit facilities. We have devoted substantially all of our financial
resources and efforts to research and development, including preclinical studies and clinical trials, commercialization of
ReSure Sealant and the commercial launch of DEXTENZA  for the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following
ophthalmic surgery in July 2019. Although we expect to generate revenue from sales of DEXTENZA following its
commercial launch, we expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses over the next several years. Our
net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year.
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We anticipate we will incur substantial expenses if and as we:
 
· continue to commercialize DEXTENZA in the United States;

 
· continue to develop and expand our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for DEXTENZA and any of our

product candidates;
 

· continue to pursue the clinical development of our most advanced intracanalicular insert product candidates,
OTX-TP and DEXTENZA for additional indications;
 

· continue clinical trials of our product candidates OTX-TIC and OTX-TKI;
 

· conduct joint research and development under our strategic collaboration with Regeneron, for the development
and potential commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel formulation in
combination with Regeneron’s large molecule, VEGF-targeting compounds to treat retinal diseases;
 

· continue the research and development of our other product candidates;
 

· seek to identify and develop additional product candidates, including through additional preclinical development
activities associated with our back-of-the-eye program and glaucoma intracameral implant program and potential
opportunities outside the field of ophthalmology;  

 
· seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical development;

 
· scale up our manufacturing processes and capabilities to support sales of commercial products, our ongoing

clinical trials of our product candidates and commercialization of any of our product candidates for which we
obtain marketing approval, and expand our facilities to accommodate this scale up and the expected growth in
personnel;
 

· renovate our new facility including research and development laboratories, manufacturing space and office space;
 

· maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
 

· expand our operational, financial and management systems and personnel, including personnel to support our
clinical development, manufacturing and commercialization efforts and our operations as a public company;

 
· defend ourselves against legal proceedings;

 
· increase our product liability and clinical trial insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials and

commercialization efforts; and
 

· continue to operate as a public company. 
 

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to
accurately predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve profitability. Our
expenses will increase if:

 
· we are required by the FDA or the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, to perform trials or studies in addition

to those currently expected;
 
· there are any delays in receipt of regulatory clearance to begin our planned clinical programs; or
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· there are any delays in enrollment of patients in or completing our clinical trials or the development of our
product candidates.

 
Through May 2019, ReSure Sealant was our only source of revenue from product sales. However, sales of ReSure

Sealant have not generated significant revenue.  For us to become and remain profitable, we will need to succeed in
developing and commercializing DEXTENZA and potentially other products with significant market potential. This will
require us or our current or future collaborators to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including:

 
· successfully commercializing DEXTENZA in the United States, including by further developing our sales force,

marketing and distribution capabilities;
 
· successfully completing clinical development of our product candidates;

 
· obtaining marketing approval for these product candidates, including DEXTENZA for additional indications;
 
· manufacturing at commercial scale, marketing, selling and distributing DEXTENZA or those products for which

we obtain marketing approval;
 
· achieving an adequate level of market acceptance of and obtaining and maintaining coverage and adequate

reimbursement from third-party payors for our products; and
 
· protecting our rights to our intellectual property portfolio.

 
Our ability to generate revenue from operations will depend, in part, on the timing and success of commercial sales of

DEXTENZA, which we launched in the United States in July 2019. However, the successful commercialization of
DEXTENZA in the United States is subject to many risks. We are currently undertaking our first commercial launch with
DEXTENZA, and we may not be able to do so successfully or on the currently expected timeline or at all. There are
numerous examples of unsuccessful product launches and failures to meet expectations of market potential, including by
pharmaceutical companies with more experience and resources than us. While we commercially launched DEXTENZA for
the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery in July 2019, we do not anticipate revenue from
such sales of DEXTENZA will be sufficient for us to become profitable for several years, if ever.  Furthermore, if we are
unable to achieve our revenue estimates for DEXTENZA our ability to raise additional capital may be impacted.

 
We may never succeed in these activities and may never generate revenue that is sufficient or great enough to achieve

profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or
annual basis.  Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the value of our company and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts, diversify our product offerings or
even continue our operations.  A decline in the value of our company could also cause our stockholders to lose all or part of
their investment. 

 
We will need substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts.
 

We expect to devote substantial financial resources to our ongoing and planned activities, particularly as we continue to
commercialize DEXTENZA for the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery, including
expanding our product manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution capabilities.  We also expect to devote substantial
financial resources as we conduct late stage clinical trials for our local programmed-release drug delivery product candidates,
in particular OTX-TP and DEXTENZA for additional indications, and seek marketing approval for any such product
candidate for which we obtain favorable pivotal clinical results. In addition, we plan to devote significant financial resources
to conducting research and development and potentially seeking regulatory approval for our other product candidates.
Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding to fully support our continuing operations and the planned
commercial launch of DEXTENZA. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced
to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts.
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As of June 30, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $61.8 million, outstanding debt of $24.9 million, net of
unamortized discount and $37.5 million aggregate principal amount of senior subordinated convertible notes.  Based on our
current plans and forecasted expenses, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, as of June 30, 2019, along with
$14.8 million raised under our open market sales agreement in the third quarter as of August 5, 2019,  the $5.0 million of
restricted cash of June 30, 2019, whose restrictions were removed by our lenders in August 2019 as discussed in Note 15 of
the notes to the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and anticipated cash inflows
from DEXTENZA product sales, will enable us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital
expenditure requirements into the third quarter 2020.  Such projection is subject to a number of assumptions related to the
revenues and expenses associated with the commercialization of DEXTENZA as well as the pace of our research and clinical
development programs and other aspects of our business.  We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be
wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Our future capital requirements will depend
on many factors, including :

 
· our ability to successfully commercialize and sell DEXTENZA in the United States;

 
· the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates by the FDA, the EMA or

other regulatory authorities;
 

· the level of product sales from DEXTENZA and any additional products for which we obtain marketing
approval in the future;

 
· the costs of manufacturing, sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization efforts with respect

to DEXTENZA and any additional products for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;
 
· the costs of expanding our facilities to accommodate our manufacturing needs and expected growth in

personnel;
 
· the progress, costs and outcome of the clinical trials of our extended-delivery drug delivery product

candidates, in particular OTX-TP and DEXTENZA for additional indications;
 
· the progress and status of our collaboration with Regeneron, including any development costs for which we

reimburse Regeneron, the potential exercise by Regeneron of its option for a license for the development
and potential commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel formulation in
combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds, and our potential receipt of
future milestone payments from Regeneron;

 
· the scope, progress, costs and outcome of preclinical development and clinical trials of our other product

candidates;
 

· the extent of our debt service obligations;
 
· the amounts we are entitled to receive, if any, from Regeneron for potential option exercise, development,

regulatory and sales milestones and royalty payments;
 
· the extent to which we choose to establish additional collaboration, distribution or other marketing

arrangements for our products and product candidates;
 

· the costs and outcomes of legal actions and proceedings, including the current lawsuits described under
“Item 1—Legal Proceedings”;

 
· the costs and timing of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our

intellectual property rights and defending any intellectual property-related claims; and
 
· the extent to which we acquire or invest in other businesses, products and technologies. 
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Conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials, seeking market approvals and commercializing products are time-
consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete.  We may never generate the necessary data or
results required to obtain regulatory approval of products with the market potential sufficient to enable us to achieve
profitability.  We may not generate significant revenue from sales of any product for several years, if at all.  Accordingly, we
will need to obtain substantial additional financing to achieve our business objectives.  Adequate additional financing may
not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.  In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market
conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.

 
We have included a paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern in the footnotes of our audited
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2018 include a paragraph stating that
our losses from operations and need for additional funding to finance our operations raise substantial doubt about our ability
to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to obtain sufficient funding, our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected and we may be unable to continue as a going concern. If we are
unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and may receive less than the value at which those
assets are carried on our consolidated financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their
investment. If we seek additional financing to fund our business activities in the future and there remains substantial doubt
about our ability to continue as a going concern, investors or other financing sources may be unwilling to provide additional
funding to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

 
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights
to our technologies or products or product candidates.
 

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance
our cash needs through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, royalty
agreements, and marketing and distribution arrangements.  We do not have any committed external source of funds, although
our collaboration agreement with Regeneron provides for the potential receipt of  option exercise, development, regulatory
and sales milestones and royalty payments.  To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, preferred
equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders’ ownership interests will be diluted, and the terms of these securities
may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our existing stockholders’ rights as holders of our common
stock.  Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring
dividends.  Our pledge of our assets as collateral to secure our obligations under our Credit Facility may limit our ability to
obtain additional debt financing.  If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed,
we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant
rights to develop and market products or product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market
ourselves. 

 
 If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, royalty agreements, or

marketing and distribution arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue
streams, research programs, products or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.  

 
Our substantial indebtedness may limit cash flow available to invest in the ongoing needs of our business.
 

We have a significant amount of indebtedness.  Under our Credit Facility, as amended to date, we had $25.0 million,
net of unamortized discount, of outstanding principal indebtedness.  Under the accompanying Credit Agreement, we are
permitted to make interest-only payments until January 1, 2021, subject to potential extension to January 1, 2022 if net sales
of DEXTENZA exceed $40.0 million in the aggregate during any trailing twelve-month period.  Our obligations under the
Credit Agreement are secured by all of our assets, including our intellectual property.   The Credit Agreement also includes
customary affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; incurring
indebtedness, liens or encumbrances; paying dividends; making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business
transactions.  In March 2019, we issued $37.5 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes.  The Convertible
Notes mature on March 1, 2026 and interest on the Convertible
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Notes is payable at maturity or if earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed pursuant to their terms. We could in the future
incur additional indebtedness beyond such amounts, including by potentially amending our Credit Agreement. 

 
Our substantial debt combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments could have significant

adverse consequences, including:
 

· requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities to the
payment of interest on, and principal of, our debt, which will reduce the amounts available to fund working
capital, commercialization expenditures associated with DEXTENZA, capital expenditures, product
development efforts and other general corporate purposes;

 
· obligating us to negative covenants restricting our activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers

or acquisitions, encumbering our intellectual property, incurring indebtedness or liens, paying dividends,
making investments and engaging in certain other business transactions;

 
· limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry; and

 
· placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt

servicing options. 
 

We intend to satisfy our current and future debt service obligations with our existing cash and cash equivalents,
anticipated product revenue from DEXTENZA and funds from external sources.  However, we may not have sufficient funds
or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to pay the amounts due under our existing debt.  Funds from external
sources may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.  In addition, a failure to comply with the conditions of our Credit
Agreement or the Convertible Notes could result in an event of default under those instruments.  In the event of an
acceleration of amounts due under our Credit Agreement or the Convertible Notes as a result of an event of default, including
upon the occurrence of an event that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business,
operations, properties, assets or condition or a failure to pay any amount due, we may not have sufficient funds or may be
unable to arrange for additional financing to repay our indebtedness or to make any accelerated payments, and the lenders
could seek to enforce security interests in the collateral securing such indebtedness.  In addition, the covenants under our
existing Credit Agreement and the pledge of our assets, including our intellectual property, as collateral limit our ability to
obtain additional debt financing. 
 
 

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for our stockholders to evaluate the success of our business to date and
to assess our future viability.
 

We are an early-stage company.  Our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company,
acquiring rights to intellectual property, business planning, raising capital, developing our technology, identifying potential
product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing initial quantities of our products and
product candidates, commercializing ReSure Sealant, and, since July 2019, commercializing DEXTENZA for the treatment
of ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery. We have limited history of commercializing products,
commercially launched DEXTENZA on July 1, 2019 and, to date, have not generated material revenue from the sale of
DEXTENZA. Consequently, any predictions about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if
we had a longer operating history. 

 
In addition, as a new business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other

known and unknown factors.  We are in early stages of the process of transitioning from a company with a research and
development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities.  We may not be successful in such a
transition. 

 
We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter

and year-to-year due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control.  Accordingly, our stockholders should not
rely upon the results of any quarterly or annual periods as indications of future operating performance. 
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We have broad discretion in the use of our available cash and other sources of funding and may not use them effectively.
 

Our management has broad discretion in the use of our available cash and other sources of funding and could spend
those resources in ways that do not improve our results of operations or enhance the value of our common stock.  The failure
by our management to apply these funds effectively could result in financial losses that could cause the price of our common
stock to decline and delay the development of our product candidates.  Pending their use, we may invest our available cash in
a manner that does not produce income or that loses value. 

 
Risks Related to Product Development
 
We depend heavily on the success of DEXTENZA and our product candidates, in particular DEXTENZA for additional
indications and OTX-TP. Clinical trials of our product candidates may not be successful. If we are unable to successfully
complete clinical development of and obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates, or experience significant
delays in doing so, or if after obtaining marketing approvals, we fail to maintain marketing approval or fail to
commercialize these product candidates, our business will be materially harmed.
 

We have devoted a significant portion of our financial resources and business efforts to the development of our drug-
eluting intracanalicular insert products and product candidates for diseases and conditions of the front of the eye.  In
particular, we are investing substantial resources to complete the development of DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis,
OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension, OTX-TIC for glaucoma and ocular hypertension and OTX-TKI for wet age-
related macular degeneration, or wet AMD.  We cannot accurately predict when or if any of our product candidates will
prove effective or safe in humans or whether our products and product candidates will receive marketing approval or reach
successful commercialization.  Our ability to generate product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily
on our commercialization of DEXTENZA for the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery
and our obtaining marketing approval for and commercializing other products with significant market potential, including
DEXTENZA for additional indications and OTX-TP. 

 
The commercial success of our product DEXTENZA and our product candidates will depend on many factors,

including the following:
 

· successful completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials;
 
· applying for and receiving and maintaining marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities for

our product candidates;
 
· scaling up our manufacturing processes and capabilities to support additional or larger clinical trials of our

product candidates and commercialization of DEXTENZA or any of our product candidates for which we
obtain marketing approval;

 
· developing, validating and maintaining a commercially viable manufacturing process that is compliant with

current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP;
 
· developing our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and launching commercial sales of our

products and product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;
 
· partnering successfully with our current and future collaborators, including Regeneron;
 
· gaining acceptance of our products, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-

party payors;
 
· effectively competing with other therapies;
 
· maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our products following approval;
 
· obtaining and maintaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;
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· obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity; and
 
· protecting our rights in our intellectual property portfolio. 
 

In certain cases, such as in our collaboration with Regeneron, many of these factors may be beyond our control,
including clinical development and sales, marketing and distribution efforts.  If we or our collaborators do not achieve one or
more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully
commercialize our products and product candidates, which would materially harm our business. 

 
If clinical trials of our intracanalicular insert product candidates or any other product candidate that we develop

fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities or do not
otherwise produce favorable results, we may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be
delayed or unable to complete, the development and commercialization of such product candidate.

 
Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any product candidate, including our

intracanalicular insert product candidates, we must complete preclinical development and then conduct extensive clinical
trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans.  Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to
design and implement, can take many years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome.  A failure of one or more clinical
trials can occur at any stage of testing.  The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of
the success of later stage clinical trials, interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results and results
from one completed clinical trial may not be replicated in a subsequent clinical trial with a similar study design.  Some of our
completed studies were conducted with small patient populations, making it difficult to predict whether the favorable results
that we observed in such studies will be repeated in larger and more advanced clinical trials.  Moreover, preclinical and
clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their
product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain
marketing approval of their products. 

 
In general, the FDA requires two adequate and well controlled clinical trials to support the effectiveness of a new drug

for marketing approval.  In a Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA that we completed in 2013 in which we were evaluating
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain following cataract surgery, DEXTENZA did not meet the
primary efficacy endpoint for inflammation with statistical significance at the pre-specified time point at day 8.  However, we
did achieve statistical significance for this inflammation endpoint at days 14 and 30.  Accordingly, we measured the primary
efficacy endpoint for inflammation in our completed Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA at day 14.  In the first and third
Phase 3 clinical trials, DEXTENZA met both primary endpoints for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain following
cataract surgery with statistical significance.  However, in the second Phase 3 clinical trial, DEXTENZA met only one of the
two primary efficacy endpoints with statistical significance.  In this second trial, DEXTENZA did not meet the primary
endpoint relating to absence of inflammatory cells in the study eye at day 14. 

  
We announced topline results from a third Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation

and pain in November 2016, which we used to support the potential labeling expansion of DEXTENZA’s indications for
use.  We modified the design of this third Phase 3 clinical trial compared to our two previous Phase 3 clinical trials of
DEXTENZA based on our learnings from these trials.  In this trial, DEXTENZA successfully met its two primary efficacy
endpoints for inflammation and pain, achieving statistically significant differences between the treatment group and the
placebo group for the absence of inflammatory cells on day 14 and the absence of pain on day 8, respectively.  Secondary
analyses on the primary efficacy measures have also been completed.  DEXTENZA achieved each of the secondary
endpoints related to absence of inflammatory cells, absence of pain, and absence of anterior chamber flare with statistical
significance compared to placebo at each of the pre-specified time points, with the exception of the endpoint for the absence
of inflammatory cells at day 2 (which is the day following surgery).  Based on the results of our third Phase 3 clinical trial of
DEXTENZA and subsequent approval in November 2018 for the pain indication pursuant to the initial NDA, we submitted
an NDA supplement, or sNDA, for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation in January 2019, and
the FDA approved the sNDA in June 2019.  
 

In our first Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, for which we announced topline results in
October 2015, DEXTENZA met one of the two primary endpoints.  DEXTENZA achieved the primary endpoint for ocular
itching associated with allergic conjunctivitis but not the primary endpoint for conjunctival redness, in each case measured on
day 7 after insertion of the insert.  The difference in the mean scores for ocular itching between the DEXTENZA group and
the placebo group was greater than 0.5 units on a five point scale at all time points on day 7
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post-insertion and was greater than 1.0 unit at a majority of the time points on day 7 post-insertion.  The DEXTENZA group
did not achieve these pre-specified endpoints on day 7 post-insertion with respect to conjunctival redness.  In our second
Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, for which we announced topline results in June 2016,
DEXTENZA did not meet the sole primary endpoint for ocular itching.  The single primary endpoint of the second Phase 3
clinical trial was the difference in the mean scores in ocular itching between the treatment group and the placebo comparator
group at three time points on day 7 following insertion of the inserts.  While mean ocular itching was seen to be numerically
lower (more favorable) in the DEXTENZA treatment group compared to the placebo group measured at each of the three
specified times on day 7 following insertion of the inserts, at 3, 5, and 7 minutes by -0.18, -0.29, and -0.29 units, respectively,
on a five point scale, this difference did not reach statistical significance.  In addition, the trial did not achieve the
requirement of at least a 0.5 unit difference at all three time points on day 7 following insertion of the inserts and at least a
1.0 unit difference at the majority of the three time points between the treatment group and the placebo group on day 7
following insertion of the inserts.  Further, in our prior Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA in which we were evaluating
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, DEXTENZA met one of the two primary efficacy measures.  The DEXTENZA
treatment group achieved a mean difference compared to the vehicle control group of more than 0.5 units on a five point
scale on day 14 for all three time points measured in a day for both ocular itching and conjunctival redness.  The
DEXTENZA group did not achieve a mean difference compared to the vehicle control group of 1.0 unit for the majority of
the three time points measured on day 14 for either ocular itching or conjunctival redness.  Even if we obtain favorable
clinical trial results in any additional Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, including meeting all
primary efficacy measures, we may not obtain approval for DEXTENZA to treat allergic conjunctivitis or ocular itching
associated with allergic conjunctivitis, or the FDA may require that we conduct additional clinical trials.  Post-hoc analyses
that we performed on the results of our completed Phase 3 clinical trials for allergic conjunctivitis may not be predictive of
success in any future Phase 3 clinical trial.  Although we believe that these analyses provide important information regarding
DEXTENZA and are helpful in understanding the results of this trial and determining the appropriate criteria for future
clinical trials, post-hoc analyses performed using an unlocked clinical trial database can result in the introduction of bias and
are given less weight by regulatory authorities than pre-specified analyses. 

 
We designed our Phase 2 clinical trials of OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension to assess

response to treatment, and did not power these trials to measure any efficacy endpoints with statistical significance.  We
reported topline efficacy results from our Phase 2b clinical trial of OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular
hypertension in October 2015.  OTX-TP did not achieve non-inferiority to timolol drops in our Phase 2b clinical trial.  In this
trial, on day 60 at the 8:00 a.m. time point, the OTX-TP group experienced a mean intraocular pressure, or IOP, lowering
effect of 4.7 mmHg, compared with IOP lowering of 6.4 mmHg for the timolol arm.  On day 90 at the 8:00 a.m. time point,
the OTX-TP group experienced an IOP lowering effect of 5.1 mmHg, compared with an IOP lowering effect of 7.2 mmHg in
the timolol arm.  Also in this trial, on day 60, the OTX-TP group experienced a mean diurnal IOP lowering effect of 3.3
mmHg compared to baseline 6.1 mmHg compared for the timolol group.  On day 90, the OTX-TP group experienced a mean
diurnal IOP, or IOP, lowering effect of 3.6 mmHg compared to baseline, versus 6.3 mmHg for the timolol group.
 

We completed an End‑of‑Phase 2 review with the FDA in April 2016 and initiated the first of two planned Phase 3
clinical trials of OTX‑TP in September 2016.  Based on discussions with the FDA, the Phase 3 clinical trial design has
significant differences as compared to our completed Phase 2 clinical trials. In particular, the most notable changes from our
first Phase 2 clinical trial to our first Phase 3 clinical trial are that our first Phase 3 clinical trial enrolled more subjects at a
greater number of sites, had a different randomization, measured the primary efficacy endpoints on different days and at
different time points, and had a longer washout period. As a result, the first Phase 3 clinical trial of OTX-TP was a
randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial conducted across more than 50 sites, and it enrolled 554 subjects
with open-angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension in the full analysis set population. The trial’s primary efficacy endpoint
was to evaluate the mean IOP at three diurnal time points (8 a.m., 10 a.m., and 4 p.m.) at each of 2, 6, and 12 weeks
following insertion for OTX-TP treated subjects compared with placebo insert treated subjects.  The trial’s secondary
efficacy endpoints included the evaluation of the mean reduction and mean percent reduction of IOP from baseline for OTX-
TP treated subjects compared with placebo insert treated subjects at the same time points.  Topline results from this trial show
that OTX-TP did not achieve its primary and secondary endpoints of statistically significant superiority in mean, mean
reduction, or mean percentage reduction of IOP compared with placebo at all nine time points.  OTX-TP treated subjects did
have a lower mean IPO and a greater reduction in IOP from baseline relative to placebo insert at all nine time points, but
these differences were statistically significant (p value < 0.05) for only eight of the nine time points.  We do not intend to
initiate the second Phase 3 clinical trial until we review and discuss with the FDA the data from this clinical trial. If we do
not achieve our primary endpoint in an additional Phase 3 clinical trial with
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statistical significance, assuming we conduct such clinical trials, or do not achieve a clinically meaningful reduction in IOP,
we may not obtain marketing approval for OTX-TP.
 

In addition, post-hoc analyses that we performed on the results of our completed Phase 2b clinical trial may not be
predictive of success in our planned Phase 3 clinical trials, including as a result of differences in trial design.  Post-hoc
analyses performed using an unlocked clinical trial database can result in the introduction of bias and are given less weight
by regulatory authorities than pre-specified analyses. 

 
The success of our intracanalicular insert product candidates is dependent upon retention during the course of intended

therapy.  As such, we may conduct non-significant risk investigational device exemption, or IDE, medical device, or NSR,
studies in the United States for our extended-delivery intracanalicular insert in an effort to increase the rate of retention.  All
NSR studies that we have performed to date have involved placebo vehicle control intracanalicular inserts without active
drug.  If we determine to make any future changes to the design or composition of our inserts, such changes could affect the
outcome of any subsequent clinical trials using these updated inserts.  For example, in our Phase 2b clinical trial of OTX-TP,
we used a different version of intracanalicular insert than either of the inserts that we used in our Phase 2a clinical trial of
OTX-TP.  Based on the results of our completed Phase 2a clinical trial, we designed the OTX-TP insert that was used in our
Phase 2b clinical trial to deliver drug over a 90 day period at the same daily rate as the two-month version of the insert used
in the Phase 2a clinical trial.  To achieve this, we modified the design of the OTX-TP insert to enlarge it in order to enable the
insert to carry a greater amount of drug.  In addition, we incorporated minor structural changes to improve retention rates.  In
our Phase 2b clinical trials, OTX-TP inserts could be visualized in approximately 88% of eyes by the day 60 visit.  By the
day 90 visit, the ability to visualize OTX-TP had declined to approximately 42% of eyes as the hydrogel softened, liquefied
and had either advanced further down in the canaliculus or had cleared through the nasolacrimal duct.  We are conducting
additional NSR studies on additional modified insert designs, including a polyethylene glycol, or PEG, tip on the proximal
end of the insert that have been incorporated into the design of the first Phase 3 trial of OTX-TP.  If in our Phase 3 clinical
trials the retention rates for our inserts are inadequate to ensure that the patient is receiving appropriate therapy, we may not
be able to obtain regulatory approvals or, even if approved, achieve market acceptance of our local programmed-release drug
delivery products. 

 
The protocols for our clinical trials and other supporting information are subject to review by the FDA and regulatory

authorities outside the United States.  For our intracanalicular insert product candidates, we have typically conducted our
initial and earlier stage clinical trials outside the United States.  We generally plan to conduct our later stage and pivotal
clinical trials of our intracanalicular insert product candidates in the United States.  The FDA, however, could require us to
conduct additional studies or require us to modify our planned pivotal clinical trials to receive clearance to initiate such trials
in the United States or to continue such trials once initiated.  The FDA is not obligated to comment on our trial protocols
within any specified time period or at all or to affirmatively clear or approve our planned pivotal clinical trials.  Subject to a
waiting period of 30 days, we could choose to initiate our pivotal clinical trials in the United States without waiting for any
additional period for comments from the FDA. 

 
We have conducted, and may in the future conduct, clinical trials for product candidates at sites outside the United States,
and the FDA may not accept data from trials conducted in such locations. 
 

We have conducted, and may in the future choose to conduct, one or more of our clinical trials outside the United
States.  We have typically conducted our initial and earlier stage clinical trials for our product candidates, including our
intracanalicular insert product candidates, outside the United States.  We generally plan to conduct our later stage and pivotal
clinical trials of our intracanalicular insert product candidates in the United States. 

 
Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States, acceptance of this data is

subject to conditions imposed by the FDA.  For example, the clinical trial must be well designed and conducted and
performed by qualified investigators in accordance with ethical principles.  The trial population must also adequately
represent the U.S. population, and the data must be applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice in ways that
the FDA deems clinically meaningful.  In addition, while these clinical trials are subject to the applicable local laws, FDA
acceptance of the data will depend on its determination that the trials also complied with all applicable U.S. laws and
regulations.  If the FDA does not accept the data from any trial that we conduct outside the United States, it would likely
result in the need for additional trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and would delay or permanently halt our
development of the applicable product candidates. 

 

64



Table of Contents

Other risks inherent in conducting international clinical trials include:
 

· foreign regulatory requirements that could restrict or limit our ability to conduct our clinical trials
 
· administrative burdens of conducting clinical trials under multiple sets of foreign regulations;
 
· failure of enrolled patients to adhere to clinical protocols as a result of differences in healthcare services or

cultural customs;
 
· foreign exchange fluctuations;
 
· diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries; and
 
· political and economic risks relevant to foreign countries. 

 
 

If we experience any of a number of possible unforeseen events in connection with our clinical trials, potential marketing
approval or commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed or prevented.
 

We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our
ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our extended-delivery drug delivery product candidates or any other
product candidates that we may develop, including:

 
· clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide,

or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development
programs;

 
· the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we

anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out
of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

 
· our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their obligations to us

in a timely manner, or at all;
 
· regulators or institutional review boards may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical

trial or conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site;
 
· we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or

clinical trial protocols with prospective trial sites;
 

· we may decide, or regulators or institutional review boards may require us, to suspend or terminate clinical
research for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the
participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

 
· the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate; and
 
· the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our

product candidates may be insufficient or inadequate. 
 

 

For example, we applied for a deferral from the FDA for the requirement to conduct pediatric studies for DEXTENZA
for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain following cataract surgery until after approval of such product
in adult populations for that indication.  While the FDA ultimately approved our request, if the FDA had required us to
conduct pediatric studies in advance of FDA approval in adult populations, we would have experienced significant delays in
our ability to obtain marketing approval for DEXTENZA for these indications.  We will face a similar risk if we seek a
comparable deferral for other product candidates or indications. 
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If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we
currently contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if
the results of these trials or tests are not favorable or are only modestly favorable or if there are safety concerns, we may:

 
· be delayed in obtaining or unable to obtain marketing approval for our product candidates;
 
· obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;
 
· obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings;
 
· be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or
 
· have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval. 
 

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or marketing approvals.  We do not
know whether any of our preclinical studies or clinical trials will begin as planned, will need to be restructured or will be
completed on schedule, or at all.  Significant preclinical or clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which
we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or allow our competitors to bring products to
market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates. 

 
If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory
approvals could be delayed or prevented.
 

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our local programmed-release drug delivery product
candidates or our other product candidates that we may develop if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of
eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA, the EMA or similar regulatory authorities outside the
United States.  Although there is a significant prevalence of disease in the areas of ophthalmology in which we are focused,
we may nonetheless experience unanticipated difficulty with patient enrollment.  For example, in the third quarter of 2017,
we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial of OTX-TIC outside the United States.  After several months, after not enrolling any
patients, we closed this trial in the second quarter of 2018.  Additionally, we intended to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial of
OTX-TKI outside the United States in 2018, and we started dosing patients in the first quarter of 2019.

 
A variety of factors affect patient enrollment, including:
 

· the prevalence and severity of the ophthalmic disease or condition under investigation;
 
· the eligibility criteria for the study in question;
 
· the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;
 
· the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;
 
· the patient referral practices of physicians;
 
· the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment;
 
· the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;
 
· the conduct of clinical trials by competitors for product candidates that treat the same indications as our

product candidates; and
 
· the lack of adequate compensation for prospective patients. 
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Our first Phase 3 clinical trial of OTX-TP reached the target enrollment of 550 patients at approximately 50 sites in the
United States and is the largest clinical trial we have conducted to date.  While now complete, enrollment in this trial was
slower than projected.  Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients in any of our other clinical trials would result in
significant delays, could require us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether and could delay or prevent our receipt of
necessary regulatory approvals.  Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased development costs for our
product candidates, which would cause the value of our company to decline and limit our ability to obtain additional
financing. 

 
If serious adverse or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development or commercialization of our
extended-delivery drug delivery products or product candidates or any other product candidates that we may develop, we
may need to abandon or limit our development of such products or product candidates.
 

If DEXTENZA or any of our local programmed-release drug delivery product candidates or other product candidates
are associated with serious adverse events or undesirable side effects in clinical trials or have characteristics that are
unexpected, we may need to abandon their development or limit development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in
which the serious adverse events, undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more
acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective.  In each of our first two Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA for the treatment of
post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain following cataract surgery, there were two subjects that experienced serious
adverse events in the DEXTENZA group in each trial, none of which were ocular in nature or considered by the investigator
to be related to the study treatment.  In our third Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical
ocular inflammation and pain, there were three subjects that experienced serious adverse events in the DEXTENZA group,
one of which was ocular in nature and none of which were considered by the investigator to be related to the study
treatment.  There was one ocular serious adverse event in the vehicle control group in the three completed Phase 3 clinical
trials, which was hypopyon, or inflammatory cells in the anterior chamber.  In our earlier Phase 2 clinical trial of
DEXTENZA for the same indication, there were three serious adverse events, none of which was considered by the
investigator to be related to the study treatment.  In the DEXTENZA group of this Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA, the
only adverse event that occurred more than once for the same subject was reduced visual acuity, which occurred twice but
was not considered by the investigator to be related to the study treatment. 

 
In our two pilot studies of OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension and our Phase 2a clinical

trial of OTX-TP for the same indication, the most common adverse event was inflammatory reaction of the eyelids and
ocular surface, which was noted in three patients in our pilot studies and in five patients in our Phase 2a clinical trial.  No
hyperemia-related adverse events were noted in any of the patients treated with OTX-TP in our Phase 2b clinical trial.  There
were no serious adverse events reported in our Phase 2b clinical trial; however, two OTX‑TP subjects and two timolol
subjects discontinued study participation due to ocular adverse events.  Ocular adverse events were reported for 39.4% and
37.5% of subjects in the OTX-TP and timolol groups, respectively.  The most frequently reported ocular adverse events were
dacryocanaliculitis, or inflammation of the lacrimal ducts, acquired dacryostenosis, or closing of the tear ducts, and eyelid
edema.  In the Phase 2b clinical trial, inflammatory reaction at the administration site (punctal area) and lacrimal structure
injury were each noted in one OTX-TP subject as compared to higher percentages in prior trials.  In the Phase 2b trial, the
majority of ocular adverse events, including the most frequently reported adverse events, were assessed by the investigators
as treatment related.  In the Phase 3 clinical trial, OTX-TP was generally well tolerated and no ocular serious adverse events
were observed. The most common ocular adverse events seen in the clinical trial were dacryocanaliculitis (approximately 7%
in OTX-TP vs. 3% in placebo) and lacrimal structure disorder (approximately 6% in OTX-TP vs. 4% in placebo).  However,
many compounds that initially showed promise in clinical or early stage testing for treating ophthalmic disease have later
been found to cause side effects that prevented further development of the compound.  In addition, adverse events which had
initially been considered unrelated to the study treatment may later be found to be caused by the study treatment. 
 
We may not be successful in our efforts to develop products and product candidates based on our bioresorbable hydrogel
technology platform other than DEXTENZA and ReSure Sealant or expand the use of our bioresorbable hydrogel
technology for treating additional diseases and conditions.
 

We are currently directing most of our development efforts towards applying our proprietary, bioresorbable hydrogel
technology platform to products and product candidates that are designed to provide extended delivery of therapeutic agents
to the eye using active pharmaceutical ingredients that are currently used in FDA-approved ophthalmic drugs.  We have a
number of products and product candidates at various stages of development based on our
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bioresorbable hydrogel technology platform and are exploring the potential use of our platform for other front-of-the-eye
diseases and conditions.  We are also developing  hydrogel drug delivery implants designed to release therapeutic antibodies
and small molecules such as TKIs to modulate the biological activity of VEGF over a sustained period following
administration by an intravitreal injection for the treatment of diseases and conditions of the back of the eye, including wet
AMD.  In October 2016, we entered into a collaboration with Regeneron for the development and potential
commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel formulation in combination with Regeneron’s large
molecule VEGF-targeting compounds for the treatment of retinal diseases.  Our existing product candidates and any other
potential product candidates that we or our collaborators identify may not be suitable for continued preclinical or clinical
development, including as a result of being shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate that they
are unlikely to be products that will receive marketing approval and achieve market acceptance.  We are also considering the
future growth potential of the hydrogel platform technology in new areas of the body. If we do not successfully develop and
commercialize our products and product candidates that we or our current or future collaborators develop based upon our
technological approach, we will not be able to obtain substantial product revenues or revenue from collaboration agreements,
including our collaboration with Regeneron, in future periods.  

 
We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product, product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize
on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
 

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on research programs and product candidates
that we identify for specific indications.  As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product
candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential.  Our resource allocation decisions
may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities.  Our spending on current
and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any
commercially viable products.  If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular
product or product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product or product candidate through collaboration,
licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole
development and commercialization rights to such products or product candidate. 

 
 

Risks Related to Manufacturing
 
We will need to upgrade and expand our manufacturing facility or relocate to another facility and to augment our
manufacturing personnel and processes in order to meet our business plans. If we fail to do so, we may not have sufficient
quantities of our products or product candidates to meet our commercial and clinical trial requirements.
 

We manufacture DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and our product candidates for use in clinical trials, research and
development and commercial efforts at our facility located in Bedford, Massachusetts.  In order to meet our business plan,
which contemplates our scaling up manufacturing processes to support our product candidate development programs and the
potential commercialization of these products and product candidates, we will need to upgrade and expand our existing
manufacturing facility, or relocate to another manufacturing facility, add manufacturing personnel and ensure that validated
processes are consistently implemented in our facility or facilities.  The upgrade and expansion of our facility, or the
relocation to an additional facility, will require additional regulatory approvals.  In addition, it will be costly and time-
consuming to expand our facility or relocate to another facility and recruit necessary additional personnel.  If we are unable
to expand our manufacturing facility or relocate to another facility in compliance with regulatory requirements or to hire
additional necessary manufacturing personnel, we may encounter delays or additional costs in achieving our research,
development and commercialization objectives, including obtaining regulatory approvals of our product candidates and
meeting customer demand for our products, which could materially damage our business and financial position. 

 
We must comply with federal, state and foreign regulations, including quality assurance standards applicable to

medical device and drug manufacturers, such as cGMP, which is enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection
program and by similar regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions where we do business.  These requirements include,
among other things, quality control, quality assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation.  Following an
inspection by the FDA in March 2015, for example, we received an FDA Form 483 containing an inspectional observation
relating to inadequate procedures for documenting follow-up information pertinent to the investigation of complaints and for
evaluation of complaints for adverse event reporting.  We submitted our response, which was
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accepted by the FDA, and updated our procedures.  In addition, in February 2016, as part of the review of our NDA for
DEXTENZA, the FDA conducted a pre-NDA approval inspection of our manufacturing operations.  As a result of this
inspection, we received an FDA Form 483 containing inspectional observations focused on process controls, analytical
testing and physical security procedures related to manufacture of our drug product for stability and commercial production
purposes.  We addressed some observations before the inspection was closed and responded to the FDA with a corrective
action plan to complete the inspection process.  In July 2016, we received a Complete Response Letter, or CRL, from the
FDA regarding our NDA for DEXTENZA.  This CRL pertained to the deficiencies in manufacturing process and controls
identified during the pre-NDA approval inspection of our manufacturing facility performed by the FDA New England
District Office in February 2016 that were documented on the February Form 483.  In January 2017, we resubmitted our
NDA.  Following a re-inspection of manufacturing operations by the FDA which was completed in May 2017, we received
an FDA Form 483 containing inspectional observations focused on procedures for manufacturing processes and analytical
testing related to the manufacture of drug product for commercial production.  In July 2017, we received a second CRL from
the FDA regarding our NDA for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain, stating that the FDA had
determined that it could not approve the NDA in its then-present form.  FDA concerns included deficiencies in
manufacturing processes and analytical testing related to manufacturing of drug product identified during the May 2017 pre-
NDA approval inspection.  In May 2017, we submitted our initial response to the Form 483 and, in November 2017, we
submitted our responses to the FDA’s remaining inspectional observations in an effort to close out the items identified in the
Form 483.  The remediation efforts we undertook in response to the FDA’s inspectional observations and as a result of further
internal review included upgrades to our manufacturing equipment and updates to our manufacturing processes and quality
oversight.  These changes were intended to resolve the FDA’s outstanding concerns, including regarding the presence of
particulate matter in certain manufactured lots of DEXTENZA, and enable us to consistently produce commercial lots and
establish manufacturing processes sufficient for purposes of resubmission of our NDA. We resubmitted our NDA for
DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain in June 2018, which was approved in November 2018. We may be
subject to similar inspections and requirements in connection with subsequent applications for other product candidates or
DEXTENZA for additional indications.

 
The FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities at any time also may implement new standards, or change their

interpretation and enforcement of existing standards, for the manufacture, packaging or testing of our products.  Any failure
to comply with applicable regulations may result in fines and civil penalties, suspension of production, product seizure or
recall, imposition of a consent decree, or withdrawal of product approval, and would limit the availability of DEXTENZA,
ReSure Sealant and our product candidates that we manufacture. 

 
Any manufacturing defect or error discovered after products have been produced and distributed also could result in

significant consequences, including costly recall procedures, re-stocking costs, damage to our reputation and potential for
product liability claims. 

 
If our sole clinical manufacturing facility is damaged or destroyed or production at this facility is otherwise interrupted,
our business and prospects would be negatively affected.
 

If our manufacturing facility or the equipment in it is damaged or destroyed, we may not be able to quickly or
inexpensively replace our manufacturing capacity or replace it at all.  In the event of a temporary or protracted loss of this
facility or equipment, we might not be able to transfer manufacturing to another facility or to a third party.  Even if we could
transfer our manufacturing to another facility or a third party, the shift would likely be expensive and time-consuming,
particularly since any new facility would need to comply with the necessary regulatory requirements and to be inspected and
qualified.  We would also need FDA approval before any products manufactured at that facility could be used for clinical or
commercial supply.  Such an event could delay our clinical trials or reduce our product sales. 

 
Currently, we maintain insurance coverage against damage to our property and equipment in the amount of up to $26.2

million and to cover business interruption and research and development restoration expenses in the amount of up to $2.8
million.  However, our insurance coverage may not reimburse us, or may not be sufficient to reimburse us, for any expenses
or losses we may suffer.  We may be unable to meet our requirements for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, or any of our
product candidates if there were a catastrophic event or failure of our current manufacturing facility or processes. 
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We expect to continue to contract with third parties for at least some aspects of the production of our products and product
candidates. This increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our products or product candidates or
such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.
 

We currently rely on third parties for some aspects of the production of DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and our product
candidates for commercialization and preclinical testing and clinical trials, including supply of active pharmaceutical
ingredient drug substance, PEG, the molecule that forms the basis of our hydrogels, and other raw materials and for
sterilization of the finished product.  In addition, while we believe that our existing manufacturing facility, or additional
facilities that we will be able to build, will be sufficient to meet our requirements for manufacturing DEXTENZA, ReSure
Sealant and any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval, we may in the future need to rely on
third-party manufacturers for some aspects of the manufacture of our products or product candidates. 

 
We do not have any long-term supply agreements in place for the clinical or commercial supply of any drug substances

or raw materials for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates.  We purchase drug substance and raw
materials, including the chemical constituents for our hydrogel, from independent suppliers on a purchase order basis.  Any
performance failure or refusal to supply drug substance or raw materials on the part of our existing or future suppliers could
delay clinical development, marketing approval or commercialization of our products.  If our current suppliers do not
perform as we expect, we may be required to replace one or more of these suppliers.  In particular, we depend on a sole
source supplier for the supply of our PEG.  This sole source supplier may be unwilling or unable to supply PEG to us
reliably, continuously and at the levels we anticipate or are required by the market.  Although we believe that there are a
number of potential long-term replacements to our suppliers, including our PEG supplier, we may incur added costs and
delays in identifying and qualifying any such replacements. 

 
Reliance on third parties for aspects of the supply of our products and product candidates entails additional risks,

including:
 

· reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;
 
· the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how;
 
· the possible breach of an agreement by the third party; and
 
· the possible termination or nonrenewal of an agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or

inconvenient for us. 
 

Third-party suppliers or manufacturers may not be able to comply with quality assurance standards, cGMP regulations
or similar regulatory requirements outside the United States.  Our failure, or the failure of our third parties, to comply with
applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil
penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or
products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of
our products and product candidates. 

 
Our potential future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our products and product candidates may adversely

affect our future profit margins and our ability to commercialize any products that receive regulatory approval on a timely
and competitive basis. 

 
Risks Related to Commercialization
 
Even though DEXTENZA and ReSure Sealant have received marketing approval from the FDA and even if any of our
product candidates receives marketing approval, any of these products may fail to achieve the degree of market
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community necessary for commercial
success, and the market opportunity for these products may be smaller than we estimate.
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DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, or any of our product candidates that receives marketing approval may fail to gain

market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community.  We commercially
launched ReSure Sealant in the first quarter of 2014 and have commercially launched DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-
surgical ocular inflammation and pain in July 2019 and cannot yet accurately predict whether either product will gain market
acceptance and become commercially successful.  For example, we previously commenced commercialization in Europe of
an earlier version of ReSure Sealant that was approved and marketed as an ocular bandage.  We recognized $0.1 million of
revenue from the commercialization of this product through 2012.  However, we ceased our commercialization of the product
in 2012 to focus on the ongoing clinical development of ReSure Sealant pursuant to FDA requirements.  If our products do
not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenue and we may not become
profitable. 

 
The degree of market acceptance of DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, or any product candidate for which we obtain

marketing approval will depend on a number of factors, including:
 

· the efficacy and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments;
 
· our ability to offer our products for sale at competitive prices, particularly in light of the lower cost of

alternative treatments;
 
· the clinical indications for which the product is approved;
 
· the convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments, including the

intracanalicular insert retention rate for our intracanalicular insert products and product candidates;
 
· the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these

therapies;
 
· the strength of our marketing and distribution support;
 
· timing of market introduction of competitive products;
 
· the availability of third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement and, for DEXTENZA and ReSure

Sealant, the lack of separate reimbursement when used as part of a cataract surgery procedure;
 

· the prevalence and severity of any side effects; and
 
· any restrictions on the use of our products together with other medications. 
 

For example, because we have not conducted any clinical trials to date comparing the effectiveness of DEXTENZA
directly to currently approved alternative treatments for either post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain following cataract
surgery or allergic conjunctivitis, it is possible that the market acceptance of DEXTENZA could be less than if we had
conducted such trials.  Although market research we have commissioned indicates that a majority of ophthalmologists believe
DEXTENZA could become a new standard of care due to its potential ability to improve compliance with limited toxicity
concerns, market acceptance for DEXTENZA could be substantially less than such research indicates, and we may not be
able to achieve the market share we anticipate. 

 
Our assessment of the potential market opportunity for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and our product candidates is

based on industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications and research, surveys and studies conducted
by third parties.  Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies generally indicate that their information
has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such
information.  While we believe these industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies are reliable, we have
not independently verified such data.  If the actual market for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates
is smaller than we expect, our product revenue may be limited and it may be more difficult for us to achieve or maintain
profitability. 
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If we are unable to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, we may not be
successful in commercializing DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, or any product candidates if and when they are approved.
 

We have limited experience in the sale, marketing and distribution of drug and device products.  To achieve
commercial success for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, and any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval,
we will need to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, either ourselves or through
collaborations or other arrangements with third parties. We have built our own highly targeted, key account sales force for
DEXTENZA that will focus on ambulatory surgical centers responsible for the largest volumes of cataract surgery. We
commercially launched ReSure Sealant in February 2014 on a region by region basis in the United States through a network
of independent distributors.  In early 2017, we terminated these distributors and hired a contract sales force of four
representatives to sell ReSure Sealant.  We have subsequently terminated the agreement with the contract sales force to sell
ReSure Sealant. 

 
If we decide to commercialize any of our products outside of the United States, we would expect to utilize a variety of

collaboration, distribution and other marketing arrangements with one or more third parties to commercialize any product
that receives marketing approval.   We expect that a direct sales force will be required to effectively market and sell OTX-TP,
if approved for marketing.  We will also rely on Regeneron to commercialize our extended-delivery hydrogel formulation in
combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds.  Because we have not historically evaluated
whether to seek regulatory approval for any of our products or product candidates outside of the United States, pending
potential receipt of regulatory approval for the applicable product candidate in the United States, at this time we cannot be
certain when, if ever, we will recognize revenue from commercialization of our products or product candidates in any
international markets.  If we decide to commercialize our products outside of the United States, we expect to utilize a variety
of types of collaboration, distribution and other marketing arrangements with one or more third parties to commercialize any
product of ours that receives marketing approval.  These may include independent distributors, pharmaceutical companies or
our own direct sales organization. 

 
There are risks involved with both establishing our own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and with entering

into arrangements with third parties to perform these services.  We may not be successful in entering into arrangements with
third parties to sell, market and distribute our products or may be unable to do so on terms that are most beneficial to
us.  Such third parties may have interests that differ from ours.  We likely will have little control over such third parties, and
any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to market, sell and distribute our products effectively. 
Our product revenues and our profitability, if any, under third-party collaboration including our collaboration with
Regeneron, distribution or other marketing arrangements may also be lower than if we were to sell, market and distribute a
product ourselves.  On the other hand, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay
any product launch.  If the commercial launch of any product or product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and
establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily
incurred these commercialization expenses.  This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or
reposition our sales and marketing personnel. 

 
Other factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize products on our own include:
 

· our inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;
 
· the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade adequate numbers of physicians

to use or prescribe our products;
 
· the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive

disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines; and
 
· unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization. 
 

If we do not establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration
with third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any of our product
candidates. 
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We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before
or more successfully than we do.
 

The development and commercialization of new drug and device products is highly competitive.  We face competition
with respect to our products and product candidates, and will face competition with respect to any other product candidates
that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future, from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical
companies and biotechnology companies worldwide.  Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government
agencies and other public and private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish
collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and commercialization. 

 
Our products and product candidates target markets that are already served by a variety of competing products based

on a number of active pharmaceutical ingredients.  Many of these existing products have achieved widespread acceptance
among physicians, patients and payors for the treatment of ophthalmic diseases and conditions.  In addition, many of these
products are available on a generic basis, and our products and product candidates may not demonstrate sufficient additional
clinical benefits to physicians, patients or payors to justify a higher price compared to generic products.  In many cases,
insurers or other third-party payors, particularly Medicare, encourage the use of generic products.  Given that we are
developing products based on FDA-approved therapeutic agents, our products and product candidates, if approved, will face
competition from generic and branded versions of existing drugs based on the same active pharmaceutical ingredients that are
administered in a different manner, typically through eye drops or intravitreal injections. 
 

Because the active pharmaceutical ingredients in our products and product candidates, other than those developed
under the Regeneron collaboration, are available on a generic basis, or are soon to be available on a generic basis,
competitors will be able to offer and sell products with the same active pharmaceutical ingredient as our products so long as
these competitors do not infringe the patents that we license.  For example, our licensed patents related to our intracanalicular
insert products and product candidates largely relate to the hydrogel composition of the intracanalicular inserts and certain
drug-release features of the inserts.  As such, if a third party were able to design around the formulation and process patents
that we license and create a different formulation using a different production process not covered by our licensed patents or
patent applications, we would likely be unable to prevent that third party from manufacturing and marketing its product. 

 
Icon Biosciences, Inc. received FDA approval of DEXYCU in February 2018.  DEXYCU is an injection of

dexamethasone into the anterior chamber of the eye to treat inflammation associated with cataract surgery.  Other companies
have also advanced into Phase 3 clinical development biodegradable, programmed-release drug delivery product candidates
that could compete with our intracanalicular insert products and product candidates.  ReSure Sealant is the first and only
surgical sealant approved for ophthalmic use in the United States, but will compete with sutures as an alternative method for
closing ophthalmic wounds.  Multiple companies, including our collaborator Regeneron, are exploring in early stage
development alternative means to deliver anti-VEGF and TKI products in an extended-delivery fashion to the back of the
eye. 

 
Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products

that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than our
products.  Our competitors also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may
obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to
enter the market. 

 
Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have

significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do.  Mergers and
acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among
a smaller number of our competitors.  Smaller and other early stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors,
particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies.  These third parties compete with us in
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration
for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. 
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DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval may become subject to
unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party coverage or reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives, which
could harm our business.
 

Our ability to commercialize DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any product candidates that we may develop
successfully will depend, in part, on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these products and related
treatments will be available from government healthcare programs, private health insurers, managed care plans and other
organizations.  Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance
organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels.  A primary trend in the U.S.
healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment.  Government authorities and third-party payors have attempted to
control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications.  Increasingly, third-party
payors are requiring that drug and device companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are
challenging the prices charged for medical products.  Coverage and reimbursement may not be available for DEXTENZA,
ReSure Sealant or any other product that we commercialize and, even if they are available, the level of reimbursement may
not be satisfactory. 

 
Inadequate reimbursement may adversely affect the demand for, or the price of, DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any

product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.  Obtaining and maintaining adequate reimbursement for our
products may be difficult.  We may be required to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies to justify coverage and
reimbursement or the level of reimbursement relative to other therapies.  If coverage and adequate reimbursement are not
available or reimbursement is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize
DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. 

 
There may be significant delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs and devices, and

coverage may be more limited than the indications for which the drug is approved by the FDA or similar regulatory
authorities outside the United States.  Moreover, eligibility for coverage and reimbursement does not imply that a drug will
be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution
expenses.  Interim reimbursement levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may
not be made permanent.  Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the drug and the clinical setting in which it is
used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments
for other services.  Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government
healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from
countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States.  Third-party payors often rely upon Medicare
coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement policies.  Our inability to promptly obtain
coverage and adequate reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payors for any FDA-approved
products that we develop would compromise our ability to generate revenues and become profitable. 

 
The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, coverage and reimbursement for new drug and device

products vary widely from country to country.  Current and future legislation may significantly change the approval
requirements in ways that could involve additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals.  Some countries require
approval of the sale price of a drug before it can be marketed.  In many countries, the pricing review period begins after
marketing or product licensing approval is granted.  In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains
subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted.  As a result, we might obtain marketing
approval for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the
product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of the
product in that country.  To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a
clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product or product candidate to other available therapies.  Adverse
pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more products or product candidates, even if our
product candidates obtain marketing approval. 

 
DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval in the United States or

in other countries may not be considered medically reasonable and necessary for a specific indication, may not be considered
cost-effective by third-party payors, coverage and an adequate level of reimbursement may not be available, and
reimbursement policies of third-party payors may adversely affect our ability to sell our products and product candidates
profitably.   ReSure Sealant is not separately reimbursed when used as part of a cataract surgery procedure, which could limit
the degree of market acceptance of this product by surgeons.  In addition, while
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DEXTENZA may be considered a post-surgical product in the same fashion as eye drops, it may instead be categorized as an
inter-operative product.  If DEXTENZA is categorized as an inter-operative product, it will not be subject to separate
reimbursement, which could likewise limit its market acceptance.

 
We applied for a transitional pass-through reimbursement status, or C-code, on November 30, 2018 for DEXTENZA

from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS.  In May 2019, we received formal notification from CMS
that it had approved transitional pass-through payment status and established a new C-Code for DEXTENZA that
subsequently became effective on July 1, 2019. We expect pricing for DEXTENZA while in pass-through status to be
approximately $538 per surgery.  We expect pass-through status would remain in effect for up to three years from the
effective date of the C-code, or July 1, 2019.  We also submitted an application to the CMS for a J-code for DEXTENZA on
December 28, 2018, and received a specific and permanent J-code in July 2019 which will become effective on October 1,
2019. We expect to submit to the CMS for a standard J-code for OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular
hypertension, if our clinical trials are successful and if our NDA filings and sNDA are approved by the FDA.  There are no
assurances that we will be successful in obtaining and retaining reimbursement for our products and product candidates.

 
Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of any
products that we develop.
 

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the use of our product candidates that we develop in
human clinical trials.  We face an even greater risk for any products we develop and commercially sell, including
DEXTENZA and ReSure Sealant.  If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our product candidates or
products caused injuries, we will incur substantial liabilities.  Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may
result in:
 

� decreased demand for any product candidates or products that we develop;
 
� injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;
 
� withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
 
� significant costs to defend the related litigation;
 
� substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;
 
� loss of revenue;
 
� reduced time and attention of our management to pursue our business strategy; and
 
� the inability to commercialize any products that we develop. 

 
We currently hold $10.0 million in U.S. product liability insurance coverage in the aggregate, with a per incident limit

of $10.0 million and approximately $15.0 million in product liability insurance in another jurisdiction in which we operate,
with a per incident liability limit of approximately $15.0 million.  These policies may not be adequate to cover all liabilities
that we may incur.  We will need to increase our insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials and our sales of
DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.
 

We will need to further increase our insurance coverage if we commence commercialization of any of our product
candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.  Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive.  We may not be able to
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise. 
 
Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties
 

We will depend heavily on our collaboration with Regeneron for the success of our extended-delivery hydrogel
formulation in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds.  If Regeneron does not
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exercise its option, terminates our collaboration agreement or is unable to meet its contractual obligations, it could
negatively impact our business.

 
In October 2016, we entered into a strategic collaboration, option and license agreement, or Collaboration Agreement,

with Regeneron for the development and potential commercialization of products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel
formulation in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds.  Our ability to generate revenues
from the Collaboration Agreement will depend on our and Regeneron’s abilities to successfully perform the functions
assigned to each of us under the Collaboration Agreement.  We did not receive any upfront payment under the Collaboration
Agreement, although Regeneron has an option to enter into an exclusive, worldwide license, with the right to sublicense,
under our intellectual property to develop and commercialize products containing our extended-delivery hydrogel
formulation in combination with Regeneron’s large molecule VEGF-targeting compounds.  Regeneron has agreed to pay us
$10 million upon exercise of the option.  The option is exclusive until 12 months after Regeneron has received a product
candidate in accordance with a collaboration plan and non-exclusive for an additional six months following the end of the
exclusive period.  In December 2017, we delivered to Regeneron what we believed to be the final formulation for
Regeneron’s initial preclinical tolerability study. Regeneron initiated the preclinical study in early 2018.  We and Regeneron
have subsequently reached an understanding that the proposed formulation was not final and have ceased development of it
and the corresponding option period under the Collaboration Agreement for the initial proposed formulation has stopped.  We
are currently in discussions with Regeneron, in accordance with the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, regarding the
development of an alternative formulation and the related impact on the designated option period. Although we are engaged
in ongoing discussions with Regeneron, Regeneron has not informed us of its decision to exercise the option.  While we
await a decision from Regeneron, we are not actively pursuing further formulation development or other preclinical testing
under the Collaboration Agreement.  Under the Collaboration Agreement, we are obligated to reimburse Regeneron for
certain development costs incurred by Regeneron under the collaboration plan during the period through the completion of
the initial clinical trial, subject to a cap of $25 million, which cap may be increased by up to $5 million under certain
circumstances.  We are also entitled to receive under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement specified development,
regulatory and sales milestone payments, as well as royalty payments. 
 

 If Regeneron exercises the option, the Collaboration Agreement will expire on a licensed product-by-licensed product
and country-by-country basis upon the expiration of the later of 10 years from the date of first commercial sale in such
country or the expiration of all patent rights covering the licensed product in such country.  Regeneron may terminate the
Collaboration Agreement at any time after exercise of the option upon 60 days’ prior written notice.  Either party may,
subject to a cure period, terminate the Collaboration Agreement in the event of the other party’s uncured material breach, in
addition to other specified termination rights.
 

If we are unable to achieve the preclinical milestones set forth in the collaboration plan, Regeneron may not exercise
the option, in which case we would not receive the $10 million payment in connection with such option and would have
incurred significant development expenses.  Even if Regeneron does exercise its option, we or Regeneron may not be
successful in achieving the necessary preclinical, clinical, regulatory and sales milestones in connection with the
collaboration.  Further, if Regeneron were to breach or terminate the Collaboration Agreement or if Regeneron elects not to
exercise the option we granted it and not to proceed in the collaboration, we may not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in
obtaining, marketing approvals for our intravitreal implant product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in
our efforts to, successfully commercialize our intravitreal implant product candidates.  We may not be able to seek and obtain
a viable, alternative collaborator to partner with for the development and commercialization of the licensed products on
similar terms or at all. 

 
We have entered into collaborations with third parties to develop certain product candidates, and in the future may enter
into collaborations with third parties for the commercialization of DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or the development or
commercialization of our product candidates. If our collaborations are not successful, we may not be able to capitalize on
the market potential of these products or product candidates.
 

We have in the past entered into collaboration agreements with third parties, including our collaboration with
Regeneron, and expect to utilize a variety of types of collaboration, distribution and other marketing arrangements with third
parties to commercialize DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, or any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing
approval in markets outside the United States.  We also may enter into arrangements with third parties to perform these
services in the United States if we do not establish our own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities in the United States
for our products and product candidates or if we determine that such third-party arrangements are
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otherwise beneficial.  We also may seek additional third-party collaborators for development and commercialization of other
product candidates.  Our likely collaborators for any sales, marketing, distribution, development, licensing or broader
collaboration arrangements include large and mid-size pharmaceutical companies, regional and national pharmaceutical
companies and biotechnology companies.  Other than our collaboration with Regeneron, we are not currently party to any
such arrangement.  Our ability to generate revenues from these arrangements will depend on our collaborators’ abilities and
efforts to successfully perform the functions assigned to them in these arrangements. 
 

Our collaboration with Regeneron poses, and any future collaborations likely will pose a number of risks, including the
following:

 
· collaborators have significant discretion in determining the amount and timing of efforts and resources that

they will apply to these collaborations;
 
· collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;
 
· collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our products or product candidates

that receive marketing approval or may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization
programs based on results of clinical trials or other studies, changes in the collaborators’ strategic focus or
available funding, or external factors, such as an acquisition, that divert resources or create competing
priorities;

 
· collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a

clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new
formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

 
· collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or

indirectly with our products or product candidates if the collaborators believe that competitive products are
more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms that are more economically
attractive than ours;

 
· product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be viewed by our collaborators as competitive

with their own product candidates or products, which may cause collaborators to cease to devote resources
to the commercialization of our product candidates;

 
· a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve

regulatory approval may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of such product
or products;

 
· disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation

or the preferred course of development, might cause delays or termination of the research, development or
commercialization of products or product candidates, might lead to additional responsibilities for us with
respect to products or product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would
divert management attention and resources, be time-consuming and expensive;

 
· collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our

proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our
intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;

 
· collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation

and potential liability; and
 
· collaborations may be terminated for the convenience of the collaborator and, if terminated, we could be

required to raise additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of the applicable
products or product candidates. 
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Collaboration agreements may not lead to development or commercialization of products or product candidates in the
most efficient manner, or at all.  If any collaborations that we enter into do not result in the successful development and
commercialization of products or if one of our collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we may not receive any future
research funding or milestone or royalty payments under the collaboration.  If we do not receive the funding we expect under
these agreements, our development of our products or product candidates could be delayed and we may need additional
resources to develop our products or product candidates.  All of the risks relating to product development, regulatory
approval and commercialization described in this prospectus supplement also apply to the activities of our collaborators. 

 
Additionally, subject to its contractual obligations to us, if a collaborator of ours were to be involved in a business

combination, it might deemphasize or terminate the development or commercialization of any product or product candidate
licensed to it by us.  If one of our collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we may find it more difficult to attract new
collaborators and our perception in the business and financial communities could be harmed. 

 
 

If we are not able to establish additional collaborations, we may have to alter our development and commercialization
plans and our business could be adversely affected.
 

For some of our other product candidates, we may decide to collaborate with pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
medical device companies for the development and potential commercialization of those product candidates.  We face
significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators.  Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration
will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions
of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors.  Those factors may include
the design or results of clinical trials, the likelihood of approval by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the
United States, the potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and
delivering such product candidate to patients, the potential of competing products, the existence of uncertainty with respect to
our ownership of technology, which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership without regard to the merits of the
challenge, and industry and market conditions generally.  The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates
or technologies for similar indications that may be available to collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be
more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate.  We may also be restricted under future license agreements
from entering into agreements on certain terms with potential collaborators.  Collaborations are complex and time-consuming
to negotiate and document.  In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large
pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators. 

 
We are currently conducting preclinical testing of protein-based anti-VEGF compounds in collaboration with

Regeneron to explore the feasibility of delivering their drugs in combination with our hydrogel.  The initial drug selected for
preclinical testing under this collaboration is aflibercept, marketed under the brand name Eylea.  We may explore broader
collaborations for the development and potential commercialization of our hydrogel technology in combination with other
large molecules with targets other than VEGF for the treatment of back-of-the-eye diseases and conditions. 

 
If we are unable to reach agreements with suitable collaborators on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, we

may have to curtail the development of a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our
other development programs, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or
increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense.  If we elect to fund
and undertake development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional expertise and
additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.  If we fail to enter into collaborations and
do not have sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the necessary development and commercialization activities, we may
not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market or continue to develop our product platform. 

 
Although the majority of our clinical development is administered and managed by our own employees, we have relied,
and may continue to rely, on third parties for certain aspects of our clinical development, and those third parties may not
perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials.
 

Our employees have administered and managed most of our clinical development work, including our clinical trials for
ReSure Sealant and our clinical trials for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain
following cataract surgery.  However, we have relied and may continue to rely on third parties, such as contract
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research organizations, or CROs, to conduct future clinical trials of our product candidates, including OTX-TP for the
treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension.  If we deem necessary, we may engage third parties, such as CROs, clinical
data management organizations, medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct or assist in our clinical trials or
other clinical development work.  If we are unable to enter into an agreement with a CRO or other service provider when
required, our product development activities would be delayed. 

 
Our reliance on third parties for research and development activities reduces our control over these activities but does

not relieve us of our responsibilities.  For example, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is
conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial.  Moreover, the FDA requires us to
comply with standards, commonly referred to as good clinical practices for conducting, recording and reporting the results of
clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality
of trial participants are protected.  We are also required to register ongoing clinical trials and post the results of completed
clinical trials on a government-sponsored database, ClinicalTrials.gov, within specified timeframes.  Failure to do so can
result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.  If we engage third parties and they do not successfully
carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for
our product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product
candidates. 
 
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
 
We may be unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products, or the scope of the patent
protection obtained may not be sufficiently broad, such that our competitors could develop and commercialize technology
and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and products may
be impaired.
 

Our success depends in large part on our and our licensor’s ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the
United States and other countries with respect to our proprietary technology and products.  We and our licensor have sought
to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our novel
technologies, products and product candidates.  Some of our licensed patents that we believe are integral to our hydrogel
technology platform have terms that extend through at least 2024.  However, other broader patents within our patent portfolio
expire have already expired.  Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new
product candidates, patents protecting our candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are
commercialized.  As a result, our patent portfolio would be less effective in excluding others from commercializing products
similar or identical to ours.  The patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not have filed or
prosecuted and may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a
timely manner.  It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output
before it is too late to obtain patent protection. 

 
In some circumstances, we do not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent

applications, or to enforce or maintain the patents, covering technology that we license from third parties.  In particular, the
license agreement that we have entered into with Incept LLC, or Incept, an intellectual property holding company, which
covers all patent rights and a significant portion of the technology for ReSure Sealant and our product candidates, provides
that, with limited exceptions, Incept has sole control and responsibility for ongoing prosecution for  certain  patents covered
by the license agreement.  In addition, although we have a right under the Incept license to bring suit against third parties
who infringe such licensed patents in our fields, other Incept licensees may also have the right to enforce these patents in
their own respective fields without our oversight or control.  Those other licensees may choose to enforce our licensed
patents in a way that harms our interest, for example, by advocating for claim interpretations or agreeing on invalidity
positions that conflict with our positions or our interest.  For example, three of our licensed patents related to ReSure Sealant
were invalidated and rendered unenforceable following their assertion by Integra LifeSciences Holdings Corporation, another
licensee of Incept. We also have no right to control the defense of such  licensed patents if their validity or scope is
challenged before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, European Patent Office, or other patent office or
tribunal.  Instead, we would essentially rely on our licensor to defend such challenges, and it may not do so in a way that
would best protect our interests.  Therefore, certain of our licensed patents and applications may not be prosecuted, enforced,
defended or maintained in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business.  If Incept fails to prosecute, enforce or
maintain such patents, or loses rights to those patents, our licensed patent portfolio may be reduced or eliminated. 
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The patent position of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies generally is highly uncertain,

involves complex legal and factual questions and has in recent years been the subject of much litigation.  As a result, the
issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights, including our licensed patent rights, are
highly uncertain.  Our and our licensor’s pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which
protect our technology or products or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and
products.  In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States.  For example, unlike patent law in the United States, European patent law precludes the patentability of methods of
treatment of the human body and imposes substantial restrictions on the scope of claims it will grant if broader than
specifically disclosed embodiments.  Moreover, we have no patent protection and likely will never obtain patent protection
for ReSure Sealant outside the United States and Canada.  We have only three issued patents outside of the United States that
cover all three intracanalicular insert products and product candidates.  We have three licensed patent families in Europe and
certain other parts of the world for our intravitreal drug delivery product candidates, but only one patent issuance to date
outside of the United States.  Patents might not be issued and we may never obtain any patent protection or may only obtain
substantially limited patent protection outside of the United States with respect to our products. 

 
Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in

the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at
all.  Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we or our licensor were the first to make the inventions claimed in
our licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we or our licensors were the first to file for patent protection of
such inventions.  Databases for patents and publications, and methods for searching them, are inherently limited so it is not
practical to review and know the full scope of all issued and pending patent applications.  As a result, the issuance, scope,
validity, enforceability and commercial value of our licensed patent rights are uncertain.  Our pending and future patent
applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our technology or products, in whole or in part, or which
effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products.  In particular, during prosecution of
any patent application, the issuance of any patents based on the application may depend upon our ability to generate
additional preclinical or clinical data that support the patentability of our proposed claims.  We may not be able to generate
sufficient additional data on a timely basis, or at all.  Moreover, changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the
patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent
protection. 

 
Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent

applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents.  The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-
Smith Act, includes a number of significant changes to United States patent law.  These include provisions that affect the way
patent applications are prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation.  The USPTO recently developed new regulations and
procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated
with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the first to file provisions, only became effective on March 16, 2013.  The first
to file provisions limit the rights of an inventor to patent an invention if not the first to file an application for patenting that
invention, even if such invention was the first invention.  Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith
Act will have on the operation of our business.  However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued
patents.  For example, the Leahy-Smith Act provides a new administrative tribunal known as the Patent Trial and Appeals
Board, or PTAB, that provides a venue for companies to challenge the validity of competitor patents at a cost that is much
lower than district court litigation and on timelines that are much faster.  Although it is not clear what, if any, long term
impact the PTAB proceedings will have on the operation of our business, the initial results of patent challenge proceedings
before the PTAB since its inception in 2013 have resulted in the invalidation of many U.S. patent claims.  The availability of
the PTAB as a lower-cost, faster and potentially more potent tribunal for challenging patents could therefore increase the
likelihood that our own licensed patents will be challenged, thereby increasing the uncertainties and costs of maintaining and
enforcing them.  Moreover, if such challenges occur, as indicated above, we have no right to control the defense.  Instead, we
would essentially rely on our licensor to consider our suggestions and to defend such challenges, with the possibility that it
may not do so in a way that best protects our interests. 

 
We may be subject to a third-party preissuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or become involved in other

contested proceedings such as opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review, post-grant review or interference
proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others.  An adverse determination in any
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such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to
commercialize our technology or products and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to
manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights.  In addition, if the breadth or strength of
protection provided by our patents and patent applications is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with
us to license, develop or commercialize current or future products. 

 
In the United States, the FDA does not prohibit physicians from prescribing an approved product for uses that are not

described in the product’s labeling.  Although use of a product directed by off-label prescriptions may infringe our method-
of-treatment patents, the practice is common across medical specialties, particularly in the United States, and such
infringement is difficult to detect, prevent or prosecute.  In addition, patents that cover methods of use for a medical device
cannot be enforced against the party that uses the device, but rather only against the party that makes them.  Such indirect
enforcement is more difficult to achieve. 

 
The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our licensed

patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad.  Such challenges may result in loss
of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit
our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of
the patent protection of our technology and products.  Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and
regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such
candidates are commercialized.  As a result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others
from commercializing products similar or identical to ours. 

 
Because the active pharmaceutical ingredients in our products and product candidates are available on a generic basis,

or are soon to be available on a generic basis, competitors will be able to offer and sell products with the same active
pharmaceutical ingredient as our products so long as these competitors do not infringe our patents or any patents that we
license.  These patents largely relate to the hydrogel composition of our intracanalicular inserts and the drug-release design
scheme of our inserts.  As such, if a third party were able to design around the formulation and process patents that we license
and create a different formulation using a different production process not covered by our patents or patent applications, we
would likely be unable to prevent that third party from manufacturing and marketing its product. 

 
If we are not able to obtain patent term extensions in the United States under the Hatch-Waxman Act and in foreign
countries under similar legislation, thereby potentially extending the term of our marketing exclusivity for our product
and product candidates, our business may be impaired.
 

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one of the
U.S. patents covering each of such product candidates or the use thereof may be eligible for up to five years of patent term
restoration under the Hatch-Waxman Act.  The Hatch-Waxman Act allows a maximum of one patent to be extended per
FDA-approved product.  Patent term extension also may be available in certain foreign countries upon regulatory approval of
our product candidates.  Nevertheless, we may not be granted patent term extension either in the United States or in any
foreign country because of, for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of
relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements.  Moreover, the term of extension, as well as the scope
of patent protection during any such extension, afforded by the governmental authority could be less than we request. 

 
Further, our license from Incept does not provide us with the right to control decisions by Incept or its other licensees

on Orange Book listings or patent term extension decisions under the Hatch-Waxman Act.  Thus, if one of our important
licensed patents is eligible for a patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act, and it covers a product of another
Incept licensee in addition to our own product candidate, we may not be able to obtain that extension if the other licensee
seeks and obtains that extension first. 

 
If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or restoration, or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the
period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product may be shortened and our competitors may
obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration sooner, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly
materially. 
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We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our licensed patents or other intellectual property, which could
be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.
 

Competitors may infringe our licensed patents or other intellectual property.  As a result, to counter infringement or
unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming.  Under the
terms of our license agreement with Incept, we have the right to initiate suit against third parties who we believe infringe on
the patents subject to the license.  Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert
counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents.  In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding, a court may
decide that a patent we have rights to is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe the patent’s claims narrowly or
refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology
in question.  An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly.  Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual
property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this
type of litigation. 

 
Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome
of which would be uncertain and could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.
 

Our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our products and product
candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties.  There is
considerable intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology, medical device, and pharmaceutical industries.  We may
become party to, or threatened with, infringement litigation claims regarding our products and technology, including claims
from competitors or from non-practicing entities that have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patent
portfolio may have no deterrent effect.  Moreover, we may become party to future adversarial proceedings or litigation
regarding our patent portfolio or the patents of third parties.  Such proceedings could also include contested post-grant
proceedings such as oppositions, inter partes review, reexamination, interference or derivation proceedings before the
USPTO or foreign patent offices.  The legal threshold for initiating litigation or contested proceedings is low, so that even
lawsuits or proceedings with a low probability of success might be initiated and require significant resources to
defend.  Litigation and contested proceedings can also be expensive and time-consuming, and our adversaries in these
proceedings may have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to prosecuting these legal actions than we or our
licensor can.  The risks of being involved in such litigation and proceedings may increase as our products or product
candidates near commercialization and as we gain the greater visibility associated with being a public company.  Third
parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future.  We
may not be aware of all such intellectual property rights potentially relating to our products or product candidates and their
uses, or we may incorrectly determine that a patent is invalid or does not cover a particular product or product
candidate.  Thus, we do not know with certainty that DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates, or our
commercialization thereof, does not and will not infringe or otherwise violate any third party’s intellectual property. 

 
We are also aware of a U.S. patent with an expiration in 2020 with claims directed to formulations of hydrogels and

which could be alleged to cover the hydrogel formulations used in our product candidates OTX-TP and OTX-MP. Based on
the specifications and file history of that patent, we believe its claims should be construed with a scope that does not cover
our product candidates. We also believe that such claims, if and to the extent they were asserted against our product
candidates, would be subject to a claim of invalidity. Further, we have been made aware by a third party of three patents
relating to intracanalicular inserts that may relate to, and potentially could be asserted against our intracanalicular insert
product and product candidates, including DEXTENZA. We believe that DEXTENZA does not infringe the claims of one of
more of these patents. We also believe that such claims, if and to the extent they were asserted against our product candidates,
would be subject to a claim of invalidity.  We initiated legal proceedings against one of these patents and administrative
proceedings against the other two patents in order to show that DEXTENZA does not infringe the claims of these patents or
that these patents are invalid.  We have settled the legal proceedings related to one of these patents.  The USPTO has decided
to proceed with the administrative proceeding related to one of the patents while declining to do so for the other.  We
continue to believe that DEXTENZA does not infringe the claims of these patents and that, if and to the extent they were
asserted against DEXTENZA, they would be subject to a claim of invalidity. 

 
 If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from

such third party to continue developing and marketing our products and technology.  However, we may not be able
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to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all.  Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could
be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us.  We could be forced,
including by court order, to cease commercializing the infringing technology or product.  In addition, we could be found
liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent
and could be forced to indemnify our customers or collaborators.  A finding of infringement could also result in an injunction
that prevents us from commercializing our products or product candidates or forces us to cease some of our business
operations.  In addition, we may be forced to redesign our products or product candidates, seek new regulatory approvals and
indemnify third parties pursuant to contractual agreements.  Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential
information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business. 

 
If we fail to comply with our obligations in our intellectual property licenses and funding arrangements with third parties,
we could lose rights that are important to our business.
 

Our license agreement with Incept, under which we license all of our patent rights and a significant portion of the
technology for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and our product candidates, imposes royalty and other financial obligations and
other substantial performance obligations on us.  We also may enter into additional licensing and funding arrangements with
third parties that may impose diligence, development and commercialization timelines and milestone payment, royalty,
insurance and other obligations on us.  If we fail to comply with our obligations under current or future license and
collaboration agreements, our counterparties may have the right to terminate these agreements, in which event we might not
be able to develop, manufacture or market any product that is covered by these agreements or may face other penalties under
the agreements.  Such an occurrence could diminish the value of our product.  Termination of these agreements or reduction
or elimination of our rights under these agreements may result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated agreements with
less favorable terms, or cause us to lose our rights under these agreements, including our rights to important intellectual
property or technology. 

 
Under the terms of our license agreement with Incept, we have agreed to assign to Incept our rights in certain patent

applications filed at any time in any country for which one or more inventors are under an obligation of assignment to
us.  These assigned patent applications and any resulting patents are included within the specified patents owned or
controlled by Incept to which we receive a license under the agreement.  Incept has retained rights to practice the patents and
technology licensed to us under the agreement for all purposes other than for researching, designing, developing,
manufacturing and commercializing products that are delivered to or around the human eye for diagnostic, therapeutic or
prophylactic purposes relating to ophthalmic diseases or conditions.  As a result, termination of our agreement with Incept,
based on our failure to comply with this or any other obligation under the agreement, would cause us to lose a significant
portion of our rights to important intellectual property or technology upon which our business depends.  Additionally, the
field limit of the license and the requirement that we assign to Incept our rights in certain patent applications may restrict our
ability to use certain of our licensed rights to expand our business outside of the specified fields.  If we determine to pursue a
strategy of expanding the use of the hydrogel technology outside of the specified fields, we would need to negotiate and enter
into an amendment to our existing license agreement with Incept or a new license agreement with Incept covering one or
more additional such fields of use or utilize technologies that do not infringe on such licensed rights.  We may not be able to
obtain any such required amendment or new license or to invent or otherwise access other technology on commercially
reasonable terms or at all.

 
We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that our employees or we have misappropriated their intellectual
property, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
 

Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology, medical device or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors.  Although we try to ensure that our employees
do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that these
employees or we have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any
such employee’s former employer.  Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. 
 

In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the development of
intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing
such an agreement with each party who in fact develops intellectual property that we regard as our own.  Our and their
assignment agreements may not be self-executing or may be breached, and we may be forced to
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bring claims against third parties, or defend claims they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard
as our intellectual property. 

 
If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable

intellectual property rights or personnel.  Even if we are successful in prosecuting or defending against such claims, litigation
could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. 

 
Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal
responsibilities.
 

Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us
to incur significant expenses and could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal
responsibilities.  In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a
substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.  Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our
operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution
activities.  We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to conduct such litigation or proceedings
adequately.  Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than
we can because of their greater financial resources.  Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent
litigation or other proceedings could compromise our ability to compete in the marketplace. 

 
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.
 

In addition to seeking patents for our technology, products and product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets,
including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position.  We
seek to protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who
have access to them, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract manufacturers,
consultants, advisors and other third parties.  We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants.  Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and
disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for
such breaches.  Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and
time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable.  In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less
willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets.  If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently
developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that
technology or information to compete with us.  If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed
by a competitor, our competitive position would be harmed. 

 
Risks Related to Regulatory Approval and Marketing of Our Product Candidates and Other Legal Compliance
Matters
 
Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the regulatory approval process is expensive,
time-consuming and uncertain and may prevent us from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of some or all of
our product candidates. If we or any current or future collaborator of ours is not able to obtain, or if there are delays in
obtaining, required regulatory approvals, we or they will not be able to commercialize our product candidates, and our
ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired.

 
The activities associated with the development and commercialization of our products and product candidates,

including design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion,
sale and distribution, are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States
and by the EMA and similar regulatory authorities outside the United States.  Failure to obtain marketing approval for a
product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the product candidate.  We have only received approval to market
DEXTENZA and ReSure Sealant in the United States, and have not received approval to market any of our product
candidates or to market DEXTENZA or ReSure Sealant in any jurisdiction outside the United States. Further, we have only
received approval to market DEXTENZA for the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery
and have not received approval to market DEXTENZA for any other indications. We may determine to seek a CE Certificate
of Conformity, which demonstrates compliance with relevant requirements and
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provides approval to commercialize ReSure Sealant in the European Union.  If we are unable to obtain a CE Certificate of
Conformity for DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant, or any of our product candidates for which we seek European regulatory
approval, we will be prohibited from commercializing such product or products in the European Union and other places
which require the CE Certificate of Conformity.  In such a case, the potential market to commercialize our products may be
significantly smaller than we currently estimate. 

 
The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is expensive and may take many

years, especially if additional clinical trials are required, if approval is obtained at all.  Securing marketing approval requires
the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to regulatory authorities for each
therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and purity.  Securing marketing approval also requires the
submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the
regulatory authorities.  The FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities may determine that our product candidates are not
safe or effective, are only moderately effective or have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other
characteristics that preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use.  In addition, while we have
had general discussions with the FDA concerning the design of some of our clinical trials, we have not discussed with the
FDA the specifics of the regulatory pathways for our product candidates. 

 
As part of its review of the NDA for DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular pain, the FDA completed inspections of

three sites from our two completed Phase 3 clinical trials for compliance with the study protocol and Good Clinical
Practices.  During the first of these inspections, the FDA identified storage temperature excursions for the investigational
product that is labeled to be stored in a refrigerated condition between two degrees and eight degrees Celsius.  We also had
previously addressed a minor temperature deviation report during the conduct of the Phase 3 trials and communicated a
response to the trial sites.  In addition, while investigating the report stemming from the FDA inspection, several more
noteworthy temperature excursions were found to have occurred that had not been fully reported.  Because of the limited
nature of the temperature excursions and historical product testing, including testing on product stored at elevated
temperatures, we believe it is unlikely that drug product performance was significantly impacted.  We have also implemented
a corrective action plan to address clinical compliance and prevent recurrence in other clinical studies. 

 
The FDA also completed two inspections of our manufacturing facility in connection with our NDA for DEXTENZA

for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain.  After each inspection, we received a Form 483 from the FDA pertaining to
deficiencies in our manufacturing processes identified during such inspection.  After we responded to the issues which had
been identified with corrective action plans, we subsequently received a CRL from the FDA.  Following the July 2016 CRL,
we resubmitted our NDA to the FDA in January 2017.  After the May 2017 inspection, we received a Form 483 from the
FDA focused on procedures from manufacturing processes and analytical testing related to the manufacture of drug product
for commercial production.  We received a CRL regarding these and other matters in July 2017.  In November 2017, we
submitted our complete responses to the FDA in an effort to close out the Form 483 deficiencies.  We resubmitted our NDA
for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain in June 2018, and in November 2018 the FDA approved our
NDA. We may be subject to similar inspections in the future for DEXTENZA or for other product candidates for which we
seek FDA approval. If we are unable to address any identified issues successfully or if the FDA determines that the actions
we take to remediate any identified issues to be inadequate, our ability to commercialize any products could be limited,
which could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability.   

 
Changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional

statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the
approval or rejection of an application.  The FDA, the EMA and regulatory authorities in other countries have substantial
discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data is insufficient for
approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies.  In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained
from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate.  Any marketing
approval we or any current or future collaborator of ours ultimately obtains may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-
approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable. 

 
Accordingly, if we or any current or future collaborator of ours experiences delays in obtaining approval or if we or

they fail to obtain approval of our product candidates, the commercial prospects for our product candidates may be harmed
and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired. 
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Failure to obtain marketing approval in foreign jurisdictions would prevent our products or product candidates from
being marketed abroad.
 

In order to market and sell DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant or our product candidates in the European Union and many
other jurisdictions, we or our third-party collaborators must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous
and varying regulatory requirements.  The approval procedure varies among countries and can involve additional
testing.  The time required to obtain approval may differ substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval.  The
regulatory approval process outside the United States generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA
approval.  In addition, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that the product be approved for
reimbursement before the product can be sold in that country.  We or our collaborators may not obtain approvals from
regulatory authorities outside the United States on a timely basis, if at all.  Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by
regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one regulatory authority outside the United States
does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions or by the FDA.  However, a failure or
delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in other
countries.  We may not be able to file for marketing approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our
products in any market. 

 
Additionally, on June 23, 2016, the electorate in the United Kingdom voted in favor of leaving the European Union,

commonly referred to as Brexit. On March 29, 2017, the country formally notified the European Union of its intention to
withdraw pursuant to Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty. The United Kingdom had a period of a maximum of two years from the
date of its formal notification to negotiate the terms of its withdrawal from, and future relationship with, the European Union.
If no formal withdrawal agreement can be reached between the United Kingdom and the European Union, then it is expected
that the United Kingdom’s membership of the European Union would automatically terminate on the deadline, which was
initially March 29, 2019. That deadline has been extended to October 31, 2019 to allow the parties to negotiate a withdrawal
agreement, which has proven to be extremely difficult to date.  Discussions between the United Kingdom and the European
Union will continue to focus on withdrawal issues and transition agreements. However, limited progress to date in these
negotiations and ongoing uncertainty within the government of the United Kingdom sustains the possibility of the United
Kingdom leaving the European Union without a withdrawal agreement and associated transition period in place, which is
likely to cause significant market and economic disruption.

 
Since a significant proportion of the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom is derived from European Union

directives and regulations, Brexit could materially impact the regulatory regime with respect to the approval of our products
or product candidates in the United Kingdom or the European Union. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any
marketing approvals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, would prevent us from commercializing our products or product
candidates in the United Kingdom and/or the European Union and restrict our ability to generate revenue and achieve and
sustain profitability. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek regulatory approval
in the United Kingdom and/or European Union for our product candidates, which could significantly and materially harm our
business.

 
Even if we, or any current or future collaborators, obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates, the terms of
approvals, ongoing regulations and post-marketing restrictions for our products may limit how we manufacture and
market our products, which could materially impair our ability to generate revenue.
 

Once marketing approval has been granted, an approved product and its manufacturer and marketer are subject to
ongoing review and extensive regulation.  We, and any current or future collaborators, must therefore comply with
requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any of our products for which we or our collaborators obtain
marketing approval.  Promotional communications with respect to drug products, biologics, and medical devices are subject
to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the information in the product’s approved
labeling.  Thus, if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, the accompanying label may limit the approved
use of our product, which could limit sales of the product. 

 
The FDA required two post-approval studies as a condition for approval of our premarket approval application for

ReSure Sealant.  The first post-approval study, identified as the Clinical PAS, was to enroll at least 598 patients to confirm
that ReSure Sealant can be used safely by physicians in a standard cataract surgery practice and to confirm the incidence of
the most prevalent adverse ocular events identified in our pivotal study of ReSure Sealant in eyes treated with ReSure
Sealant.  We submitted the final study report of the Clinical PAS to the FDA in June 2016, and the FDA has confirmed the
Clinical PAS has been completed.  The second post-approval study, identified as the Device Exposure
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Registry Study, is intended to link to the Medicare database to ascertain if patients are diagnosed or treated for
endophthalmitis within 30 days following cataract surgery and application of ReSure Sealant.  The Device Exposure Registry
Study is required to include at least 4,857 patients.  In December 2015, the CMS denied our application for a tracking or
research code for ReSure Sealant commercial use.  In July 2016, the FDA approved the Device Exposure Registry Study
protocol.  We are required to provide periodic reports to the FDA on the progress of this post-approval study until it is
completed.  We initiated enrollment in this study in December 2016 and submitted our first progress report to FDA in
January 2017. Due to difficulties in establishing an acceptable way to link ReSure Sealant to the Medicare database and lack
of investigator interest, we have been unable to enroll trial sites and patients, collect patient data and report study data to the
FDA.  On October 18, 2018, we received a warning letter from the FDA, dated October 17, 2018, relating to our compliance
with data collection and information reporting obligations in this study.  We appealed the warning letter from the FDA.  In
December 2018, the FDA rejected our appeal. A teleconference was held with the FDA in January 2019 resulting in tentative
agreement on a proposed retrospective registry study of endophthalmitis rates to satisfy the Device Exposure Registry Study
requirements.  We are working with the registry vendor to finalize a formal study protocol which we intend to submit to the
FDA for comment before the study is conducted.  Following review of the results from these post-approval studies, any
concerns with respect to endophthalmitis that we are unable to address due to the lack of completion of the study would
negatively affect our ability to commercialize ReSure Sealant.  Failure by us to conduct the Device Exposure Registry Study
to the FDA’s satisfaction may result in withdrawal of the FDA’s approval of ReSure Sealant or other regulatory action.   

In addition, manufacturers of approved products and those manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with
extensive FDA requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMPs
applicable to drug and biologic manufacturers or quality assurance standards applicable to medical device manufacturers,
which include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of
records and documentation and reporting requirements.  We, any contract manufacturers we may engage in the future, our
current or future collaborators and their contract manufacturers will also be subject to other regulatory requirements,
including submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements,
requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians, recordkeeping, and costly post-marketing studies or clinical
trials and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product such as the requirement to implement a risk evaluation
and mitigation strategy. 

 
Accordingly, assuming we, or any current or future collaborators, receive marketing approval for one or more of our

product candidates, we, and any current or future collaborators, and our and their contract manufacturers will continue to
expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, product
surveillance and quality control.  If we, and any current or future collaborators, are not able to comply with post-approval
regulatory requirements, we, and any current or future collaborators, could have the marketing approvals for our products
withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our, or any current or future collaborators’, ability to market any products could be
limited, which could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability.  Further, the cost of compliance with post-
approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition. 

 
We may be subject to substantial penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience
unanticipated problems with our products.
 

Violations of the FDCA relating to the promotion or manufacturing of drug products, biologics or medical devices may
lead to investigations by the FDA, Department of Justice, or DOJ, and state attorneys general alleging violations of the
FDCA, federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, as well as state consumer protection laws.  In addition, later
discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products, manufacturers or manufacturing
processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

 
· restrictions on such products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;
 
· restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;
 
· restrictions on product distribution or use of a product;
 
· requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;
 
· warning letters or untitled letters;
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· withdrawal of the products from the market;
 
· refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
 
· recall of products;
 
· fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;
 
· suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;
 
· refusal to permit the import or export of our products;
 
· product seizure or detention;
 
· injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties;
 
· damage to relationships with any potential collaborators;
 
· unfavorable press coverage and damage to our reputation; or
 
· litigation involving patients using our products. 
 

Non-compliance with European Union requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with
requirements related to the development of products for the pediatric population, can also result in significant financial
penalties.  Similarly, failure to comply with the European Union’s requirements regarding the protection of personal
information can also lead to significant penalties and sanctions. 

 
Our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will be subject, directly or indirectly, to
applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which, in the event of a violation,
could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and
future earnings.
 

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and
prescription and use of DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and any product candidates for which we obtain marketing
approval.  Our future arrangements with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors may expose us to broadly
applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing
approval.  Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:

 
· the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully

soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce
or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation
or arranging of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program
such as Medicare and Medicaid;

 
· the federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower or

qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to
be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal healthcare program or making a false
statement or record material to payment of a false claim or avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation
to pay money to the federal government, with potential liability including mandatory treble damages and
significant per-claim penalties, currently set at $5,500 to $11,000 per false claim;
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· the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and
civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements
relating to healthcare matters;

 
· HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its

implementing regulations, also imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to
safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

 
· the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires applicable manufacturers of covered products to

report payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals, with data collection
beginning in August 2013; and

 
· analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws and

transparency statutes, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items
or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers. 

 
Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance

guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and may require product
manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare
providers or marketing expenditures.  State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in
some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts. 
 

If our operations or the operations of our present and future collaborators are found to be in violation of any of the laws
described above or any governmental regulations that apply to us or them, we or they may be subject to penalties, including
civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations.  Any penalties, damages,
fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our or their financial results.  We are developing
and implementing a corporate compliance program designed to ensure that we will market and sell any future products that
we successfully develop from our product candidates in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, but we cannot
guarantee that this program will protect us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a
failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations.  If any such actions are instituted against us and we are not
successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business,
including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions. 

 
Efforts to ensure that our business with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will

involve substantial costs. We do not have a fully developed compliance program and will need to establish a more robust
compliance infrastructure to address our needs in this area. We may fail to establish appropriate compliance measures, and
even with a stronger program in place, it is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices
may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other
healthcare laws and regulations.  If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental
regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines,
imprisonment, exclusion of products from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations.  If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom
we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or
administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs. 

 
The provision of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or encourage the prescription, recommendation,

endorsement, purchase, supply, order or use of medicinal products is also prohibited in the European Union. The provision of
benefits or advantages to physicians is governed by the national anti-bribery laws of European Union Member States, such as
the U.K. Bribery Act 2010. Infringement of these laws could result in substantial fines and imprisonment.

 
Payments made to physicians in certain European Union Member States must be publicly disclosed. Moreover,

agreements with physicians often must be the subject of prior notification and approval by the physician’s employer, his or
her competent professional organization and/or the regulatory authorities of the individual European Union Member
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States. These requirements are provided in the national laws, industry codes or professional codes of conduct, applicable in
the European Union Member States. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in reputational risk, public
reprimands, administrative penalties, fines or imprisonment. 

 
The collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding individuals in the European

Union, including personal health data, is subject to the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR,
which became effective on May 25, 2018. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on
companies that process personal data, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data, obtaining
consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, providing information to individuals regarding data processing
activities, implementing safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal data, providing notification of data
breaches, and taking certain measures when engaging third-party processors. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the
transfer of personal data to countries outside the European Union, including the United States, and permits data protection
authorities to impose large penalties for violations of the GDPR, including potential fines of up to €20 million or 4% of
annual global revenues, whichever is greater.  The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer
associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages
resulting from violations of the GDPR.  Compliance with the GDPR will continue to be a rigorous and time-intensive process
that may increase our cost of doing business or require us to change our business practices, and despite those efforts, there is
a risk that we may be subject to fines and penalties, litigation, and reputational harm in connection with our European
activities.

 
Under the Cures Act and the Trump Administration’s regulatory reform initiatives, the FDA’s policies, regulations and
guidance may be revised or revoked in a manner that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product
candidates, which would impact our ability to generate revenue.

In December 2016, the 21st Century Cures Act, or Cures Act, was signed into law. The Cures Act, among other things,
is intended to modernize the regulation of drugs and spur innovation, but its ultimate implementation is unclear. If we are
slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not
able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we may not
achieve or sustain profitability, which would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations.

 
We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation

or administrative or executive action, either in the United States or abroad. For example, certain policies of the Trump
administration may impact our business and industry. Namely, the Trump administration has taken several executive actions,
including the issuance of a number of Executive Orders, that could impose significant burdens on, or otherwise materially
delay, the FDA’s ability to engage in routine regulatory and oversight activities such as implementing statutes through
rulemaking, issuance of guidance, and review and approval of marketing applications. An under‑staffed FDA could result in
delays in the FDA’s responsiveness or in its ability to review submissions or applications, issue regulations or guidance, or
implement or enforce regulatory requirements in a timely fashion or at all. Moreover, on January 30, 2017, President Trump
issued an Executive Order, applicable to all executive agencies, including the FDA, which requires that for each notice of
proposed rulemaking or final regulation to be issued in fiscal year 2017, the agency shall identify at least two existing
regulations to be repealed, unless prohibited by law. These requirements are referred to as the “two‑for‑one” provisions. This
Executive Order includes a budget neutrality provision that requires the total incremental cost of all new regulations in the
2017 fiscal year, including repealed regulations, to be no greater than zero, except in limited circumstances. For fiscal years
2018 and beyond, the Executive Order requires agencies to identify regulations to offset any incremental cost of a new
regulation and approximate the total costs or savings associated with each new regulation or repealed regulation. In interim
guidance issued by the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs within OMB on February 2, 2017, the administration
indicates that the “two‑for‑one” provisions may apply not only to agency regulations, but also to significant agency guidance
documents. In addition, on February 24, 2017, President Trump issued an executive order directing each affected agency to
designate an agency official as a “Regulatory Reform Officer” and establish a “Regulatory Reform Task Force” to implement
the two‑for‑one provisions and other previously issued executive orders relating to the review of federal regulations, however
it is difficult to predict how these requirements will be implemented, and the extent to which they will impact the FDA’s
ability to exercise its regulatory authority. If these executive actions impose constraints on the FDA’s ability to engage in
oversight and implementation activities in the normal course, our business may be negatively impacted.
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Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us and any current or future collaborators to obtain
marketing approval of and commercialize our products or product candidates and affect the prices we, or they, may
obtain.
 

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and
proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that could, among other things, prevent or delay marketing approval of our
drug candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability, or the ability of any future collaborators, to
profitably sell any drugs for which we, or they, obtain marketing approval. We expect that current laws, as well as other
healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional
downward pressure on the price that we, or any future collaborators, may receive for any approved drugs.

 
Among the provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or ACA, of potential importance to our

business and our drug candidates are the following:
 

· an annual, non-deductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription drugs
and biologic agents;

 
· an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program;
 
· expansion of healthcare fraud and abuse laws, including the civil False Claims Act and the federal Anti-Kickback

Statute, new government investigative powers and enhanced penalties for noncompliance;
 
· a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-

of-sale discounts off negotiated prices to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition
for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D;

 
· extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability;
 
· expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs;
 
· expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing program;
 
· new requirements to report certain financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals;
 
· a new requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to physicians; and
 
· a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative

clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research.
 

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. These changes include the
Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among other things, led to aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up
to 2% per fiscal year that started in 2013 and will stay in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken,
and the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several types of
providers and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three
to five years. These new laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding and otherwise
affect the prices we may obtain for any of our product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval or the
frequency with which any such  product candidate or product is prescribed or used. Further, there have been several recent
U.S. congressional inquiries and proposed state and federal legislation designed to, among other things, bring more
transparency to drug pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, reduce the costs of
drugs under Medicare and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products.

 
We expect that these healthcare reforms, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future,

may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, new payment
methodologies and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product and/or the level of
reimbursement physicians receive for administering any approved product we might bring to market.
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Reductions in reimbursement levels may negatively impact the prices we receive or the frequency with which our products
are prescribed or administered. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in
a similar reduction in payments from private payors.

 
With enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the 2017 Tax Act, which was signed by President Trump on

December 22, 2017, Congress repealed the “individual mandate.”  The repeal of this provision, which requires most
Americans to carry a minimal level of health insurance, has become effective.  According to the Congressional Budget
Office, the repeal of the individual mandate will cause 13 million fewer Americans to be insured in 2027 and premiums in
insurance markets may rise.  Moreover, on December 14, 2018, a United States District Court judge in the Northern District
of Texas ruled that the individual mandate portion of the ACA is an essential and inseverable feature of the ACA, and
therefore because the mandate was repealed as part of the 2017 Tax Act, the remaining provisions of the ACA are invalid as
well. The Trump administration and CMS have both stated that the ruling will have no immediate effect, and on December
30, 2018 the same judge issued an order staying the judgment pending appeal. It is unclear how this decision and any
subsequent appeals and other efforts to repeal and replace the ACA will impact the ACA and our business. Litigation and
legislation over the ACA are likely to continue, with unpredictable and uncertain results.

 
Furthermore, since January 2017, President Trump has signed two Executive Orders designed to delay the

implementation of certain provisions of the ACA or otherwise circumvent some of the requirements for health insurance
mandated by the ACA. One Executive Order directs federal agencies with authorities and responsibilities under the ACA to
waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the ACA that would impose a fiscal or
regulatory burden on states, individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or
medical devices. The second Executive Order terminates the cost-sharing subsidies that reimburse insurers under the ACA.
Several state Attorneys General filed suit to stop the administration from terminating the subsidies, but their request for a
restraining order was denied by a federal judge in California on October 25, 2017. The loss of the cost share reduction
payments is expected to increase premiums on certain policies issued by qualified health plans under the ACA. Further, on
June 14, 2018, the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that the federal government was not required
to pay more than $12 billion in ACA risk corridor payments to third-party payors who argued were owed to them. The effects
of this gap in reimbursement on third-party payors, the viability of the ACA marketplace, providers, and potentially our
business, are not yet known.

 
Further, on December 14, 2018, a U.S. District Court judge in the Northern District of Texas ruled that the individual

mandate portion of the ACA is an essential and inseverable feature of the ACA, and therefore because the mandate was
repealed as part of the 2017 Tax Act, the remaining provisions of the ACA are invalid as well. The Trump administration and
CMS have both stated that the ruling will have no immediate effect, and on December 30, 2018, the same judge issued an
order staying the judgment pending appeal.  The Trump administration has represented to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Fifth Circuit considering this judgment that it does not oppose the lower court’s ruling.  To that end, on May 1, 2019, the
Justice Department filed a brief asking the Court to strike down the entirety of the ACA. Thereafter, on July 10, 2019, the
Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit heard oral argument in this case.  In those arguments, the Trump administration argued
in support of upholding the lower court decision. Litigation and legislation over the ACA are likely to continue, with
unpredictable and uncertain results.

 
In addition, the CMS has recently proposed regulations that would give states greater flexibility in setting benchmarks

for insurers in the individual and small group marketplaces, which may have the effect of relaxing the essential health
benefits required under the ACA for plans sold through such marketplaces. On November 30, 2018, CMS announced a
proposed rule that would amend the Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit regulations to reduce
out of pocket costs for plan enrollees and allow Medicare plans to negotiate lower rates for certain drugs.  Among other
things, the proposed rule changes would allow Medicare Advantage plans to use pre authorization, or PA, and step therapy, or
ST, for six protected classes of drugs, with certain exceptions, permit plans to implement PA and ST in Medicare Part B
drugs; and change the definition of “negotiated prices” while adding a definition of “price concession” in the regulations. It is
unclear whether these proposed changes we be accepted, and if so, what effect such changes will have on our business.
Litigation and legislation over the ACA are likely to continue, with unpredictable and uncertain results. We continue to
evaluate the effect that the ACA and its possible repeal and replacement has on our business.

 
We will continue to evaluate the effect that the ACA and its possible repeal and replacement could have on our

business. It is possible that such initiatives, if enacted into law, could ultimately result in fewer individuals having health
insurance coverage or in individuals having insurance coverage with less generous benefits. While the timing and scope
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of any potential future legislation to amend the ACA is highly uncertain in many respects, it is also possible that some of the
ACA provisions that generally are not favorable for the research‑based pharmaceutical industry could also be repealed along
with ACA coverage expansion provisions.  Accordingly, such reforms, if enacted, could have an adverse effect on anticipated
revenue from product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain marketing approval and
may affect our overall financial condition and ability to develop or commercialize product candidates.

 
The costs of prescription pharmaceuticals in the United States has also been the subject of considerable discussion in

the United States, and members of Congress and the Administration have stated that they will address such costs through new
legislative and administrative measures. The pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is also subject to governmental control
outside the United States. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time
after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may
be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost effectiveness of our product candidates to other available
therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory
levels, our ability to generate revenues and become profitable could be impaired.

 
In addition, on May 11, 2018, the Administration issued a plan to lower drug prices.  Under this blueprint for action,

the Administration indicated that the Department of Health and Human Services, or the HHS, will: take steps to end the
gaming of regulatory and patent processes by drug makers to unfairly protect monopolies; advance biosimilars and generics
to boost price competition; evaluate the inclusion of prices in drug makers’ ads to enhance price competition; speed access to
and lower the cost of new drugs by clarifying policies for sharing information between insurers and drug makers; avoid
excessive pricing by relying more on value-based pricing by expanding outcome-based payments in Medicare and Medicaid;
work to give Part D plan sponsors more negotiation power with drug makers; examine which Medicare Part B drugs could be
negotiated for a lower price by Part D plans, and improving the design of the Part B Competitive Acquisition Program;
update Medicare’s drug-pricing dashboard to increase transparency; prohibit Part D contracts that include “gag rules” that
prevent pharmacists from informing patients when they could pay less out-of-pocket by not using insurance; and require that
Part D plan members be provided with an annual statement of plan payments, out-of-pocket spending, and drug price
increases.

 
At the same time, the Trump administration’s budget proposal for fiscal year 2019 contains further drug price control

measures that could be enacted during the 2019 budget process or in other future legislation, including, for example,
measures to permit Medicare Part D plans to negotiate the price of certain drugs under Medicare Part B, to allow some states
to negotiate drug prices under Medicaid, and to eliminate cost sharing for generic drugs for low-income patients. It is unclear
what, if any, of these measures will be enacted during the Congressional session. Additionally, the Trump administration
released a “Blueprint” to lower drug prices and reduce out of pocket costs of drugs that contains additional proposals to
increase manufacturer competition, increase the negotiating power of certain federal healthcare programs, incentivize
manufacturers to lower the list price of their products and reduce the out of pocket costs of drug products paid by consumers.
While any proposed measures will require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, Congress and the
Trump administration have each indicated that it will continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to
control drug costs. At the state level, legislatures are increasingly passing legislation and implementing regulations designed
to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts,
restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed
to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.

 
At the state level, individual states are increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations

designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints,
discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some
cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional health care
authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and
which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other health care programs. These measures could reduce the
ultimate demand for our products, once approved, or put pressure on our product pricing.  We expect that additional state and
federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state
governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our product candidates
or additional pricing pressures.
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Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post‑approval requirements and restrict sales and
promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted,
or whether the FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the
marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any, may be. Increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s
approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product
labeling and post‑marketing testing and other requirements.

 
Governments outside the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if
any.
 

In some countries, such as the countries of the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject
to governmental control and access.  In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take
considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product.  To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some
countries, we, or any current or future collaborators, may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-
effectiveness of our product to other available therapies.  If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope
or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be materially harmed. 

 
Laws and regulations governing any international operations we may have in the future may preclude us from
developing, manufacturing and selling certain products outside of the United States and require us to develop and
implement costly compliance programs.
 

If we expand our operations outside of the United States, we must dedicate additional resources to comply with
numerous laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we plan to operate.  The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or
FCPA, prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing payment or offering of anything of value,
directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of
the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business.  The FCPA also obligates
companies whose securities are listed in the United States to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring the
company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions of the corporation, including
international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for international
operations. 

 
Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized

problem.  In addition, the FCPA presents particular challenges in the pharmaceutical industry, because, in many countries,
hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered foreign officials.  Certain
payments to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper payments to
government officials and have led to FCPA enforcement actions. 

 
Various laws, regulations and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the United States, or

the sharing with certain non-U.S. nationals, of information classified for national security purposes, as well as certain
products and technical data relating to those products.  If we expand our presence outside of the United States, it will require
us to dedicate additional resources to comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude us from developing,
manufacturing, or selling certain products and product candidates outside of the United States, which could limit our growth
potential and increase our development costs. 
 

The failure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial civil and criminal
penalties and suspension or debarment from government contracting.  The Securities and Exchange Commission also may
suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions. 

 
Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory

standards and requirements.
 
We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct.  Misconduct by employees could include intentional

failures to comply with FDA regulations, to provide accurate information to the FDA, to comply with manufacturing
standards we have established, to comply with federal and state health-care fraud and abuse laws and regulations, to report
financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us.  In particular,
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sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended
to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices.  These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a
wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other
business arrangements.  Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of
clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation.  We have adopted a code of
business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we
take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in
protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with
such laws or regulations.  If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or
asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant
fines or other sanctions. 

 
If we, our collaborators or any third-party manufacturers we engage in the future fail to comply with

environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur significant
costs.

 
We, our collaborators and any third-party manufacturers we may engage in the future are subject to numerous

environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling,
use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes.  From time to time and in the future, our operations
may involve the use of hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological materials, and produce hazardous waste
products.  We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes.  We cannot eliminate the
risk of contamination or injury from these materials.  In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of
hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources.  We
also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties for failure to comply with such laws and
regulations. 

 
Although we maintain general liability insurance as well as workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and

expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not
provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities.  We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort
claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or radioactive
materials. 

 
In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety

laws and regulations.  These current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production
efforts.  Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other
sanctions. 

 
Further, with respect to the operations of any current or future collaborators or third-party contract manufacturers, it is

possible that if they fail to operate in compliance with applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or
properly dispose of wastes associated with our products, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, suffer
reputational harm or experience a disruption in the manufacture and supply of our product candidates or products. 

 
The comprehensive tax reform bill enacted in 2017 could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

 
On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed the 2017 Tax Act into law, which significantly revised the Internal

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The 2017 Tax Act, among other things, contains significant changes to corporate federal
income taxation, including the reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, the
limitation of the tax deduction for net interest expense to 30% of adjusted earnings (except for certain small businesses), the
limitation of the deduction for net operating losses to 80% of current year taxable income and elimination of net operating
loss carrybacks, in each case, for losses arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 (though any such net
operating losses may be carried forward indefinitely), the one-time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless
of whether they are repatriated, the elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions),
immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modification
or repeal many business deductions and credits. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall
impact of the 2017 Tax Act is uncertain and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. In addition, it is
uncertain how various states will
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respond to the 2017 Tax Act. The impact of the 2017 Tax Act on holders of our common stock is also uncertain and could be
adverse. We urge our stockholders to consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect to the 2017 Tax Act and the
potential tax consequences of investing in or holding our common stock

 
We might not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss carryforwards and research and development
tax credit carryforwards.

 
As of December 31, 2018, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $190.6 million, which begin to

expire in 2026, and state net operating loss carryforwards of $161.8 million, which begin to expire in 2026. As of
December 31, 2018, we also had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $7.0 million and state research
and development tax credit carryforwards $3.6 million, which begin to expire in 2026 and 2025, respectively. These net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset our future income tax liabilities.
Under the 2017 Tax Act, federal net operating losses incurred in 2018 and in future years may be carried forward indefinitely,
but the deductibility of such federal net operating losses is limited. It is uncertain how various states will respond to the 2017
Tax Act. If our ability to use our historical net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards is materially limited, it would harm
our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations.

 
 

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth
 

Our future success depends on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified
personnel.

 
We remain highly dependent on the research and development, clinical and business development expertise of our

principal members of our management, scientific and clinical team, including Antony Mattessich, our President and Chief
Executive Officer.  Although we have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers, each of them may
terminate their employment with us at any time.  We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or
other employees. 
 

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel will also be
critical to our success.  The loss of the services of our executive officers or other key employees could impede the
achievement of our research, development and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully
implement our business strategy.  Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take
an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and
experience required to successfully develop, gain regulatory approval of and commercialize products.  Competition to hire
from this limited pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on acceptable
terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel.  We also
experience competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions.  In
addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our
research and development and commercialization strategy.  Our consultants and advisors may be employed by employers
other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their
availability to us.  If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel, our ability to pursue our growth
strategy will be limited. 

 
We expect to expand our development, regulatory and manufacturing capabilities and potentially implement sales,

marketing and distribution capabilities, and as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which
could disrupt our operations.

 
Although we had a reduction in workforce in 2017 primarily related to sales and marketing personnel, we expect our

drug development, clinical, regulatory affairs, manufacturing and our sales and marketing capabilities in the longer term to
grow as we commercialize DEXTENZA and any other product candidates that may receive marketing approval. To manage
our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial
systems, expand our facilities and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel.   We are currently relocating
our corporate headquarters to 24 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA to accommodate our growth.  We are evaluating expanding our
manufacturing operations into 15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA while maintaining our existing operations located at 36 Crosby
Drive, Bedford, MA.  Due to our limited financial resources and our limited experience in managing such anticipated growth,
we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations, or recruit and train additional qualified
personnel.  The expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may
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divert our management and business development resources.  Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of
our business plans or disrupt our operations. 

 
Our internal computer systems, or those of our collaborators or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer

security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of our product development programs.
 
Our internal computer systems and those of our current and any future collaborators, contractors or consultants are

vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication
and electrical failures. While we have not experienced any such material system failure, accident or security breach to date, if
such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our
development programs and our business operations, whether due to a loss of our trade secrets or other proprietary
information or other similar disruptions. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or future clinical trials
could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data.
To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability, our competitive position could be
harmed and the further development and commercialization of our products and product candidates could be delayed.

 
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
 

Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, if they choose to act together, have the ability to control
all matters submitted to stockholders for approval.

 
Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, in the aggregate, beneficially own a large portion of our

capital stock.  As a result, if these stockholders were to choose to act together, they would be able to control all matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval, as well as our management and affairs.  For example, these persons, if they
choose to act together, would control the election of directors and approval of any merger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets. 

 
This concentration of voting power may:

 
· delay, defer or prevent a change in control;
 
· entrench our management and the board of directors; or
 
· delay or prevent a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us on terms that

other stockholders may desire. 
 

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company,
which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or
remove our current management.

 
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or

other change in control of our company that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our
stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares.  These provisions could also limit the price that investors
might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common
stock.  In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these
provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by
making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors.  Among other things, these provisions:

 
· provide for a classified board of directors such that only one of three classes of directors is elected each

year;
 
· allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;
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· limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from our board of directors;
 
· provide for advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder

meetings and nominations to our board of directors;
 
· require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions

by our stockholders by written consent;
 
· limit who may call stockholder meetings;
 
· authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used

to institute a “poison pill” that would work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer,
effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of directors; and

 
· require the approval of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to

cast to amend or repeal specified provisions of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws. 
 

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from
merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person acquired in
excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner. 
 

We are currently subject to legal proceedings related to the decline in our stock price, which could distract our
management and could result in substantial costs or large judgments against us.

 
In July 2017, we experienced a decline in our stock price following our announcement that we had received notice of

the FDA’s determination that it could not approve our NDA for DEXTENZA in its then present form. In addition, the market
prices of securities of companies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry have been extremely volatile and have
experienced fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies.
These fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the past, securities class action litigation
has often been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market prices of their securities. In July and
August 2017, class action lawsuits were filed against us and certain of our current and former executive officers in the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey, which were transferred to the United States District Court for the District
of Massachusetts at our request and were subsequently consolidated. The court dismissed the consolidated cases in April
2019; that dismissal has been appealed. In addition, in July 2017, shareholder derivative actions were filed against certain of
our current and former executive officers, certain of our current and former board members, and two of our investors and
against the company as a nominal defendant, in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts and in
Massachusetts Superior Court (Suffolk County).  These actions were re-filed in October and December 2017, were
consolidated by court order in January 2018, and are now pending under one docket in Massachusetts Superior Court
(Suffolk County).  In January 2018, a third shareholder derivative action was filed against us, certain of our current and
former executive officers, and certain of our current and former board members in the United States District Court for the
District of Massachusetts.  In February 2018, a fourth shareholder derivative action was filed against us, certain of our
current and former executive officers, certain of our current and former board members, and two of our investors in the
United States District Court for the District of Delaware. We also received subpoenas from the SEC in December 2017 and
August 2018 seeking documents and information concerning DEXTENZA, including related communications with the FDA
and investors. In May 2019, the SEC notified us that the SEC had concluded its investigation. Due to the volatility in our
stock price, we may be the target of similar proceedings in the future. 

 
In connection with such legal proceedings, we could incur substantial costs and such costs and any related settlements

or judgments may not be covered by insurance. We could also suffer an adverse impact on our reputation and a diversion of
management’s attention and resources, which could cause serious harm to our business, operating results and financial
condition.
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An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.
 
Our shares of common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market on July 25, 2014. Given the limited trading

history of our common stock, there is a risk that an active trading market for our shares will not be sustained, which could put
downward pressure on the market price of our common stock and thereby affect the ability of our stockholders to sell their
shares.

 
 

The price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses
for holders of our common stock.

 
Our stock price may be volatile.  The stock market in general and the market for smaller biopharmaceutical companies

in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance.  As a result of
this volatility, our stockholders may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price at which they purchased
it.  The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including:

 
· our success in commercializing DEXTENZA, ReSure Sealant and any product candidates for which we

obtain marketing approval;
 
· the success of competitive products or technologies;
 
· results of clinical trials of our product candidates;
 
· results of clinical trials of product candidates of our competitors;
 
· regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;
 
· developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights;
 
· the recruitment or departure of key scientific or management personnel;
 
· the level of expenses related to any of our product candidates or clinical development programs;
 
· the results of our efforts and the efforts of our current and future collaborators to discover, develop, acquire

or in-license additional products, product candidates or technologies for the treatment of ophthalmic
diseases or conditions, the costs of commercializing any such products and the costs of development of any
such product candidates or technologies;

 
· actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or

recommendations by securities analysts;
 
· variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;
 
· the ability to secure third-party reimbursement for our products or product candidates;
 
· changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;
 
· market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;
 
· general economic, industry and market conditions; and
 
· the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section. 
 

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class-action
litigation has often been instituted against that company.  We also may face securities class-action litigation if we cannot
obtain regulatory approvals for or if we otherwise fail to commercialize DEXTENZA, OTX-TP or our other product
candidates.  As described in “Item 1— Legal Proceedings,” we and certain of our current and former executive officers
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and current and former board members have been named as defendants in purported class action lawsuits and derivative
lawsuits.  These proceedings and other similar litigation, if instituted against us, could cause us to incur substantial costs to
defend such claims and divert management’s attention and resources. 

 
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to

fall.
 
Persons who were our stockholders prior to our initial public offering continue to hold a substantial number of shares

of our common stock.  If such persons sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline. 

 
In addition, shares of common stock that are either subject to outstanding options or reserved for future issuance under

our stock incentive plans will become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of
various vesting schedules and Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and, in any event, we
have filed a registration statement permitting shares of common stock issued on exercise of options to be freely sold in the
public market.  If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public
market, the trading price of our common stock could decline. 

 
Certain holders of our common stock have rights, subject to specified conditions, to require us to file registration

statements covering their shares or, along with certain holders of shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants issued to lenders, to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other
stockholders.  Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our
common stock. 

 
We are an “emerging growth company” and a “smaller reporting company” and the reduced disclosure requirements
applicable to such companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

 
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS

Act, and may remain an emerging growth company until December 31, 2019, provided that, if the market value of our
common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time or if we have annual
gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more in any fiscal year, we would cease to be an emerging growth company as of
December 31 of the applicable year.  We also would cease to be an emerging growth company if we issue more than $1
billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period.  As an emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to
rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies.  These exemptions include:

 
· not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal

control over financial reporting;
 
· not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s
report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;

 
· reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and
 
· exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and

shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. 
 

We expect to continue to take advantage of some or all of the available exemptions. 
 
We are also a “smaller reporting company,” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended. We would cease to be a smaller reporting company if we have a non-affiliate public float in excess of $250 million
and annual revenues in excess of $100 million, or a non-affiliate public float in excess of $700 million, determined on an
annual basis. Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a smaller reporting
company, which would allow us to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements.  In
addition to the above reduced disclosure requirements applicable to EGCs, as a smaller reporting
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company, we are permitted and intend to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other
public companies that are not smaller reporting companies. These exemptions include:

 
· being permitted to provide only two years of audited consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K, with correspondingly reduced “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” disclosure;

 
· not being required to furnish a contractual obligations table in “Management's Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations”; and
 

· not being required to furnish a stock performance graph in our annual report.
 
We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions.  If

some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile. 

 
In addition, the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition

period for complying with new or revised accounting standards.  This allows an emerging growth company to delay the
adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.  We have
irrevocably elected not to delay such adoption of new or revised accounting standards, and, as a result, we will comply with
new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. 

 
We incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is now required to

devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices.
 
As a public company, and particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth company, we incur significant legal,

accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.  The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of The Nasdaq Global Market and other
applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including establishment and
maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices.  Our management and other
personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives.  Moreover, these rules and regulations have
increased our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. 

 
For as long as we remain an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various

reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies as described in
the preceding risk factor. 

 
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, we will be required to furnish a report by

our management on our internal control over financial reporting.  However, while we remain an emerging growth company,
we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent
registered public accounting firm.  To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, we will be engaged
in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging.  In
this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a
detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to
improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement
a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting.  Despite our efforts, there is a
risk that we will not be able to conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective as required by Section 404.  If we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting, it could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability
of our consolidated financial statements. 
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Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, capital
appreciation, if any, will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain.
 

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock.  We currently intend to retain all of our future
earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of our business.  In addition, the terms of our Credit Agreement and
any future debt agreements that we may enter into, may preclude us from paying dividends without the lenders’ consent or at
all.  As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.

 
Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

 
On July 9, 2019, we issued to Christopher White, who became Senior Vice President, Head of Business Development,

a non-statutory stock option to purchase an aggregate of 60,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $5.13 per
share. Subject to Mr. White’s continued service to the company, the stock option will vest over a four-year period, with 25%
of the shares underlying the option award vesting on the one-year anniversary of the grant date and the remaining 75% of the
shares underlying the award vesting monthly thereafter.  The stock option was issued outside of the Company’s 2014 Stock
Incentive Plan as an inducement material to Mr. White’s acceptance of entering into employment with us in accordance with
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4). 
 
Item 5. Other Information.

 
As previously announced, Kevin Hanley notified us on May 10, 2019, of his intent to resign from his position as our

Senior Vice President, Technical Operations.  On August 2, 2019, or the Agreement Date, we and Mr. Hanley entered into a
transition, separation and release of claims agreement, or the Transition Agreement, to formalize the terms of Mr. Hanley’s
separation from the company.  Pursuant to the Transition Agreement, Mr. Hanley has resigned from any and all positions he
holds as an officer or employee of the company, effective December 31, 2019, or such earlier date as may be mutually agreed
upon between us and Mr. Hanley.  We refer to such date of separation as the Separation Date. 

 
From the Agreement Date to the Separation Date, which we refer to as the Transition Period, Mr. Hanley has agreed

to continue to serve as our Senior Vice President, Technical Operations.  During such time, Mr. Hanley remains eligible to
receive his base salary and to participate in our benefits plans (pursuant to the terms and conditions of such plans).  Mr.
Hanley also remains eligible to receive a bonus payment for calendar year 2019, payable at the sole discretion of our board of
directors, with a target bonus rate of 35% of his base salary as of the Agreement Date, to be prorated if the Separation Date
occurs prior to December 31, 2019.  We refer to this bonus as the Target Bonus.

 
Under the Transition Agreement, Mr. Hanley is entitled to separation benefits following the Transition Period in the

form of (i) the continuation of his base salary as of the Agreement Date for a period of twelve months following the
Separation Date; (ii) the payment of monthly premiums for healthcare and/or dental coverage for a period ending on the
earlier of (x) the date that is twelve months following the Separation Date or (y) the end of the calendar month in which Mr.
Hanley becomes eligible for such benefits under another employer’s plan; and (iii) effective upon the Separation Date, the
acceleration of vesting in full of Mr. Hanley’s outstanding stock options and the extension of the period during which Mr.
Hanley is permitted to exercise such options until the third anniversary of the Separation Date.  In the event that the
Separation Date occurs following a change of control, as further described in the Transition Agreement, Mr. Hanley is
entitled to receive (i) an additional six months of base salary and up to an additional six months of insurance premiums, with
the entirety of the eighteen months of base salary payable in a lump sum due at the first payroll period following the
effectiveness of Mr. Hanley’s release of claims described below and (ii) a bonus payment for calendar year 2019, in lieu of
the Target Bonus described above, equal to one-and-one-half times the Target Bonus.

 
The Transition Agreement also provides for, among other things, a release of claims by Mr. Hanley, non-disclosure

and non-disparagement obligations applicable to Mr. Hanley and non-disparagement obligations applicable to us. In addition,
the Transition Agreement provides that the confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation provisions of the
Employment Agreement remain in effect in accordance with their terms. 
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On the Agreement Date, we and Mr. Hanley also entered into a consulting agreement, or the Consulting Agreement,

to be effective on the day immediately following the Separation Date, pursuant to which Mr. Hanley has agreed to provide
technical consulting and advisory services to us. We have agreed to pay Mr. Hanley consulting fees on an hourly fee-for-
service basis for any consulting services provided under the Consulting Agreement. In accordance with its terms, the
Consulting Agreement terminates on the six-month anniversary of the Separation Date but may be extended upon the mutual
agreement of the parties.  The Consulting Agreement automatically terminates upon the occurrence of certain specified
events including Mr. Hanley’s death, incapacity, or revocation of his release of claims against us. Either we or Mr. Hanley
may terminate the Consulting Agreement immediately upon a material breach by the other party of the Consulting
Agreement or the Transition Agreement or for any reason upon thirty days’ written notice. 
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Item 6. Exhibits.  
 

The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the following Exhibit Index.
 

EXHIBIT INDEX
 
             

    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number     Description of Exhibit     Form     File Number     Date of Filing     Exhibit Number     Filed Herewith
             
10.1+  Transition, Separation and Release of

Claims Agreement by and between
Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. and Dr.
Amarpreet S. Sawhney, dated as of
May 29, 2019. 

 8-K  001-36554  5/30/2019  10.1   

             
10.2+  Consulting Agreement by and between

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. and Dr.
Amarpreet S. Sawhney, dated as of
May 29, 2019. 

 8-K  001-36554  5/30/2019  10.2   

             
10.3  Sublease, dated as of April 4, 2019, by

and among Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
and Holcim (US) Inc.

 10-Q  001-36554  5/10/19  10.4   

             
10.5  Second Amendment to Third Amended

and Restated Credit and Security
Agreement, by and among Ocular
Therapeutix, Inc., MidCap Financial
Trust as administrative agent, and the
Lenders listed therein.

         X

             
10.6+  Transition, Separation and Release of

Claims Agreement by and between
Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. and Kevin
Hanley, dated as of August 2, 2019.

         X

             
10.7+  Consulting Agreement by and between

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. and Kevin
Hanley, dated as of August 2, 2019.

         X

             
31.1  Certification of Principal Executive

Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or
Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X

             
31.2  Certification of Principal Financial

Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or
Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number     Description of Exhibit     Form     File Number     Date of Filing     Exhibit Number     Filed Herewith
32.1  Certification of Principal Executive

Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X

             
32.2  Certification of Principal Financial

Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X

             
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document          X

             
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

Document
         X

             
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Calculation Linkbase Document
         X

             
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label

Linkbase Database
         X

             
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Presentation Linkbase Document
         X

             
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

Linkbase Document
         X

________________________________________

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

 
    

     OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.
    
Date: August 7, 2019  By: /s/ Donald Notman
   Donald Notman
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.5

EXECUTION VERSION

SECOND AMENDMENT TO
THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of August 2, 2019, by and among OCULAR
THERAPEUTIX, INC., a Delaware corporation, (“Borrower”),  MIDCAP FINANCIAL TRUST, a Delaware
statutory trust, in its capacity as administrative agent (“Agent”) for the lenders under the Credit Agreement (as
defined below) (“Lenders”), and the Lenders.

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Agent are parties to that certain Third Amended and Restated
Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2018 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized terms used herein have the meanings given to
them in the Credit Agreement except as otherwise expressly defined herein), pursuant to which Lenders have agreed
to provide to Borrower certain loans and other extensions of credit in accordance with the terms and conditions
thereof;

WHEREAS, Borrower has requested that Lender consent to certain matters which are not otherwise
permitted under the Credit Agreement; and

WHEREAS,  Borrower, Agent and Lenders desire to amend certain provisions of the Credit
Agreement in accordance with, and subject to, the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the covenants and agreements contained
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged,
Borrower, Lenders and Agent hereby agree as follows:

1.         Acknowledgment of Obligations.  Borrower hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that all
Credit Extensions made prior to the date hereof, together with interest accrued and accruing thereon, and fees, costs,
expenses and other charges owing by Borrower to Agent and Lenders under the Credit Agreement and the other
Financing Documents, are unconditionally owing by Borrower to Agent and Lenders, without offset, defense or
counterclaim of any kind, nature or description whatsoever except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting creditor’s rights generally.

2.         Consents.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the
conditions to effectiveness set forth in Section 6 below, Lenders hereby:

(a)        effective as of June 30, 2019, consent to Borrower’s delivery to Agent, on or before July 24,
2019, of (i) Borrower’s unaudited monthly financial statements for the month ended May 31, 2019, as
required under Sections 6.2(a)(i) of the Credit Agreement, and (ii) Borrower’s Compliance Certificate for
the month ending May 31, 2019, as required under Section 6.2(b) of the Credit Agreement; and



 
(b)        acknowledge that Borrower has entered into a lease of real property located at 24 Crosby

Drive, Bedford, Massachusetts, and, notwithstanding Section 7.2(d) of the Credit Agreement, consent to
Borrower’s entry into such lease so long as Borrower delivers (or, if such location contains less than
$100,000 in Borrower’s assets, uses commercially reasonably efforts to deliver) to Agent, on or before
August 31, 2019 (or such later date as Agent may agree in writing in its sole discretion), an executed Access
Agreement with respect to such real property.

To induce Lenders to grant the consent provided for in clause (b), above, Borrower covenants and agrees that in the
event such location contains less than $100,000 in Borrower’s assets on the date hereof and Borrower is unable to
deliver an Access Agreement (despite using commercially reasonable efforts to do so), and at any time hereafter the
amount of assets at such location is equal to or greater than $100,000, Borrower shall (i) promptly deliver written
notice to Agent that the amount of assets exceeds $100,000, and (ii) within 30 days of such notice, deliver to Agent
an Access Agreement.

The consents granted pursuant to this Section 2 relate solely to the matters as specifically described in this Section 2
and nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed as Agent’s or any Lender’s consent to any other
transaction (including, without limitation, Borrower’s taking or omitting to take any action similar to the aforesaid
matter).

3.         Amendments  to Credit Agreement.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
including, without limitation, the conditions to effectiveness set forth in Section 6 below, the Credit Agreement is
hereby amended as follows:

(a)        Section 6.6(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated as follows:

(b)        Reserved.

(b)        Section 15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of
“Minimum Cash Amount” contained therein.

(c)        Exhibit B to the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated as set forth on Annex 1
attached to this Amendment.

4.         No Other Amendments.  Except for the consents set forth and referred to in Section 2 and
amendments set forth and referred to in Section 3, the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents shall
remain unchanged and in full force and effect and Borrower hereby ratifies and reaffirms all of its obligations under
the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents as amended by this Agreement.  Nothing in this
Agreement is intended, or shall be construed, to constitute a novation or an accord and satisfaction of any of
Borrower’s Obligations or to modify, affect or impair the perfection or continuity of Agent’s security interests in,
security titles to or other liens, for the benefit of itself and the Lenders, on any Collateral for the Obligations.

5.         Representations and Warranties.  To induce Agent and Lenders to enter into this Agreement,
Borrower does hereby warrant, represent and covenant to Agent and Lenders that (i)
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each representation and warranty of Borrower set forth in the Credit Agreement and other Financing Documents is
hereby restated and reaffirmed as true, accurate and complete in all material respects on and as of the date hereof as
if such representation or warranty were made on and as of the date hereof (provided, however, that such materiality
qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by
materiality in the text thereof, and provided, further, that those representations and warranties expressly referring to
a specific date shall be true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of such date), (ii) both before and after
giving effect to this Agreement, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and (iii) Borrower
has the power and is duly authorized and has obtained all necessary consents and has taken all necessary actions to
enter into, deliver and perform this Agreement and this Agreement is the legal, valid and binding obligation of
Borrower enforceable against Borrower in accordance with its terms.

6.         Condition Precedent to Effectiveness of this Agreement.  This Agreement shall become effective
as of the date (the “Amendment Effective Date”) upon which:

(a)        Borrower shall have reimbursed Agent and Lenders for all fees, costs and expenses presented
as of the Amendment Effective Date;

(b)        Agent shall notify Borrower in writing that Agent has received one or more counterparts of
this Agreement duly executed and delivered by Borrower, Agent and Lenders;  and

(c)        Agent shall have received all other documents and instruments as Agent or any Lender may
reasonably deem necessary or appropriate to effectuate the intent and purpose of this Agreement.

7.         Release.

(a)        In consideration of the agreements of Agent and Lenders contained herein and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Borrower, on
behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates and Subsidiaries and each of their respective successors, assigns,
and other legal representatives, hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably releases, remises and
forever discharges Agent and each Lender and their respective successors and assigns, and their respective
present and former shareholders, affiliates, subsidiaries, divisions, predecessors, directors, officers,
attorneys, employees, agents and other representatives (Agent, Lenders and all such other persons being
hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Releasees” and individually as a “Releasee”), of and from all
demands, actions, causes of action, suits, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, sums of
money, accounts, bills, reckonings, damages and any and all other claims, counterclaims, defenses, rights of
set‑off, demands and liabilities whatsoever (individually, a “Claim” and collectively, “Claims”) of every
name and nature, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, both at law and in equity, which Borrower
or any of its successors, assigns, or other legal representatives may now or hereafter own, hold, have or
claim to have against the Releasees or any of them for, upon, or by reason of any circumstance, action, cause
or thing whatsoever which arises at any time on or prior to the Amendment Effective Date,

-3-



 
including, without limitation, for or on account of, or in relation to, or in any way in connection with the
Credit Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents or transactions thereunder or related thereto.

(b)        Borrower understands, acknowledges and agrees that its release set forth above may be
pleaded as a full and complete defense and may be used as a basis for an injunction against any action, suit
or other proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted or attempted in breach of the provisions of such
release.

(c)        Borrower agrees that no fact, event, circumstance, evidence or transaction which could now
be asserted or which may hereafter be discovered shall affect in any manner the final, absolute and
unconditional nature of the release set forth above.

8.         Covenant Not To Sue.  Borrower, on behalf of itself and its successors, assigns, and other legal
representatives, hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, covenants and agrees with and in favor of each
Releasee that it will not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory proceeding or otherwise) any Releasee on the basis
of any Claim released, remised and discharged by Borrower pursuant to Section 7 above.  If Borrower or any of its
successors, assigns or other legal representatives violates the foregoing covenant, Borrower, for itself and its
successors, assigns and legal representatives, agrees to pay, in addition to such other damages as any Releasee may
sustain as a result of such violation, all reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by any Releasee as a result of
such violation.

9.         Advice of Counsel.     Each of the parties represents to each other party hereto that it has discussed
this Agreement with its counsel.

10.       Severability of Provisions.  In case any provision of or obligation under this Agreement shall be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any applicable jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way
be affected or impaired thereby.

11.       Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts (including by electronic
mail (pdf) transmittal of executed signature pages), each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which
when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

12.       GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF MARYLAND APPLICABLE TO
CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED IN SUCH STATE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRINCIPLES
THEREOF REGARDING CONFLICTS OF LAWS.

13.       Entire Agreement.  The Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents as and when
amended through this Agreement embody the entire agreement between the parties hereto relating to the subject
matter thereof and supersede all prior agreements, representations and understandings, if any, relating to the subject
matter thereof.
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14.       No Strict Construction, Etc.  The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and

drafting of this Agreement.  In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement
shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise
favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement.  Time is of the
essence for this Agreement.

15.       Costs and Expenses.  Borrower absolutely and unconditionally agrees  to pay or reimburse upon
demand for all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Agent and the Lenders in connection with the
preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other Financing Documents or other
agreements prepared, negotiated, executed or delivered in connection with this Agreement or transactions
contemplated hereby.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank; signature pages follow.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and

delivered as of the day and year specified at the beginning hereof.
 
 BORROWER:
  
 OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.
  
  
 By: /s/ Donald Notman (SEAL)
 Name:Donald Notman
 Title: Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page]

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
SIGNATURE PAGE



 
 AGENT:
  
 MIDCAP FINANCIAL TRUST,
 as Agent for Lenders
  
  
 By: Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
  its investment manager
  
  
 By: Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
  its general partner
  
  
 By: /s/ Maurice Amsellem  (SEAL)
 Name:Maurice Amsellem
 Title: Authorized Signatory
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page]

 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
SIGNATURE PAGE



 
 LENDERS:
  
 MIDCAP FUNDING XIII TRUST
  
  
  
 By: Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
  its investment manager
  
  
 By: Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
  its general partner
  
  
 By: /s/ Maurice Amsellem (SEAL)
 Name:Maurice Amsellem
 Title: Authorized Signatory
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page]
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 SILICON VALLEY BANK
  
  
 By: /s/ Lauren Cole (SEAL)
 Name:Lauren Cole
 Title: Director
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page]
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SIGNATURE PAGE



 
 FLEXPOINT MCLS SPV LLC
  
  
 By: /s/ Daniel Edelman  (SEAL)
 Name:Daniel Edelman
 Title: Vice President
 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
SIGNATURE PAGE



 
 ELM 2018-2 TRUST
  
  
 By: MidCap Financial Services Capital
  Management, LLC, as Servicer
   
   
 By: /s/  John O’Dea (SEAL)
 Name:John O’Dea
 Title: Authorized Signatory
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ANNEX 1

EXHIBIT B

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
   

TO: MidCap Financial Trust, as Agent  
FROM: Ocular Therapeutix Inc.  
DATE: _______________, 20__  
 

The undersigned authorized officer of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Borrower”),
certifies that under the terms and conditions of the Third Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement
between Borrower, Agent and the Lenders (as amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified
from time to time, the “Agreement”):

(1)            Borrower is in complete compliance with all required covenants for the month ending
_______________, 201__, except as noted below;

(2)            there are no Events of Default;

(3)            all representations and warranties in the Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on
this date except as noted below; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any
representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided,
further, that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and
complete in all material respects as of such date;

(4)            Each of Borrower and the other Credit Parties has timely filed all required tax returns and reports,
and has timely paid all foreign, federal, state and local taxes, assessments, deposits and contributions owed except
as otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms of the Agreement; and

(5)            no Liens have been levied or claims made against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries relating to
unpaid employee payroll or benefits of which Borrower has not previously provided written notification to Agent.

For Compliance Certificates delivered in respect of any month ending March 31, June 30, September 30,
and December 31, attached hereto are proposed updates (if any) to the Disclosure Schedule, Intangible Assets
Schedule, Required Permits Schedule, and Products Schedule, to the extent required by the Agreement.

Attached are the required documents supporting the certifications set forth in this Compliance
Certificate.  The undersigned certifies, in his/her capacity as an officer of the Borrower, that these are prepared in
accordance with GAAP consistently applied from one period to the next except as explained in an accompanying
letter or footnotes.  The undersigned acknowledges, in his/her capacity as an officer of Borrower, that no
borrowings may be requested at any time or date of determination that Borrower is not in compliance with any of
the terms of the Agreement, and that compliance is determined not just at the date this certificate is
delivered.  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the
Agreement.

[continued on next page]

 



 
Please indicate compliance status by circling Yes/No under “Complies” column.

   

Reporting Covenant Required Complies

Monthly Financial Statements Monthly within 30 days Yes          No

Audited Financial Statements Annually within 180 days after FYE Yes          No

Board Approved Projections Annually within 60 days after FYE Yes          No

Compliance Certificate Monthly within 30 days Yes          No

 

 



Exhibit 10.6

TRANSITION, SEPARATION AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS AGREEMENT

This Transition, Separation and Release of Claims Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made as of the Agreement
Effective Date (as defined below) by and between Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”) and Kevin Hanley (“Executive”)
(together, the “Parties”).

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive are parties to the Employment Agreement dated as of January 5, 2018 (the
“Employment Agreement”), under which Executive currently serves as Senior Vice President,  Technical Operations of the
Company;

WHEREAS, the Parties mutually have agreed to establish terms for Executive’s transition and separation from
employment with the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Parties agree that the payments, benefits and rights set forth in this Agreement and the consulting
agreement attached to this Agreement as Attachment A (the “Consulting Agreement”) shall be the exclusive payments,
benefits and rights due Executive, and the Parties acknowledge and agree that Executive is not eligible to receive any of the
payments or benefits for which Executive would have been eligible in connection with a termination of employment by the
Company without Cause or by Executive for Good Reason pursuant to the Employment Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Separation Date; Resignation from Position(s); Transition Period; Post-Employment Consulting Arrangement
–

(a) Executive’s effective date of separation from employment with the Company will be December 31, 2019, or such
earlier date as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and Executive  (the “Separation Date”).  Executive
hereby resigns, as of the Separation Date, from his position as Senior Vice President, Technical Operations, and from
any and all other positions he holds as an officer or employee of the Company, and further agrees to execute and
deliver any documents reasonably necessary to effectuate such resignations, as requested by the Company.  As of the
Agreement Effective Date, the Employment Agreement will terminate and be of no further force or effect; provided,
however, that Sections 5,  6,  7, 8 and 12 thereof shall, as amended by this Agreement, remain in full force and effect
both during the Transition Period (as defined below) and thereafter (the “Surviving Sections”).

(b) The period between the Agreement Effective Date and the Separation Date will be a transition period (the
“Transition Period”), during which Executive will continue to perform duties as Senior Vice President, Technical
Operations on a full-time basis and use his best efforts to professionally, timely and cooperatively perform such duties,
as well as such additional transition duties as may be requested by and at the direction of the Company, including,
without limitation, assisting with the transition of his duties and responsibilities to any individual hired by the
Company to assume any of Executive’s responsibilities, including any individual hired in the role of Chief Operations
Officer or Senior Vice President, Technical Operations (collectively, the “Transition Duties”).  During the Transition
Period, Executive will continue to receive his current base salary and to participate in the Company’s benefit plans
(pursuant to the terms and conditions of such plans).  For the avoidance of doubt, Executive shall remain eligible for a
bonus for calendar year 2019, but solely pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and as set forth in Section 2(c) below.
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(c) Upon the Separation Date, Executive shall be paid,  in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll practices, all
unpaid base salary earned through the Separation Date, including any amounts for accrued unused vacation time to
which Executive is entitled through such date in accordance with Company policy, and reimbursement of any properly
incurred unreimbursed business expenses incurred through the Separation Date (together, the “Accrued
Obligations”).  As of the Separation Date, all salary payments from the Company will cease and any benefits
Executive had as of the Separation Date under Company-provided benefit plans, programs, or practices will terminate,
except as required by federal or state law or as otherwise specifically set forth in this Agreement.

(d)  On the date immediately following the Separation Date, the Consulting Agreement between the Company and
Executive shall become effective, and Executive shall continue to provide services to the Company as a consultant
pursuant thereto.  The parties intend that, during the Consultation Period (as such term is defined in the Consulting
Agreement), Executive will provide service to the Company for no more than eight (8) hours per week.

2. Separation Benefits – Provided Executive (i) signs and returns this Agreement and the Consulting Agreement on or
before August 2, 2019, and (ii) signs and returns the Additional Release of Claims attached hereto as Attachment B
(the “Additional Release”) on but not before the Separation Date (provided, however, that if the Separation Date is
fewer than twenty-one (21) days following the Receipt Date (as defined below), Executive must sign and return the
Additional Release no earlier than the Separation Date and no later than the 22  day after the Receipt Date) and does
not revoke the Additional Release, the Company will provide Executive with the following separation benefits in
consideration of Executive’s commitments and obligations set forth in this Agreement and the exhibits and
attachments hereto (the “Separation Benefits”):

a. Severance Pay – Commencing on the Company’s first regularly scheduled payroll date that follows the
Additional Release Effective Date (as defined in the Additional Release) (the “Payment Commencement
Date”) and continuing for twelve (12) months,  Executive will receive salary continuation payments, in
accordance with the Company’s regular payroll practices, in an aggregate amount equal to the base salary that
Executive would have received had he remained employed with the Company between the Separation Date
and the date that is twelve (12) months following the Separation Date and continued to receive his current
base salary as in effect as of the Agreement Effective Date,  less all applicable taxes and withholdings
(“Salary Continuation”); provided, however, that should the Separation Date occur during the twelve (12)
month period following a Corporate Change (as such term was defined in Section 2(d) of the Employment
Agreement, and such period, the “Protected Period”), Executive will receive, in lieu of the Salary
Continuation, and in one lump sum on the Payment Commencement Date, an amount equal to the base salary
that Executive would have received had he remained employed with the Company between the Separation
Date and the date that is eighteen (18) months following the Separation Date and continued to receive his
current base salary as in effect as of the Agreement Effective Date, less all applicable taxes and withholdings.

b. Group Health Insurance – Should Executive be eligible for and timely elect to continue receiving group health
and/or dental insurance coverage under the law known as COBRA, the Company shall, commencing on the
Separation Date (or on such earlier date on which Executive becomes eligible for and timely elects COBRA
continuation
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coverage), and continuing until the earlier of (x) the date that is twelve (12) months following the Separation
Date (or, if the Separation Date occurs during the Protected Period, the date that is eighteen (18) months
following the Separation Date), and (y) the end of the calendar month in which Executive becomes eligible to
receive group health insurance coverage under another employer’s benefit plan  (the “COBRA Contribution
Period”), pay on Executive’s behalf the amount of the premium for such coverage at the same rate that is in
effect on the Separation Date.  The balance of such premiums during the COBRA Contribution Period (if
any), and all premium costs after the COBRA Contribution Period, shall be paid by Executive on a monthly
basis during the elected period of health insurance coverage under COBRA for as long as, and to the extent
that, he remains eligible for and elects to remain enrolled in COBRA continuation coverage.

c. 2019 Bonus – On or before March 15, 2020, the Company shall provide Executive with a bonus payment for
calendar year 2019 equal to 35% of Executive’s current base salary (the “2019 Target Bonus”), less all
applicable taxes and withholdings; provided, however, and for the avoidance of doubt, that if the Separation
Date occurs prior to December 31, 2019, the 2019 Target Bonus shall be pro-rated to reflect the partial year of
service by multiplying such 2019 Target Bonus by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days
Executive was employed during 2019 and the denominator of which is 365 (the “Pro-rated 2019 Target
Bonus”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, should the Separation Date occur during the Protected Period,
Executive shall receive, for calendar year 2019, in lieu of the 2019 Target Bonus (or in lieu of the Pro-rated
2019 Target Bonus, if the Separation Date occurs prior to December 31, 2019), an amount equal to one and
one-half times the 2019 Target Bonus (or one and one-half times the Pro-rated 2019 Target Bonus, if the
Separation Date occurs prior to December 31, 2019).

d. Option Acceleration/Extension of Exercise Period.  Effective as of the Additional Release Effective Date, any
outstanding stock option awards previously granted to Executive by the Company,  and which shall continue
to vest during the Transition Period, shall immediately vest and become fully exercisable, and shall otherwise
remain subject to the applicable award agreements and plan documents. Executive shall have three (3) years
following the Separation Date to exercise any such vested stock options (provided that no option shall be
exercisable later than the original expiration date of such option). Notwithstanding the foregoing or the
provisions of any stock option agreement between the Company and Executive, Executive acknowledges that
any outstanding stock options that were granted in connection with the Executive’s employment with the
Company and that were intended to be incentive stock options at the time of grant will be treated as
nonstatutory stock options as of the Agreement Effective Date.

Other than the Separation Benefits and Accrued Obligations, Executive will not be eligible for, nor shall he have a
right to receive, any payments or benefits from the Company following the Separation Date or the expiration or
termination of the Consultation Period, other than any payments or benefits he may be entitled to receive under the
Consulting Agreement due through such date of expiration or termination (the “Remaining Fees”). For the avoidance
of doubt, the Separation Benefits described herein are in lieu of, and not in addition to, the Severance Compensation
set forth in Section 4(b) of the Employment Agreement.  Executive acknowledges that he will not be eligible to
receive the Separation Benefits (or any payments or benefits from the Company other than the Accrued Obligations) if
he fails to timely enter into this Agreement, the Consulting Agreement, and the Additional Release.
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It is intended that each installment of the separation payments and benefits provided under this Agreement shall be
treated as a separate “payment” for purposes of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and
the guidance issued thereunder (“Section 409A”).  Neither the Company nor Executive shall have the right to
accelerate or defer the delivery of any such payments or benefits except to the extent specifically permitted or required
by Section 409A.

3. Release of Claims – In exchange for the consideration set forth in this Agreement, which Executive acknowledges he
would not otherwise be entitled to receive, Executive hereby fully, forever, irrevocably and unconditionally releases,
remises and discharges the Company, its affiliates, subsidiaries, parent companies, predecessors, and successors, and
all of their respective past and present officers, directors, stockholders, partners, members, employees, agents,
representatives, plan administrators, attorneys, insurers and fiduciaries (each in their individual and corporate
capacities) (collectively, the “Released Parties”) from any and all claims, charges, complaints, demands, actions,
causes of action, suits, rights, debts, sums of money, costs, accounts, reckonings, covenants, contracts, agreements,
promises, doings, omissions, damages, executions, obligations, liabilities, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and
costs), of every kind and nature that Executive ever had or now has against any or all of the Released Parties up to the
date on which he signs this Agreement, whether known or unknown, including, but not limited to, any and all claims
arising out of or relating to Executive’s employment with,  provision of consulting or other services to, separation or
termination from, and/or ownership of securities of the Company, including, but not limited to, all claims under Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Rehabilitation Act,
Executive Order 11246, Executive Order 11141, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act, all as amended; all claims arising out of the Massachusetts Fair Employment Practices Act, Mass. Gen.
Laws ch. 151B, § 1 et seq., the Massachusetts Wage Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 148 et seq. (Massachusetts law
regarding payment of wages and overtime), the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 12, §§ 11H and
11I, the Massachusetts Equal Rights Act, Mass. Gen. Laws. ch. 93, § 102, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 214, § 1C
 (Massachusetts right to be free from sexual harassment law), the Massachusetts Labor and Industries Act, Mass. Gen.
Laws ch. 149, § 1 et seq., Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 214, § 1B (Massachusetts right of privacy law), the Massachusetts
Maternity Leave Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 105D, and the Massachusetts Small Necessities Leave Act, Mass.
Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 52D, all as amended; all common law claims including, but not limited to, actions in
defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, misrepresentation, fraud, wrongful discharge, and breach of
contract (including, without limitation, all claims arising out of or related to the Employment Agreement); all claims
to any non-vested ownership interest in the Company, contractual or otherwise (except as and to the extent explicitly
set forth in Section 2(d)); all state and federal whistleblower claims to the maximum extent permitted by law; and any
claim or damage arising out of Executive’s employment with and/or separation from the Company (including a claim
for retaliation) under any common law theory or any federal, state or local statute or ordinance not expressly
referenced above; provided, however, that this release of claims shall not (i) prevent Executive from filing a charge
with, cooperating with, or participating in any investigation or proceeding before, the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or a state fair employment practices agency (except that Executive acknowledges that he may not recover
any monetary benefits in connection with any such charge, investigation, or proceeding, and Executive further waives
any rights or claims to any payment, benefit, attorneys’ fees or other remedial relief in connection with any such
charge, investigation or proceeding), (ii) deprive Executive of any rights under the stock options described in Section
2(d) above and any other accrued benefits to which Executive has acquired a vested right under any employee benefit
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plan or policy, stock plan or deferred compensation arrangement, or any health care continuation to the extent required
by applicable law; or (iii) deprive Executive of any rights Executive may have to be indemnified by the Company as
provided in any agreement between the Company and Executive or pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation or by-laws.  This release of claims shall not extend to any claims Executive may have against any
persons that are Released Parties to the extent such claims are (x) related solely to Executive’s ownership of the
Company’s stock and (y) unrelated to Executive’s employment or consulting relationship with the Company.

4. Non-Solicitation and Non-Competition Obligations – Executive acknowledges and reaffirms his non-competition
and non-solicitation obligations as set forth in Section 5(b) of the Employment Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenant
Obligations”), which Restrictive Covenant Obligations survive his termination of employment and remain in full force
and effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company agrees that it will not seek to enforce such obligations to the
extent they would prevent Executive from, following the Separation Date, providing consulting or independent
contractor services that (i) are outside the field of ophthalmology, (ii) do not involve or relate to hydrogel
technologies, and (iii) do not otherwise violate Executive’s continuing obligations to the Company as set forth in this
Agreement, or conflict with his service under the Consulting Agreement.

5. Non-Disclosure and Assignment Obligations – Executive acknowledges and reaffirms his obligation, except as
otherwise permitted by Section 9  below, to keep confidential and not to use or disclose any and all non-public
information concerning the Company that he acquired during the course of his employment with the Company, or may
acquire during his service under the Consulting Agreement, including, but not limited to, any non-public information
concerning the Company’s business, operations, products, programs, affairs, performance, personnel, technology,
science, intellectual property, plans, strategies, approaches, prospects, financial condition or development related
matters.  Executive also acknowledges his continuing obligations with respect to: (i) Confidential Information (as
defined in the Employment Agreement) and the non-disclosure and assignment thereof,  as set forth in Section 5(a) of
the Employment Agreement, and (ii) Inventions (as defined by the Employment Agreement) and the assignment
thereof and cooperation with respect thereto, as set forth in Section 6 of the Employment Agreement, which, as
amended by the last sentence of this Section 5, survive his separation from employment with the Company and remain
in full force and effect.  Further, in consideration of this Agreement and the Consulting Agreement, Executive
acknowledges and agrees that Section 5(a) of the Employment Agreement is amended hereby to apply to his services
for the Company during the Consultation Period, and all references in Section 5(a) and 6 of the Employment
Agreement to “Executive”  are amended hereby to refer as well to “Consultant” and all references to “employment”,
“employed” and “Term” therein are amended hereby to refer as well to “consulting services” (as set forth in the
Consulting Agreement), the provision of such services during the Consultation Period, and the Consultation Period, as
applicable.

6. Non-Disparagement – Executive understands and agrees that, except as otherwise permitted by Section 9 below, he
will not, in public or private, make any false, disparaging, negative, critical, adverse, derogatory or defamatory
statements, whether orally or in writing, including online (including, without limitation, on any social media,
networking, or employer review site) or otherwise, to any person or entity, including, but not limited to, any media
outlet, industry group, key opinion leader, financial institution, research analyst or current or former employee, board
member, consultant, shareholder, client or customer of the Company, regarding the Company, or any of the other
Released Parties, or regarding the Company’s business, operations, products, programs, affairs, performance,
personnel, technology, science, intellectual property, plans, strategies, approaches, prospects, financial condition or
development related matters.  For the
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avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not prevent Executive from stating or repeating factual information with
respect to the Company or its assets which is otherwise publicly available.  The Company agrees that its Board
members and its named executive officers (as determined pursuant to Item 402(a)(3) of Regulation S-K) will not, in
public or private, make any false, disparaging, negative, critical, adverse, derogatory or defamatory statements,
whether orally or in writing, including online (including, without limitation, on any social media, networking, or
employer review site) or otherwise, to any person or entity, including, but not limited to, any media outlet, industry
group, key opinion leader, financial institution, research analyst or current or former employee, board member,
consultant, shareholder, client or customer of the Company, regarding Executive; provided, however, that nothing in
this Section 6 shall restrict or otherwise limit such Board members or named executive officers from disclosing events
or circumstances in such manner as they or the Company deem necessary to comply with or satisfy their or the
Company’s disclosure, reporting or other obligations under applicable law.

7. Return of Company Property – Executive confirms that, except as he may be specifically instructed otherwise by
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, no later than the Separation Date (or at such earlier time as requested by the
Company), he will return to the Company all property of the Company, tangible or intangible, including but not
limited to keys, files, records (and copies thereof), equipment (including, but not limited to, computer hardware,
software and printers, wireless handheld devices, cellular phones, tablets, etc.), Company identification and any other
Company-owned property in his possession or control and that he will leave intact all electronic Company documents,
including but not limited to those that he developed or helped to develop during his employment.  Executive further
confirms that,  except as he may be specifically instructed otherwise by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, no
later than the Separation Date (or at such earlier time as requested by the Company), he will cancel all accounts for his
benefit, if any, in the Company’s name, including but not limited to, credit cards, telephone charge cards, cellular
phone and/or wireless data accounts and computer accounts.

8. Confidentiality – Executive understands and agrees that, except as otherwise permitted by Section 9  below, the
contents of the negotiations and discussions resulting in this Agreement and the Consulting Agreement shall be
maintained as confidential by Executive and his agents and representatives and shall not be disclosed except as
otherwise agreed to in writing by the Company and except to his immediate family, legal, financial and tax advisors,
on the condition that any individuals so informed must hold the above information in strict confidence.

9. Scope of Disclosure Restrictions – Nothing in this Agreement or elsewhere prohibits Executive from communicating
with government agencies about possible violations of federal, state, or local laws or otherwise providing information
to government agencies, filing a complaint with government agencies, or participating in government agency
investigations or proceedings.  Executive is not required to notify the Company of any such communications;
provided, however, that nothing herein authorizes the disclosure of information Executive obtained through a
communication that was subject to the attorney-client privilege.  Further, notwithstanding Executive’s confidentiality
and nondisclosure obligations, Executive is hereby advised as follows pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act: “An
individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of
a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or
indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or
(B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under
seal.  An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may
disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding,
if the
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individual (A) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (B) does not disclose the trade secret,
except pursuant to court order.”

10. Cooperation – Executive agrees that, to the extent permitted by law, he shall  cooperate fully with the Company in the
investigation, defense or prosecution of any claims or actions which already have been brought, are currently pending,
or which may be brought in the future against the Company by a third party or by or on behalf of the Company against
any third party, whether before a state or federal court, any state or federal government agency, or a mediator or
arbitrator.  Executive’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or actions shall include, but not be limited to,
being available to meet with the Company’s counsel, at reasonable times and locations designated by the Company, to
investigate or prepare the Company’s claims or defenses, to prepare for trial or discovery or an administrative hearing,
mediation, arbitration or other proceeding, to provide any relevant information in his possession, and to act as a
witness when requested by the Company.  The Company will reimburse Executive for all reasonable and documented
out of pocket costs that he incurs to comply with this paragraph.  Executive further agrees that, to the extent permitted
by law, he will notify the Company promptly in the event that he is served with a subpoena (other than a subpoena
issued by a government agency), or in the event that he is asked to provide a third party (other than a government
agency) with information concerning any actual or potential complaint or claim against the Company.

11. Amendment and Waiver – This Agreement and the Additional Release, upon their respective effective dates, shall be
binding upon the Parties and may not be modified in any manner, except by an instrument in writing of concurrent or
subsequent date signed by duly authorized representatives of the Parties.  This Agreement and the Additional Release
are binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective agents, assigns, heirs,
executors/administrators/personal representatives, and successors.  No delay or omission by the Company in
exercising any right under this Agreement or the Additional Release shall operate as a waiver of that or any other
right.  A waiver or consent given by the Company on any one occasion shall be effective only in that instance and
shall not be construed as a bar to or waiver of any right on any other occasion.

12. Validity – Should any provision of this Agreement or the Additional Release be declared or be determined by any
court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid, the validity of the remaining parts, terms or provisions shall not
be affected thereby and said illegal or invalid part, term or provision shall be deemed not to be a part of this
Agreement or the Additional Release.

13. Nature of Agreement  – Both Parties understand and agree that this Agreement is a transition and separation
agreement and does not constitute an admission of liability or wrongdoing on the part of the Company or Executive.

14. Time for Consideration and Revocation  – Executive acknowledges that he was initially presented with this
Agreement on June 27, 2019 (the “Receipt Date”).  Executive understands that this Agreement shall be of no force or
effect unless he signs and returns this Agreement on or before August 2, 2019 (the day of such execution, the
“Agreement Effective Date”).  Executive further understands that he will not be eligible to receive the Separation
Benefits unless he timely signs and returns the Consulting Agreement, and unless he timely signs, returns, and does
not revoke the Additional Release.

15. Acknowledgments – Executive acknowledges that he has been given a reasonable amount of time to consider this
Agreement, and at least twenty-one (21) days from the Receipt Date to consider the Additional Release  (such 21-day
period, the “Consideration Period”), and that the
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Company is hereby advising him to consult with an attorney of his own choosing prior to signing this Agreement and
the Additional Release.  Executive further acknowledges and agrees that any changes made to this Agreement or any
exhibits or attachments hereto following his initial receipt of this Agreement on the Receipt Date, whether material or
immaterial, shall not re-start or affect in any manner the Consideration Period.  Executive understands that he may
revoke the Additional Release for a period of seven (7) days after he signs it by notifying the Company in writing, and
that the Additional Release shall not be effective or enforceable until the expiration of the seven (7) day revocation
period.    Executive understands and agrees that by entering into the  Additional Release he will be waiving any and all
rights or claims he might have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended by the Older Workers
Benefit Protection Act, and that he will have received consideration beyond that to which he was previously entitled.

16. Voluntary Assent – Executive affirms that no other promises or agreements of any kind have been made to or with
Executive by any person or entity whatsoever to cause him to sign this Agreement, and that he fully understands the
meaning and intent of this Agreement and that he has been represented by counsel of his own choosing.  Executive
further states and represents that he has carefully read this Agreement, understands the contents herein, freely and
voluntarily assents to all of the terms and conditions hereof, and signs his name of his own free act.

17. Governing Law – This Agreement and the Additional Release shall be interpreted and construed by the laws of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without regard to conflict of laws provisions.  Each of the Company and Executive
hereby irrevocably submits to and acknowledges and recognizes the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the courts of
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, or if appropriate, the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts (which courts, for purposes of this Agreement and the Additional Release, are the only courts of
competent jurisdiction), over any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of, under or in connection with this
Agreement and the Additional Release or the subject matter thereof.  Each of the Company and Executive waives any
objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in such courts, waives any objection that such courts are an
inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over either party, and agrees that service of process upon such party in
any such action or proceeding shall be effective if such process is given as a notice in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement.

18. Entire Agreement – This Agreement, including all exhibits and attachments hereto, contains and constitutes the
entire understanding and agreement between the Parties hereto with respect to Executive’s transition and separation
from the Company, separation benefits and the settlement of claims against the Company, and cancels all previous oral
and written negotiations, agreements, commitments and writings in connection therewith; provided, however, for the
avoidance of doubt, that nothing in this Section 18 shall modify, cancel or supersede Executive’s obligations set forth
in the Surviving Sections of the Employment Agreement or Sections 4 and 5 above.

19. Tax Acknowledgement – In connection with the Separation Benefits provided to Executive pursuant to this
Agreement, the Company shall withhold and remit to the tax authorities the amounts required under applicable law,
and Executive shall be responsible for all applicable taxes owed by him with respect to such Separation Benefits under
applicable law.  Executive acknowledges that he is not relying upon the advice or representation of the Company with
respect to the tax treatment of any of the Separation Benefits set forth in this Agreement.  Executive further
acknowledges and agrees that the Company is not making any representations or warranties to him and shall have no
liability to him or any other person if any provisions of or
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payments and benefits provided under this Agreement are determined to constitute deferred compensation subject to
Section 409A but not to satisfy an exemption from, or the conditions of, that section.

20. Counterparts – This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same Agreement.  Facsimile and PDF signatures shall be
deemed to be of equal force and effect as originals.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have set their hands and seals to this Agreement as of the date(s) written below.

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.

By:       /s/Antony Mattessich Date:  August 2, 2019
Name:  Antony Mattessich  
Title:    President & CEO  

 
I hereby agree to the terms and conditions set forth above.  I have been given a reasonable amount of time to consider
this Agreement and I have chosen to execute this on the date below.  I further understand that the Separation Benefits
are contingent upon my timely execution, return and non-revocation of the Additional Release, and that I have been
given at least twenty-one (21) days to consider such Release, and will have seven (7) days in which to revoke my
acceptance after I sign such Release.

Kevin Hanley  
  
/s/ Kevin Hanley Date: August 2, 2019

 

 



 
ATTACHMENT A

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of by and between Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the
“Company”), and Kevin Hanley (the “Consultant”), and will be effective as of the day immediately following the Separation
Date (hereinafter, the “Consulting Effective Date”). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings set forth
in the Transition, Separation and Release of Claims Agreement entered into by the Company and the Consultant (the
“Separation Agreement”) to which this Agreement is attached as Attachment A.

WHEREAS, the Consultant has certain knowledge and expertise regarding the Company as a result of having served
as its Senior Vice President, Technical Operations of the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to have the benefit of the Consultant’s knowledge and experience, and the Consultant
desires to provide consulting services to the Company, all as hereinafter provided in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, the sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Consultant hereby agree as follows:

Section 1.  Services.

(a)         Services; Performance.  The Consultant shall render to the Company the consulting services described in
Exhibit A attached to this Agreement and any additional consulting services as mutually agreed to by the Consultant and the
Company from time to time in writing (collectively, the “Services”). The Consultant shall perform, during such hours as may
be reasonably required for satisfactory performance of the Services, such Services in a professional manner and consistent
with the highest industry standards.  As of the Consulting Effective Date, the Consultant and the Company intend that the
Consultant shall perform the Services for the Company no more than eight (8) hours per week.  The Consultant shall comply
with all rules, procedures and standards promulgated from time to time by the Company with respect to the Consultant’s
access to and use of the Company’s property, information, equipment and facilities in the course of the Consultant’s provision
of Services hereunder.

(b)         Non-Exclusive.  The parties agree that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, (i) the Company shall
be free to obtain consulting and advisory services from any third party, and (ii) the Consultant shall be free to provide
consulting and advisory services to any third party, so long as the provision of such services by the Consultant does not
conflict with (x) the Consultant’s provision of Services to the Company as described in Section 1(a), or (y) the Consultant’s
continuing obligations to the Company as detailed in the Separation Agreement, including the Consultant’s ongoing
Restrictive Covenant Obligations, and his continuing obligations under Sections 5 and 6 of the Employment Agreement, as
such obligations were  amended by the Separation Agreement.

Section 2.  Compensation and Reimbursement.

(a)         Consulting Fees.  During the Consultation Period, the Company shall pay the Consultant consulting fees in
the amount of $350 per hour of Services performed hereunder, to be paid to the Consultant in accordance with Section 2(c)
below (the “Consulting Fees”).

(b)         Expense Reimbursement.  The Company shall reimburse the Consultant for all reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by the Consultant in connection with the performance of the Services under this Agreement, so long as they
are approved in writing in advance by the Company.

 



 
All reimbursements and in-kind benefits provided under this Agreement shall be made or provided in accordance with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 409A”) to the extent that such
reimbursements or in-kind benefits are subject to Section 409A, including, where applicable, the requirements that (i) any
reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the Consultant’s lifetime (or during a shorter period of time specified in this
Agreement), (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible
for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (iii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last
day of the calendar year following the year in which the expense is incurred and (iv) the right to reimbursement is not subject
to set off or liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.

(c)         Itemized Statements.  At the end of any month in which the Consultant performs Services and incurs expenses
in accordance with Section 2(b), the Consultant shall submit to the Company an itemized statement of the Services performed,
including the number of hours worked and the project to which the Services relate, and the expenses incurred, including
appropriate and reasonable documentation.  The Company shall pay the Consultant the amount set forth on such itemized
statement within thirty (30) days after receipt.

(d)         No Employee Benefits.  The Consultant’s relationship with the Company will be that of an independent
contractor, and the Consultant shall not, in connection with this relationship, be entitled to any benefits, coverages or
privileges, including without limitation health insurance, social security, unemployment, workers compensation, or pension
payments, made available to employees of the Company.

Section 3.  Term and Termination.

(a)         Consultation Period.  Subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the term of this Agreement
shall, provided the Consultant has timely entered into the Separation Agreement and Additional Release, commence on the
date immediately following the Separation Date and shall continue until the date that is six (6) months after the Separation
Date unless earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions below (such period, the “Consultation Period”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, the Consultation Period may be extended for an additional period(s) upon the mutual
written agreement of both parties.  The Consultation Period shall automatically terminate upon the death, physical
incapacitation or mental incompetence of the Consultant, or, if the Consultant revokes the Additional Release, upon the date of
such revocation.  This Agreement may further be terminated prior to the date that is six (6) months after the Separation Date in
the following manner: (i) by the Company at any time immediately upon written notice if the Consultant has materially
breached this Agreement or the Separation Agreement; (ii) by the Consultant at any time immediately upon written notice if
the Company has materially breached this Agreement or the Separation Agreement, (iii) by either party for any reason upon
thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other party, or (iv) at any time upon the mutual written consent of the parties hereto.

(b)         Effects of Termination.  In the event of any termination under this Section 3, the Consultant shall be entitled
only to the Consulting Fees (if any) due and payable to the Consultant at the time of such termination and expenses (including
reimbursements) incurred in accordance with Section 2(a) and (b) prior to the effective date of such termination, and no further
payments of any kind will be due under this Agreement.

Section 4.  Independent Contractor.  The Consultant shall not, as of the Consulting Effective Date, or at any time during the
Consultation Period, be deemed to be an employee of the Company. The Consultant’s status and relationship with the
Company shall be that of an independent contractor and consultant.  The Consultant is not authorized to assume or create any
obligation or responsibility, express or implied, on

 



 
behalf of, or in the name of, the Company or to bind the Company in any manner.  Nothing herein shall create, expressly or by
implication, a partnership, joint venture or other association between the parties.  The Consultant shall be solely responsible
for payment of all charges and taxes arising from the payments to be made to the Consultant under this Agreement and the
Consultant agrees that the Company shall have no obligation or liability with respect to such charges and/or taxes.

Section 5.  Notice.  Any notice required or desired to be given shall be governed solely by this paragraph.  Notice shall be
deemed given only upon (a) mailing of any letter or instrument by overnight delivery with a reputable carrier or by registered
mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid by the sender, or (b) personal delivery.

If to the Consultant:  If to the Company:
To the Consultant at the last address on file with the Company Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

15 Crosby Drive
Bedford, MA 01730
Attn:   Chief Executive Officer

 
From time to time, either party may, by written notice to the other in accordance with this Section 5, designate another address
that shall thereupon become the effective address of such party for the purpose of this Section 5.

Section 6.  Miscellaneous.  This Agreement, together with the Separation Agreement and all exhibits and attachments hereto
and thereto, constitutes the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the matters contained herein and
supersedes all proposals and agreements, written or oral, and all other communications between the parties relating to the
subject matter of this Agreement.  For the avoidance of doubt, nothing herein supersedes the Separation Agreement (including
without limitation the ongoing force and effect of the Restrictive Covenant Obligations and the Consultant’s other continuing
obligations pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 of the Employment Agreement, as such obligations were amended by the Separation
Agreement).  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts without regard to its conflict of laws rules.  The headings contained in this Agreement are for the convenience
of the parties and are not to be construed as a substantive provision hereof.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended
except in writing signed or executed by the Consultant and the Company.  In the event any provision of this Agreement is held
to be unenforceable or invalid, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement and
such other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.  If any provision of this Agreement is held to be excessively broad,
it shall be reformed and construed by limiting and reducing it so as to be enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by
law.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, both parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns, including any corporation with or into which the Company may be merged or which may succeed to its assets or
business; provided, however, that the responsibility for actual performance of the Services may not be assigned or delegated
by the Consultant to any other person or entity.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and by facsimile, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

 



 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date written above.

 
    

KEVIN HANLEY     OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.
   
   
  By:  
  Name: 
  Title:  
   
 

 



 
Exhibit A

Description of Services

The Consultant shall provide technical consulting and advisory services, including with respect to manufacturing processes.

 



 
ATTACHMENT B

ADDITIONAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS

This Additional Release of Claims (this  “Additional Release”) is made as of the date set forth opposite Kevin
Hanley’s (“Mr. Hanley”) signature below, by Kevin Hanley.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings
set forth in the Transition, Separation and Release of Claims Agreement (the “Separation Agreement”) to which this
Additional Release is attached as Attachment B.

WHEREAS,  Mr. Hanley’s Separation Date has occurred on or prior to the execution of this Additional Release; and

WHEREAS,  Mr. Hanley is entering into this Additional Release in accordance with the terms and conditions set
forth in Section 2 of the Separation Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1.          Release – In consideration of the Separation Benefits set forth in the Separation Agreement, which Mr. Hanley
acknowledges he would not otherwise be entitled to receive, Mr. Hanley hereby fully, forever, irrevocably and unconditionally
releases, remises and discharges the Company, its affiliates, subsidiaries, parent companies, predecessors, and successors, and
all of their respective past and present officers, directors, stockholders, partners, members, employees, agents, representatives,
plan administrators, attorneys, insurers and fiduciaries (each in their individual and corporate capacities) (collectively, the
“Released Parties”) from any and all claims, charges, complaints, demands, actions, causes of action, suits, rights, debts, sums
of money, costs, accounts, reckonings, covenants, contracts, agreements, promises, doings, omissions, damages, executions,
obligations, liabilities, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs), of every kind and nature that Mr. Hanley ever had or
now has against any or all of the Released Parties up to the date on which he signs this Additional Release, whether known or
unknown, including, but not limited to, any and all claims arising out of or relating to Mr. Hanley’s provision of employment,
consulting or other services to, separation or termination from, and/or ownership of securities of,  the Company including, but
not limited to, all claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the Age Discrimination
in Employment Act, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Rehabilitation Act, Executive Order 11246, Executive Order 11141, the Fair
Credit Reporting Act, and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, all as amended; all claims arising out of the
Massachusetts Fair Employment Practices Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B, § 1 et seq., the Massachusetts Wage Act, Mass.
Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 148 et seq. (Massachusetts law regarding payment of wages and overtime), the Massachusetts Civil
Rights Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 12, §§ 11H and 11I, the Massachusetts Equal Rights Act, Mass. Gen. Laws. ch. 93, § 102,
 Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 214, § 1C  (Massachusetts right to be free from sexual harassment law), the Massachusetts Labor and
Industries Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 1 et seq., Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 214, § 1B (Massachusetts right of privacy law), the
Massachusetts Maternity Leave Act, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 105D, and the Massachusetts Small Necessities Leave Act,
Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 149, § 52D, all as amended; all common law claims including, but not limited to, actions in defamation,
intentional infliction of emotional distress, misrepresentation, fraud, wrongful discharge, and breach of contract; all state and
federal whistleblower claims to the maximum extent permitted by law; and any claim or damage arising out of Mr. Hanley’s
provision of services to and/or separation from the Company (including a claim for retaliation) under any common law theory
or any federal, state or local statute or ordinance not expressly referenced above; provided, however, that this release of claims
shall not (i) prevent Mr. Hanley

 



 
from filing a charge with, cooperating with, or participating in any investigation or proceeding before, the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or a state fair employment practices agency (except that Mr. Hanley acknowledges that he may not
recover any monetary benefits in connection with any such charge, investigation, or proceeding, and Mr. Hanley further
waives any rights or claims to any payment, benefit, attorneys’ fees or other remedial relief in connection with any such
charge, investigation or proceeding), (ii) deprive Mr. Hanley of any rights under the stock options described in Section 2(d) of
the Separation Agreement and any other accrued benefits to which he has acquired a vested right under any employee benefit
plan or policy, stock plan or deferred compensation arrangement, or any health care continuation to the extent required by
applicable law; or (iii) deprive Mr. Hanley of any rights he may have to be indemnified by the Company as provided in any
agreement between the Company and Mr. Hanley or pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or by-laws.  This
release of claims shall not extend to any claims Mr. Hanley may have against any persons that are Released Parties to the
extent such claims are (x) related solely to Mr. Hanley’s ownership of the Company’s stock and (y) unrelated to Mr. Hanley’s
employment or consulting relationship with the Company.  Further, nothing herein shall prevent Mr. Hanley from bringing
claims to enforce the Separation Agreement and/or the Consulting Agreement.

2.          Return of Company Property – Mr. Hanley confirms that, except as he has been specifically instructed otherwise by
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, he has returned to the Company all property of the Company, tangible or intangible,
including but not limited to keys, files, records (and copies thereof), equipment (including, but not limited to, computer
hardware, software and printers, wireless handheld devices, cellular phones, tablets, etc.), Company identification and any
other Company-owned property in his possession or control and that he has left intact all electronic Company documents,
including but not limited to those that he developed or helped to develop during his employment. Mr. Hanley further confirms
that, except as he has been specifically instructed otherwise by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, he has canceled all
accounts for his benefit, if any, in the Company’s name, including but not limited to, credit cards, telephone charge cards,
cellular phone and/or wireless data accounts and computer accounts.

3.          Business Expenses; Final Compensation – Mr. Hanley acknowledges that he has been reimbursed by the Company
for all business expenses incurred in conjunction with the performance of his employment and that no other reimbursements
are owed to him.  Mr. Hanley further acknowledges that he has received all compensation due to him from the Company,
including, but not limited to, all wages, bonuses and accrued, unused vacation time, and that, other than pursuant to the
Consulting Agreement, he is not eligible or entitled to receive any additional payments or consideration from the Company
beyond that provided for in Section 2 of the Separation Agreement.

4.          Time for Consideration; Acknowledgments – Mr. Hanley acknowledges that, in order to receive the Separation
Benefits, he must sign and return this Additional Release on, but not before the Separation Date (provided, however, that if the
Separation Date is fewer than twenty-one (21) days following the Receipt Date, he must sign and return this Additional
Release no earlier than the Separation Date and no later than the twenty-second (22 ) day after the Receipt Date).  Mr. Hanley
acknowledges that he has been given at least twenty-one (21) days to consider this Additional Release, and that the Company
advised him to consult with an attorney of his own choosing prior to signing this Additional Release.  Mr. Hanley understands
that he may revoke this Additional Release for a period of seven (7) days after he signs it by notifying the Company in writing,
and the Additional Release shall not be effective or enforceable until the expiration of this seven (7) day revocation period (the
day immediately following expiration of such revocation period, the “Additional Release Effective Date”).  In the event Mr.
 Hanley executes this Additional Release within fewer than twenty-one (21) days after the Receipt Date, he acknowledges that
such decision is entirely voluntary and that he has had the opportunity to consider such release until the end of the twenty-one
(21) day period.  Mr. Hanley understands and agrees

 

nd



 
that by entering into this Additional Release, he is waiving any and all rights or claims he might have under the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended by the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, and that he has received
consideration beyond that to which he was previously entitled.

5.          Voluntary Assent – Mr. Hanley affirms that no other promises or agreements of any kind have been made to or with
him by any person or entity whatsoever to cause him to sign this Additional Release, and that he fully understands the
meaning and intent of this Additional Release.  Mr. Hanley states and represents that he has had an opportunity to fully discuss
and review the terms of this Additional Release with an attorney.  Mr. Hanley further states and represents that he has carefully
read this Additional Release, understands the contents herein, freely and voluntarily assents to all of the terms and conditions
hereof, and signs his name of his own free act.

For the avoidance of doubt, this Additional Release supplements, and in no way limits, the Separation Agreement.

I hereby provide this Additional Release as of the current date and acknowledge that the execution of this Additional Release
is in further consideration of the Separation Benefits, to which I acknowledge I would not be entitled if I did not sign this
Additional Release.  I intend that this Additional Release will become a binding agreement between me and the Company if I
do not revoke my acceptance in seven (7) days.

Kevin Hanley

     Date:   
 

 



Exhibit 10.7

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of August 2, 2019  by and between Ocular
Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”), and Kevin Hanley (the “Consultant”), and will be effective as of the day immediately
following the Separation Date (hereinafter, the “Consulting Effective Date”). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein
have the meanings set forth in the Transition, Separation and Release of Claims Agreement entered into by the Company and
the Consultant (the “Separation Agreement”) to which this Agreement is attached as Attachment A.

WHEREAS, the Consultant has certain knowledge and expertise regarding the Company as a result of having served
as its Senior Vice President, Technical Operations of the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to have the benefit of the Consultant’s knowledge and experience, and the
Consultant desires to provide consulting services to the Company, all as hereinafter provided in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, the sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Consultant hereby agree as follows:

Section 1.  Services.

(a)         Services; Performance.  The Consultant shall render to the Company the consulting services described in
Exhibit A attached to this Agreement and any additional consulting services as mutually agreed to by the Consultant and the
Company from time to time in writing (collectively, the “Services”). The Consultant shall perform, during such hours as may
be reasonably required for satisfactory performance of the Services, such Services in a professional manner and consistent
with the highest industry standards.  As of the Consulting Effective Date, the Consultant and the Company intend that the
Consultant shall perform the Services for the Company no more than eight (8) hours per week.  The Consultant shall comply
with all rules, procedures and standards promulgated from time to time by the Company with respect to the Consultant’s
access to and use of the Company’s property, information, equipment and facilities in the course of the Consultant’s provision
of Services hereunder.

(b)         Non-Exclusive.  The parties agree that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, (i) the Company shall
be free to obtain consulting and advisory services from any third party, and (ii) the Consultant shall be free to provide
consulting and advisory services to any third party, so long as the provision of such services by the Consultant does not
conflict with (x)  the Consultant’s provision of Services to the Company as described in Section 1(a), or (y)  the Consultant’s
continuing obligations to the Company as detailed in the Separation Agreement,  including the Consultant’s ongoing
Restrictive Covenant Obligations, and his continuing obligations under Sections 5 and 6 of the Employment Agreement, as
such obligations were  amended by the Separation Agreement.

Section 2.  Compensation and Reimbursement.

(a)         Consulting Fees.  During the Consultation Period, the Company shall pay the Consultant consulting fees in
the amount of $350 per hour of Services performed hereunder, to be paid to the Consultant in accordance with Section 2(c)
below (the “Consulting Fees”).



 
(b)         Expense Reimbursement.  The Company shall reimburse the Consultant for all reasonable out-of-pocket

expenses incurred by the Consultant in connection with the performance of the Services under this Agreement, so long as they
are approved in writing in advance by the Company.

All reimbursements and in-kind benefits provided under this Agreement shall be made or provided in accordance with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 409A”) to the extent that such
reimbursements or in-kind benefits are subject to Section 409A, including, where applicable, the requirements that (i) any
reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the Consultant’s lifetime (or during a shorter period of time specified in this
Agreement), (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible
for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (iii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last
day of the calendar year following the year in which the expense is incurred and (iv) the right to reimbursement is not subject
to set off or liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.

(c)         Itemized Statements.  At the end of any month in which the Consultant performs Services and incurs expenses
in accordance with Section 2(b), the Consultant shall submit to the Company an itemized statement of the Services performed,
including the number of hours worked and the project to which the Services relate, and the expenses incurred, including
appropriate and reasonable documentation.  The Company shall pay the Consultant the amount set forth on such itemized
statement within thirty  (30) days after receipt.

(d)         No Employee Benefits.  The Consultant’s relationship with the Company will be that of an independent
contractor, and the Consultant shall not, in connection with this relationship, be entitled to any benefits, coverages or
privileges, including without limitation health insurance, social security, unemployment, workers compensation, or pension
payments, made available to employees of the Company.

Section 3.  Term and Termination.

(a)         Consultation Period.  Subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the term of this Agreement
shall, provided the Consultant has timely entered into the Separation Agreement and Additional Release, commence on the
date immediately following the Separation Date and shall continue until the date that is six (6) months after the Separation
Date unless earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions below (such period, the “Consultation Period”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, the Consultation Period may be extended for an additional period(s) upon the mutual
written agreement of both parties.  The Consultation Period shall automatically terminate upon the death, physical
incapacitation or mental incompetence of the Consultant, or, if the Consultant revokes the Additional Release, upon the date of
such revocation.  This Agreement may further be terminated prior to the date that is six (6) months after the Separation Date
 in the following manner: (i) by the Company at any time immediately upon written notice if the Consultant has materially
breached this Agreement or the Separation Agreement; (ii) by the Consultant at any time immediately upon written notice if
the Company has materially breached this Agreement or the Separation Agreement, (iii) by either party for any reason upon
thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other party, or (iv) at any time upon the mutual written consent of the parties hereto.

(b)         Effects of Termination.  In the event of any termination under this Section 3, the Consultant shall be entitled
only to the Consulting Fees (if any) due and payable to the Consultant at the time of such termination and expenses (including
reimbursements) incurred in accordance with Section 2(a) and (b) prior to the effective date of such termination, and no further
payments of any kind will be due under this Agreement.



 
Section 4.  Independent Contractor.  The Consultant shall not, as of the Consulting Effective Date, or at any time during the
Consultation Period, be deemed to be an employee of the Company. The Consultant’s status and relationship with the
Company shall be that of an independent contractor and consultant.  The Consultant is not authorized to assume or create any
obligation or responsibility, express or implied, on behalf of, or in the name of, the Company or to bind the Company in any
manner.  Nothing herein shall create, expressly or by implication, a partnership, joint venture or other association between the
parties.  The Consultant shall be solely responsible for payment of all charges and taxes arising from the payments to be made
to the Consultant under this Agreement and the Consultant agrees that the Company shall have no obligation or liability with
respect to such charges and/or taxes.

Section 5.  Notice.  Any notice required or desired to be given shall be governed solely by this paragraph.  Notice shall be
deemed given only upon (a) mailing of any letter or instrument by overnight delivery with a reputable carrier or by registered
mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid by the sender, or (b) personal delivery.
   

If to the Consultant:  If to the Company:
To the Consultant at the last address on file with the Company Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

15 Crosby Drive
Bedford, MA 01730
Attn:  Chief Executive Officer

 
From time to time, either party may, by written notice to the other in accordance with this Section 5, designate another address
that shall thereupon become the effective address of such party for the purpose of this Section 5.

Section 6.  Miscellaneous.  This Agreement, together with the Separation Agreement and all exhibits and attachments hereto
and thereto, constitutes the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the matters contained herein and
supersedes all proposals and agreements, written or oral, and all other communications between the parties relating to the
subject matter of this Agreement.  For the avoidance of doubt, nothing herein supersedes the Separation Agreement (including
without limitation the ongoing force and effect of the Restrictive Covenant Obligations and the Consultant’s other continuing
obligations pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 of the Employment Agreement, as such obligations were amended by the Separation
Agreement).   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts without regard to its conflict of laws rules.  The headings contained in this Agreement are for the convenience
of the parties and are not to be construed as a substantive provision hereof.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended
except in writing signed or executed by the Consultant and the Company.  In the event any provision of this Agreement is held
to be unenforceable or invalid, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement and
such other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.  If any provision of this Agreement is held to be excessively broad,
it shall be reformed and construed by limiting and reducing it so as to be enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by
law.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, both parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns, including any corporation with or into which the Company may be merged or which may succeed to its assets or
business; provided, however, that the responsibility for actual performance of the Services may not be assigned or delegated
by the Consultant to any other person or entity.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and by facsimile, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date written above.
   

KEVIN HANLEY OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.
  
  
/s/ Kevin Hanley By: /s/ Antony Mattessich
 Name: Antony Mattessich
 Title: President & CEO
 



 
Exhibit A

Description of Services

The Consultant shall provide technical consulting and advisory services, including with respect to manufacturing processes.
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Antony Mattessich, certify that:
 

1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.;
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

 
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

 
b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

 
c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

 
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

 
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

 
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role

in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: August 7, 2019 By: /s/ Antony Mattessich 

  Antony Mattessich
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Donald Notman, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: August 7, 2019 By:/s/ Donald Notman 

  Donald Notman 
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period
ended June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the
undersigned, Antony Mattessich, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
 
Date: August 7, 2019 By: /s/ Antony Mattessich 

  Antony Mattessich
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period
ended June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the
undersigned, Donald Notman, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
that to his knowledge:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
 
Date: August 7, 2019 By: /s/ Donald Notman

  Donald Notman
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 




